The ecology and evolution of larval competitive ability in laboratory populations of *Drosophila*

A Thesis

submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

By

Srikant Venkitachalam



Evolutionary and Organismal Biology Unit Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research Bengaluru 560064, India

July 2023

This thesis is dedicated to all those studies which helped me understand the ecology of competition and the evolution of competitive ability.

In particular, it is dedicated to two studies: Bakker 1961, and Sang 1949, which gave me the path ahead for my research.

Declaration

I hereby declare that the thesis titled "**The ecology and evolution of larval competitive ability in laboratory populations of** *Drosophila*", submitted towards the partial fulfilment of the Ph.D. degree, is the result of investigations carried out by me, Srikant Venkitachalam, at the Evolutionary and Organismal Biology Unit of the Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bengaluru, India, under the supervision of Prof. Amitabh Joshi. The work incorporated in this thesis has not been submitted for any other degree elsewhere.

In keeping with reporting scientific observations, this study has taken due care to acknowledge and cite other investigators' work. Any omission, which may have occurred due to oversight or misjudgement, is regretted.

Jouhant

Srikant Venkitachalam Bengaluru, India 31st July 2023

(The revised version of this thesis was submitted on 12th December 2023)



जवाहरलाल नेहरू उन्नत वैज्ञानिक अनुसंधान केंद्र

जक्कूर बेंगलुरु - 560064 कर्नाटक, भारत विज्ञान एवं प्रौद्योगिकी विभाग, भारत सरकार के अधीन एक स्वायत्त संस्थान सम विश्वविद्यालय संस्थान

Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research

Jakkur, Bengaluru — 560064 Karnataka, INDIA An autonomous institution under Department of Science and Technology, Govt. of India. An Institution Deemed-to-be-University

Prof. Amitabh Joshi	Phone	: +91-80-22082802
Email: ajoshi@jncasr.ac.in	Fax:	+91-80-22082766

CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the work described in the thesis entitled "**The ecology and evolution of larval competitive ability in laboratory populations of** *Drosophila*" is the result of investigations carried out by Mr. Srikant Venkitachalam in the Evolutionary Biology Laboratory, Evolutionary and Organismal Biology Unit of Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bengaluru, India, under my supervision, and that the results presented in this thesis have not previously formed the basis for the award of any other diploma, degree or fellowship.

oslur

Amitabh Joshi (Professor) Place: Bengaluru Date: 31st July, 2023

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I am truly thankful to Prof. Amitabh Joshi for being an amazing mentor in so many ways:

For holding me to the highest standards of science and work that I was capable of, and pushing me beyond it.

For introducing me to this overall field of work, and letting me explore it my own way.

For holding so many discussions, each more intellectual and varied than the last. To this day, I always have something to learn from each and every talk that we have, no matter the topic.

And most importantly, for having faith in me those years when I had no confidence in my own abilities.

It has indeed been an honour and a pleasure having him as my Ph.D. supervisor, and I hope to continue learning from him for many more years.

I thank Prof. T.N.C. Vidya for her very insightful discussions and suggestions on my work, both as my G.S.A.C. member and outside G.S.A.C. meetings. I'm very grateful for all her constant encouragement all these years. I also thank her for the amazing coursework that she held.

I also thank Prof. Sheeba Vasu for all her encouragement all these years, and for her coursework. I also thank her for letting me gatecrash in so many of her lab dinners!

I thank Prof. Vijay Kumar Sharma for his coursework, and for his support and encouragement during my Masters years.

Big thanks to Prof. Sutirth Dey, for his guidance during the G.S.A.C. meetings and outside of them, and for his valuable suggestions regarding my work. I also greatly enjoyed discussing martial arts movies with him. I also thank Prof. N.G. Prasad for his input on my work during various meetings. Big thanks to Dr. Sudipta Tung for his suggestions and inputs as well, and for hosting the experimental evolution supergroup meetings so regularly. I thank Prof. Diwakar for his coursework on basics of computation which I audited, and which helped me greatly in improving my coding skills for my simulation work.

I wish to thank Prof. Mauro Santos for his suggestions on my simulation work in particular. It was really great talking to him earlier this year. I am thankful to both Prof. Tad. Kawecki and Prof. Thomas Flatt for their valuable suggestions, both during the ISEB-2019 conference in Bangalore and the ESEB-2022 conference in Prague.

I am grateful to Prof. Elizabeth King for her suggestions on my work – and I am excited to start my Post-doctoral work with her soon in Missouri.

Many thanks to Prof. P K Sinha from Hindu college for inspiring me with his amazing teaching and for all his encouragement.

I am also very grateful to Radhakrishnan Sir, whose riveting classes in biology were the only reason I did not end up dropping science as a subject in school.

I thank Dr. Snigdhadip Dey for being my mentor as a summer student in EBL back in 2012 – his constant support and encouragement played a big part in me finally deciding to even apply to JNC.

Huge thanks to both Dr. Avani Mital and Dr. Manaswini Sarangi –for setting the lab standards of experimental rigour for me, for all their invaluable discussions regarding my work and myself, and also for being great friends of mine.

I thank Dr. Joy Bose, Sajith, Dr. Neha Pandey, Satya, Ramesh, Medha, and Chinmay for great discussions during advanced course presentations and work presentations and coffee meetings. I also thank Avani, Sajith, Ramesh, Medha and Chinmay for their help during the experiments. Ramesh and Chinmay were central to performing the competitive ability experiment (Chapter 2), while Sajith's help was invaluable in the total and effective density experiments (Chapter 5). I'm also thankful to Dr. Prakash for helping with the initial logistics of the egg hatching time and egg size measurement. Abhishek Mishra, who was my co-intern in EBL all those years back, has my gratitude for always striving to keep in touch and giving great advice.

The experiments in Chapters 3 and 4 would not have been possible to conduct without immense help from both the summer students who worked with me in 2019 – Auroni and Srijan.

Besides that, I also wish to thank all the summer students, particularly Ennya and Bhavya, as well as other research assistants, and visiting students to EBL during my stay here, especially Shruti and Pratyusha, with whom I had a few months of overlap.

Rajanna and Muniraju, who have both hoisted up our lab through all the difficult times of intense experiments, COVID lockdowns and severe floods, can't be thanked enough. It was great having so many discussions and Kannada lessons with them.

I also thank all past and present members of EOBU – all the discussions and talks, particularly with ABL, have been very enriching!

I am very grateful to JNCASR for the financial support they provided, the extension funds, for all the amenities made available during these years. I particularly enjoyed all the wonderful and amazing concerts I got to listen to thanks to the regular In House Symposia. Those will really be missed.

I thank the ISEB, the ESEB, and other conference organisers for providing me invaluable opportunities to present my work and connect with so many scientists and students from all around the globe.

I also wish to acknowledge SERB for providing me the travel grant to ESEB, and I additionally thank JNCASR for their student travel grant – with special thanks to Dr Princey and Mr Sampad for helping me with the JNC travel grant. I also thank CSIR for offering me a travel grant as well.

Continuing to more personal acknowledgements -

I would not have reached the stage of finishing my Ph.D. work without the immense help and support of Dr. Elizabeth Daniel, my counsellor at JNC. She helped pull me out of a place of low confidence and helped me instill a lot of belief in myself, which ultimately helped me finally move on with my Ph.D. work.

I cannot thank the Shaolin Chu Kung Fu Association at IISc enough – the two years of martial arts classes were one of the most life changing phases I've experienced. They instilled in me great confidence, and lit a path forward for the attitude and temperament I want to work towards in life. I sincerely thank master Ramu, master Sukesh and master Paramesh for so much inspiration that I take forward with me in life.

I thank Viveka for being my coolest and closest friend in JNC. Her infectious positive attitude, her ability to approach arguments logically and impartially, her unwavering integrity and her ability to persevere through difficulties have each been goals I have strived to reach. I also can't thank her enough

for all the things she's helped me with, both personally and in my work, helping me organise the swaths of data on fly dry weight and biomass as well as with help in ImageJ for egg size measurements.

I am grateful to Abhijit, my friend, roommate and neighbour of all these years at JNC. He's put faith in me that the "Bhodrolok" phenotype still exists, and his calm and cool presence have kept me mentally sane through many difficult times.

Akshaya and I have been friends for just a couple of years, but in that time she's become one of my most cherished friends. Her hardworking spirit, her integrity and her fun loving attitude have all been great inspirations. I also thank her for being my Taekwondo partner for the few months we were enrolled in classes last year. Although, no thanks to both Akshaya and Viveka for making me the target for practicing for Taekwondo moves!

Big thanks to Sheetal, she's become a great friend over the past couple of years, and now she's become one of the friends I can count on. She has given me great advice and help over the last year especially.

I thank my Dungeons and Dragons clan – Rutvij as the dragonborne wizard Drayk, Prateek as the elven beastheart Azog, with my character being the embattled cleric Soggoth, and of course, our venerable dungeon master Anirudha. Over the last couple of years, these DnD sessions have been the highlight of every week for each of us, although a source of annoyance for everybody else. Rutvij, Prateek and Anirudha have also been great personal friends of mine, who've been great fun and provided me great support these many years.

I thank my friends from kung fu classes – Pritha, Pratik and Mayank. We really had some very great times post kung fu classes, and I've had some great discussions with each of them on science, life, gaming, tech etc..

Many thanks to the wonderful people from BNL and CBL who have become friends over the last few years. Particularly, I thank Chitrang and Aisha for being very good friends over these years. We've had some very memorable times over the last few years. I thank them both for all their help and advice in my US related work, and otherwise as well. Chitrang was also a temporally non-overalapping kung fu buddy. Aisha, Viveka and I had some really great discussions and decisions over food. I thank Anuj, whom I have spent a lot of time with recently, for all the great and intense discussions on a large variety of topics during our evening walks and at the utility. Special thanks to Pavitra for helping me out with a couple of things and also for including me in all the post thesis lab meals she has organised. Same goes for Ankit, who at many times insisted that I come to his lab dinners and treats, and also I thank him for helping me with the conference travel and grant information before I travelled to ESEB.

Arun has been one of my oldest friends and a good friend all these years in JNC, and we've had some very great dinners and discussions and I hope to have many more. I also thank him for also helping me get a haemocytometer for egg size measurements. I thank Chhavi, who's become a good friend recently, for all our lunch and utility discussions.

Many thanks to Akash and Badri for those innumerable movie sessions and discussions we've had along with Abhijit. Those were some awesome times.

Many thanks also to Ranabir, the neuroscientist and semi-professional stand-up comedian, who became a good friend during the COVID lockdown years, and has stayed one ever since.

I also thank some more wonderful people from Autophagy lab – Anushka, Irine and Tanya, who have been great to talk to over the last year, with many very nice shared interests discovered. Special thanks to Anushka as well for helping me with the conference travel and grant related doubts before I travelled to ESEB.

The acknowledgement section would be incomplete without me thanking my close friends from before JNC:

Anurag, who's always had my back and has been a wonderful and reliable friend for the last 20 years.

Ayan, my closest friend from college, who has been a great source of inspiration, and always pushes me to do my best.

Rajorshi, one of my childhood friends with whom I have connected so well over science and nerdiness.

Sameer, for being a great friend and for some very engaging discussions on a variety of topics.

Rishabh, another great friend from college, for being such an inspiration for working out.

Vidhvat with whom I've had great meet ups for over a decade now, and with whom my shared interests have kept maturing over these last years.

I am so very grateful to Gayathri Aunty, who has looked out for me, supported me, advised me and helped me over these many years, and given me a lot of self belief.

I thank my family – periapas, perimais, chittas, chittis, mamas and mamis, athai and athimbar and cousins. All my family, both present today and those in spirit, have provided me unceasing support and encouragement. Special thanks to Sriram peripa, Bhuvana perimai, Chhoto Mamu, Chhoto Maam, Ajit peripa, Bodo Mamu, Bodo Maam, for all their support and for watching out for me so many times. I give special thanks to Titli Didi for looking out for me and for all her advice over the years. Thanks also to Abu for help with GitHub.

My namaskaram to Krishnan Chittaji (thank you for inspiring me to pursue science!), Santha Chittiji, and Leela Chittiji for all their good wishes and blessings all these years. Many thanks also to Satyan Chittaji for his blessings.

I also offer heartfelt gratitude to my grandparents – Appaji, Didu, Dadu and Ammaji, for all their blessings. Many thanks also of course to my father, for his blessings.

Finally and most importantly, of course, I thank my mother and Anand and Chotu Mithu, my closest family, who have always believed in me and helped me through thick and thin.

Thank you.

Ph.D. Thesis Synopsis

My studies are broadly concerned with the experimental testing of the theory of densitydependent selection, which predicts that population density may differentially affect the Darwinian fitness of organisms with differing phenotypes and hence potentially shape evolutionary trajectories. There have been several decades of theoretical and empirical studies on density-dependent selection, leading to much progress in understanding the role of population density as a potential selective agent. Empirically, some of the most rigorous testing has been carried out using selection experiments on laboratory populations of Drosophila adapted to chronic conditions of crowding at the larval stage. The details of each of these selection experiments have been summarised in Chapter 1. Briefly, a series of early selection studies on crowding-adapted laboratory Drosophila populations saw very consistent results regarding the traits evolved when selecting for high larval density conditions. This led to a 'canonical' view of adaptation to larval crowding in laboratory Drosophila populations, which persisted for 15-20 years. However, recent studies in our lab have since dismantled this canonical view - three selection studies on different species of Drosophila showed that the traits that could evolve as a response to selection for chronic larval crowding were very different from what the canonical view had predicted. It was also inferred that the primary reason for the differences seen between the recent and the earlier studies was due to the precise manner in which larval crowding was implemented (i.e., egg number, food volume). Traditionally, experimental studies on density-dependent selection treated density, as defined by the total eggs per unit volume of total food, as a perfect descriptor of the ecological effects of crowding. However, several recent studies showed that this measure of density was not enough to understand the ecology of a given crowded culture, nor was it enough to predict the evolutionary trajectory of a population adapted to larval crowding in the given type of culture.

My PhD studies are aimed at understanding: a) the evolution of traits in different sets of populations adapted to being reared in various types of crowded cultures (each set reared at a different combination of egg number and food volume); and b) what factors beyond the total eggs/food density contribute to differences in larval ecologies and evolutionary trajectories of populations adapted to different types of crowded cultures. My work was primarily done using three sets of crowding-adapted populations: MCU (crowded at 600 eggs in 1.5 mL food), CCU (crowded at 1200 eggs in 3 mL of food – at the same eggs/food density as MCU), and LCU (crowded at 1200 eggs in 6 mL of food). These were contrasted with MB, a set of low-density reared populations, ancestrally related to MCU, CCU and LCU.

In chapter 2, I describe the evolution of increased larval competitive ability in the MCU, CCU and LCU populations, as contrasted with the MB. While the evolution of increased larval competitive ability has been seen in most laboratory *Drosophila* crowding-adaptation studies, those have typically used only pre-adult survivorship as a measure of competitive ability. In my study, I used pre-adult survivorship, pre-adult development time, dry mass at eclosion per fly and dry biomass as outcomes of competitive ability. I also further partitioned larval competitive ability into proactive (effectiveness) and reactive (tolerance) components. According to my results, all crowding-adapted populations had evolved greater larval competitive ability than the MB controls, but this increase in competitive ability used. Among the crowding-adapted populations, the MCU showed the most consistently high larval competitive ability. However, depending on the food volume used and the measure of competitive ability examined, even the CCU could have greater competitive ability. The results of this study also indicated that larval competition likely unfolds in a very nuanced, time-dependent manner within a culture. In **chapter 3**, I examine if the crowding-adapted populations had evolved traits that could confer head starts in competition – i.e., increased egg size and shorter hatching time. The results indicated that all crowding-adapted populations had evolved greater egg length and egg width than MB (with LCU having the largest eggs). Only LCU populations had evolved a shorter mean hatching time than the MB, whereas MCU and CCU had non-significantly shorter mean hatching time than the MB.

Chapter 4 outlines a study wherein I asked if the MCU, CCU and LCU populations could fare better than MB in competition against an age disadvantage imposed on them in larval competition, via a head start to a common competitor. The results indicated that crowdingadapted populations each coped better against competitive disadvantages than MB. However, the benefit gained by the head start to the common competitor was maximum against LCU, and minimum against the low-density reared MB populations, suggesting that larger egg size and shorter egg hatching time did not translate into an unequivocal benefit in terms of dealing with a head start to the common competitor.

In **chapter 5**, I report results from a study of the effects of changing egg number, food column height and the surface area of food in contact with air on the outcome of a crowded culture (pre-adult survivorship or development time), in a fully factorial design. It was inferred from the results that the 'effective' density of a culture, or the density of eggs in the feeding band (a volume of food close to the surface having air contact, to which larval feeding is restricted), predicts the outcome of a crowded culture much better than the culture's 'total' density (eggs per unit volume total food).

In **chapter 6**, I describe the development of, and results from, an individual-based simulation framework to understand the ecology and mechanistic underpinnings of larval competition in crowded cultures of *Drosophila*. This involved the construction of a 'base' model, which

captured the understanding of the ecology of larval crowding before the recent studies, as well as an 'extended' model, which incorporated effects of a) food column height and b) crosssection surface area of food, on larval competition, in order to see if the model could capture the patterns seen in the experimental results described in chapter 5.

Finally, I briefly list the conclusions from each chapter, and put forth some ideas for future studies in **chapter 7**.

Table of Contents

Declaration	iii
Certificate	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Ph.D. Thesis Synopsis	ix

Chapter 1

Introduction	1
Experiments on density-dependent selection – a brief introduction	2
Previous studies on the ecology of crowded larval cultures	10
The role of my Ph.D. thesis	12
Populations used in my studies	12
Premise of each chapter	13
References	16

food volume	26 2 7
Methods	34
Populations used	
Standardisation	
Competition experiment: start	
Egg collection	
Collection of eclosing flies: Pre-adult survivorship and development time measurements	
Biomass and dry weight collection	
Dry biomass and dry weight measurement	
Effectiveness and Tolerance: calculations and properties	
Statistical Analyses	41
Results	43
Pre-adult Survivorship	43

Pre-adult development time (hours)	
Biomass	
Dry weight per fly at eclosion	
Eclosion profiles	
Dry biomass across time windows	
Dry weight per fly across time windows	
Low-density cultures	
Discussion	
The role of development time	61
Distribution of dry weight over development time	63
Fitness-functions – a matter of competitive ability distributions?	64
Conclusions	
References	67

Density-dependent selection in Drosophila: evolution of egg size and hatching time	84
Introduction	5
Materials and methods)
Experimental populations	89
Standardisation of populations	91
Rearing environments	91
Egg hatching time	92
Egg hatchability	93
Egg length and width	94
Statistical analyses	95
Results95	5
Egg hatching time	95
Egg hatchability	97
Egg length (μm)	99
Egg width (μm)	101
Trait correlations	103
Discussion105	5
References	0

Chapter 4

The role of greater competitive ability in countering age disadvantages in larval competition in <i>Drosophila melanogaster</i>
Introduction117
Methods
Populations used
Two generations of common background rearing125
Assay protocol
Competitive performance
Statistical Analyses
Results128
Effects of competitive disadvantages on focal populations (pre-adult development time) 128
Effects of head start duration on the common competitor against each focal population (pre-adult development time)
Pre-adult survivorship133
Discussion133
Overall patterns
Effectiveness and tolerance
Extrapolations
Other outcomes of competition140
Mechanistic explorations
On the importance of head starts in competition143
Conclusions
References

More than just density: the role of egg number, food volume and container di mediating larval competition in <i>Drosophila melanogaster</i>	mensions in 154
Introduction	
Methods	
Populations used	
Collection of eggs for experiment	
The experimental set up	
Collection of eclosing flies	
Statistics	
Results	

Main effects	
Comparisons of cultures with the same egg number and food volume in c diameters	containers of different 167
Larval feeding band, total density and effective density	
Linear regressions: total vs. effective density	
Discussion	
References	
Supplementary material for Chapter 5	

Chapter 6

in individual-based simulation framework exploring the ecology and mechani	stic
nderpinnings of larval crowding in laboratory populations of Drosophila	
Introduction	
1. Traits involved in larval competition	210
Methods	217
2.4. The 'Base' model of larval competition	219
2.5. The 'Expanded' model of larval competition	
Results	
3.1.2. Base model – with larval crowding	
3.2. A factorial framework for larval crowding	
3.3. The Expanded model	
Discussion	
4.2. Predictions	252
4.3. Drawbacks and possible quirks of the simulation framework	
4.4. Looking ahead	
References	
Supplementary material for chapter 6	

Conclusions and Potential Future Studies	
Conclusions	
Potential future studies	
Closing remarks	
References	

List of publications

- <u>Venkitachalam, S.</u>, Temura, C., Kokile, R., and Joshi, A. 2023. The evolution of competitive effectiveness and tolerance in populations of *Drosophila melanogaster* adapted to chronic larval crowding at varying combinations of egg number and food volume. bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.24.550285</u>
- <u>Venkitachalam, S.</u>, Das, S., Deep, A., and Joshi, A. 2022. Density-dependent selection in *Drosophila*: evolution of egg size and hatching time. Journal of Genetics, *101*(1), 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-021-01355-6</u>
- <u>Venkitachalam, S.</u>, Deep, A., Das, S., and Joshi, A. 2023. The role of greater competitive ability in countering age disadvantages in larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.25.550469</u>
- <u>Venkitachalam, S.</u>, V.S. Sajith, and Joshi, A. 2023. More than just density: the role of egg number, food volume and container dimensions in mediating larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.26.550621</u>
- <u>Venkitachalam, S.</u> and Joshi, A. 2023. An individual-based simulation framework exploring the ecology and mechanistic underpinnings of larval crowding in laboratory populations of *Drosophila*. bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.30.551144</u>

Chapter I

Introduction

<u>NOTE</u>

The detailed background for each problem tackled in this thesis has been laid out in chapters 2-6, respectively. These chapters can largely be read independently, as they are stand-alone publications or preprints of manuscripts prepared for journal submission. Additionally, each chapter follows a different formatting and citation style, in order to fit the particular journal in which it is published or planned to be submitted for review. I would nevertheless recommend reading chapter 4 after reading chapters 2 and 3, and reading chapter 6 after reading chapter 5, as the impetus for studies done in both chapters 4 and 6 are linked to the results discussed in their corresponding preceding chapter(s). The premise of the overall problem is common amongst all the chapters, and primarily stems from the experimental testing of the theory of density-dependent selection, which I have reiterated briefly in this introduction. Furthermore, I have elaborated herein the role which I hope my thesis may play in furthering this field of rigorous study.

Experiments on density-dependent selection – a brief introduction

(See Introductions in chapters 2 and 3 for detailed background)

The theory of density-dependent selection (first formally described by MacArthur 1962; MacArthur and Wilson 1967; reviewed in Mueller 1997, 2009; Joshi et al. 2001) predicts that the fitness landscape can change across population densities, and thus integrates the fields of population genetics and population dynamics. The theory has seen several expansions since its inception, both theoretical (reviewed in Mueller 1997; Joshi et al. 2001) and experimental (reviewed in Mueller 1997; Sarangi et al. 2016).

An overview of empirical studies

NOTE: The studies covered in this chapter, and the overall thesis, focus on intraspecific densitydependent selection. There are several studies that have explored the evolution of competitive ability in inter-species competition experiments, under density-uncontrolled (e.g., Moore 1952; Ayala 1969) or density-controlled (e.g., Joshi and Thompson 1995) setups. Similarly, inter-strain trans-generational competition experiments have also been carried out in house flies *Musca domestica* (Bryant and Turner 1972) and *D. melanogaster* (Sulzbach 1980). In inter-species set-ups, only those species have been used which can feed on the same resource (i.e., usually closely related species). The effects of multiple species in the ecology of competition and the evolution of competitive ability have been briefly conjectured in the Discussion section of Chapter 2.

This section covers some empirical studies on density-dependent selection briefly. For a review of theoretical investigations, see Mueller (1997) and Joshi et al. (2001) (also briefly summarised in Chapter 2).

Several early studies, some carried out even before the crystallisation of density-dependent selection theory, showed that different inbred strains, and thus different genotypes, could perform differently at high vs. low density conditions. Lewontin (1955), Bakker (1961), Seaton and Antonovics (1967), Mather and Caligari (1981), de Miranda et al. (1991), Santos et al. (1992), to name a few, respectively carried out extensive experiments on differences in competitive ability of two different strains of *Drosophila melanogaster* under various 'high density' scenarios (also see similar studies on *D. busckii* by Lewontin and Matsuo (1963) and on *Musca domestica* by Sokal and Sullivan (1963)).

While this a good first step in showing the possibility of density-dependent selection, the best proof would be expected to be revealed in long term selection experiments. Several experimental evolution studies have indeed been carried out. Birch (1955) showed that different chromosomal arrangements were favoured at low vs. high larval density conditions in a selection experiment spanning 3 generations using a UU, CU and UC design (see Mueller et al. 1993, Joshi and Mueller 1996, and the section below) in D. pseudoobscura. Luckinbill (1979) found that selection for increased rate of growth also leads to increased saturation density (K), in multiple species of protozoans. In addition, the study demonstrated that those species having lower saturation density had increased competitive ability, and concluded that selection for increased saturation density was not the same as selection for increased competitive ability. Barclay and Gregory (1981) tested different models of age-specific density dependence in Drosophila using various r-selected (low density, primarily density independent mortality) and K-selected (high density, primarily density dependent mortality) regimes. Their study concluded that "The simple model of r- and K-selection based on the effects of density alone seems inadequate to explain variation in life-history features of complex organisms". Bolnick (2001) found that populations of D. melanogaster flies reared in high population density scenarios for up to 4 generations evolved greater tolerance to Cadmium laced food than low density reared populations. Agashe and Bolnick (2010) found that populations of red flour beetle *Tribolium castaneum* evolved niche use with respect to the food eaten when reared in relatively high population density conditions.

Some field studies on density-dependent selection also exist. Bassar et al. (2013) showed that Trinidadian guppies Poecilia reticulata raised in low predation environment are likely to face high population densities and undergo density-dependent natural selection. This likely results in a lower sensitivity of their population growth rate towards density, as compared with the guppy populations raised in high predation environments. Bradshaw and Holzapfel (1989), on studying the pitcher plant mosquito Wyomia smithii, found that there was no correlation between rearing density in different natural zones with estimates of either the r or Kcomponents of any population reared under uniform laboratory conditions. However, when two visually distinct populations of mosquitoes, originating from two different geographical zones, were reared together, there were differences in estimates of larval competitive ability. Moorcroft et al. (1996) found evidence of density-dependent natural selection associated with variation for two simple polymorphic traits in a free-living Soay sheep Ovis aries population at the Hirta island of the St. Kilda archipelago, across a study period of 1985-1992. The sheep population had been measured to go through repeated density-dependent mortality cycles every three years since 1959, and the authors found an association of coat morph and horn type with density-dependent mortality, respectively. Furthermore, the extent of differences seen in differential survival of the morphs also appeared to depend on sex.

Some studies which have cited the existence of density-dependent selection in their respective systems, may be measuring density-dependent ecological effects through a single generation of observation on target phenotypes. Examples include studies on density dependence of sociability in common lizards *Zootoca vivipara* (Le Galliard et al. 2015), consequences of phenotypic plasticity in stem elongation on density dependent fitness in the plant *Impatiens*

capensis (Dudley and Schmitt 1996) and density-dependent fitness in reproductive-effortselected lines of bank voles *Myodes glareolus* (Mappes et al. 2008).

Finally, the most extensive empirical studies on density-dependent selection, and of which this Ph.D. thesis is a continuation, involves a series of long-term experimental evolution studies on crowded laboratory populations of fruit flies *Drosophila melanogaster*. These are discussed in the following sections.

Selection experiments on laboratory Drosophila populations

Experimentally, some of the most rigorous testing of the theory of density-dependent selection was done through selection experiments using outbred laboratory *Drosophila* populations (reviewed in Sarangi et al., 2016; also see Chapter 3). Selected populations were reared under chronically crowded conditions, in order to explore the evolution of traits compared to their respective low-density reared control populations. Several such selection experiments have been carried out since the early 1980s. Summaries of each selection experiment are listed below, along with some of their important contributions in furthering the understanding of density-dependent selection:

1. *r* and *K* populations (first described in Mueller and Ayala 1981):

The first density-dependent selection experiment on *D. melanogaster* populations was done using the r and K populations. Each K population was maintained at a high population density in both larval and adult phases using the serial transfer method (first described in Ayala 1965). The r populations were instead maintained at low population density by culling. Compared to the r populations, the K populations evolved greater larval competitive ability (Mueller 1988*a*), along with increased larval feeding rate (Joshi and Mueller 1988), but with an increased minimum food requirement for pupation, indicating the evolution of decreased food to biomass conversion efficiency (Mueller 1990). Chapter 3 contains further details on the evolution of traits in *K*- relative to *r*-populations and related studies, as well as the drawbacks of this selection regime.

 UU and CU populations (CU first described in Mueller et al. 1993; UU in Joshi and Mueller 1996):

Given that the K populations confounded selection for crowding at both larval and adult stages, the next selection study sought to separate the larval and adult phases of crowding. This resulted in the creation of the CU populations, selected for Crowding at the larval stage, but <u>Uncrowded</u> at the adult stage. These were compared with the low-density control populations, the UU, which were Uncrowded at the larval stage and Uncrowded at the adult stage. Additionally, the UC populations were also derived, crowded only at the adult stage (see Mueller et al. 1993; Joshi et al. 1998). Similar to the K-populations, the CU populations also evolved increased larval feeding rate, along with a reduction in food to biomass conversion efficiency, as compared to the UU populations (Joshi and Mueller 1996). The UU and CU populations were also tested for tolerance to metabolic waste products, which were known to build up in crowded larval cultures (Botella et al. 1985; Borash et al. 1998). Compared to their low-density controls, the CU populations evolved both increased preadult urea tolerance as well as ammonia tolerance (Shiotsugu et al. 1997; Borash et al. 1998). The CU populations also maintained an interesting temporal polymorphism: offspring of early eclosing CU flies exhibited greater larval feeding rate but with lower waste tolerance, whereas those of late eclosing CU flies exhibited lower larval feeding rate but with increased waste tolerance (Borash et al. 1998).

Given that the results from the studies of *r*- and *K*-populations, as well as of the UU and CU populations, were broadly consistent with respect to the larval traits evolved in the crowding-adapted populations (also see Guo et al. 1991; Mueller et al. 1991, for further

verification of the results), there was a 'canonical' understanding which arose in the context of adaptation to larval crowding (Mueller 1997; Joshi et al. 2001; Prasad and Joshi 2003; Mueller and Barter 2015). According to this canon, laboratory Drosophila populations adapted to chronically crowded larval conditions were expected to evolve increased larval competitive ability compared to low-density control populations, primarily via increased larval feeding rate, foraging path length (Sokolowski et al. 1997) and increased tolerance to ammonia and urea. These adaptations would be accompanied by a supposed trade-off with food to biomass conversion efficiency. Furthermore, the positive relationship between larval feeding rate and pre-adult competitive ability was also prevalent across other independent studies. Evolution of increased feeding rate in populations selected for faster feeding also resulted in an associated increase in larval competitive ability (Sewell et al. 1974; Burnet et al. 1977). The evolution of decreased larval competitive ability was seen in populations wherein feeding rate had evolved to lower values, such as those selected for increased parasitoid resistance (Fellowes et al. 1998, 1999) or those selected for faster preadult development followed (Prasad et al. 2001; Shakarad et al. 2005; Rajamani et al. 2006).

ACU/AB, NCU/NB and MCU/MB populations (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016):

Over the last two decades, three selection studies upturned this canonical model for adaptation to larval crowding. These involved selection for high larval density conditions in *D. ananassae* (ACU crowded, AB uncrowded), *D. nasuta nasuta* (NCU crowded, NB uncrowded) as well as *D. melanogaster* (MCU crowded, MB uncrowded – the ancestry of these populations traced back to the UU populations). Compared to their respective low-density ancestral control populations, each set of crowding-adapted populations showed the evolution of increased larval competitive ability without any change in larval feeding rate

or tolerance to urea or ammonia. Moreover, these populations evolved faster pre-adult development (seen across both low- and high-density conditions) and an increased time efficiency of food to biomass conversion compared to their controls (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016). The major factor that differed between these selection studies and the previous ones was the ecological details of how larval crowding was imposed (Sarangi et al. 2016). While the CU populations were crowded in relatively high volumes of food, with approx. 1500 eggs in 6-7 mL food, the ACU and MCU populations were selected for crowding at very low food volumes, at approx. 600 eggs in 1.5 mL food (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016). The NCU populations had slightly lower density at approx. 400 eggs in 2 mL food, in order to account for their larger size (Nagarajan et al. 2016).

4. LCU, MCU, CCU and MB populations (Sarangi 2018):

Given the understanding that the exact manner in which high larval density was imposed was likely to affect the ecology of a crowded culture and influence the evolutionary trajectory of a population selected for chronic larval crowding, the next step was to study the ecology of two crowded cultures having the same high density, but achieved via different combinations of egg number and food volume. When the low-density reared MB populations (as well as the crowding-adapted MCU populations) were subjected to crowding at either 600 eggs in 1.5 mL food or 1200 eggs in 3 mL food, the outcome of the ensuing competition in terms of pre-adult survivorship, development time and mass at eclosion were different (Sarangi 2018). This suggested that the underlying fitness functions of two cultures with the same high-density conditions achieved in different ways could be different.

Consequently, in addition to the pre-existing MCU and MB populations, two new population sets were derived from the MB populations, each subjected to chronic larval

crowding imposed differently from the MCU (Sarangi 2018). The LCU populations were meant to broadly capture the ecology of the CU populations and were reared at approx. 1200 eggs in 6 mL food, in narrower vials than MB. The CCU populations had the same high density as the MCU, but had double the number of eggs (1200) and double the food volume (3 mL). Like the MCU populations, the LCU and CCU populations also evolved greater larval competitive ability than the MB populations (Sarangi 2018; also see Chapter 2). Also similar to the MCU populations, there was no evolution of pre-adult ammonia or urea tolerance in the LCU and CCU sets of populations (Sarangi 2018). However, unlike the MCU populations, and similar to the CU populations, both the LCU and CCU population sets evolved greater larval feeding rate (Sarangi 2018). Further complicating the understanding of the relationship between larval competitive ability and feeding rate were experiments done to measure feeding rate in culture vials mimicking the specific crowded conditions of MCU, LCU and CCU populations (Sarangi 2018). In all previous studies, the measurement of feeding rate was carried out on single larvae in small agar-layered plates smeared with yeast-water solution. However, under the native crowded conditions in vials, the MCU populations actually had the highest feeding rate across all three types of cultures, followed by CCU and LCU, with MB populations showing the lowest feeding rates (Sarangi 2018). Furthermore, population dynamics experiments revealed that the MCU populations had evolved greater stability in terms of both constancy ("staying essentially unchanged" sensu Grimm and Wissel 1997) and persistence ("persistence through time of an ecological system" sensu Grimm and Wissel 1997), whereas LCU populations only evolved greater persistence stability, as compared to the MB populations (Pandey and Joshi 2022*a*, 2022*b*).

Given the myriad complexities and complications arising in our understanding of the adaptation to larval crowding, it has become clear that a better understanding of the ecology of *Drosophila* larval competition is required. This would help predict the traits that could evolve in differently-crowded cultures, promote better selection experiments, and ultimately refine and strengthen predictions from the theory of density-dependent selection.

Previous studies on the ecology of crowded larval cultures

(See Introduction in chapter 5 for detailed background)

Other than the experimental testing of predictions from the theory of density-dependent selection, the outcome of larval crowding has also been studied quite extensively, primarily to untangle the nuanced ecology of competition using the pliable laboratory Drosophila system. While many such studies originally focused on providing evidence for the existence of larval crowding through effects on fitness related traits (Sang 1949; Chiang and Hodson 1950; Bakker 1961; Ohnishi 1976), subsequent studies led to a better understanding of the mechanisms through which the outcome of competition was shaped. These included the role of larval feeding rate in competition (Bakker 1961; Sewell et al. 1974; Burnet et al. 1977), food to biomass conversion and the passage of food through the gut (de Miranda and Eggleston 1988), indirect interference primarily through metabolic waste products (Weisbrot 1966; Dawood and Strickberger 1969; Botella et al. 1985), the cessation of larval development under crowded conditions (Ménsua and Moya 1983), yeast availability (Klepsatel et al. 2018), and transciptomic changes under crowding (Morimoto et al. 2022). The outcome of crowding has been used to study thermal stress (Sørensen and Loeschcke 2001; Henry et al. 2018), and effects on sexual selection (Morimoto et al. 2016; Mital et al. 2021). Several theoretical models, both verbal and mathematical, were also created, either exclusively or in part, to predict the mechanisms and/or outcomes of crowding (Bakker 1961; Bentvelzen 1964; De Jong 1976; Nunney 1983; Moya and Castro 1986; Mueller 1988b; Jansen and Sevenster 1997; Tung et al.

2019). It's interesting to note that all but one of the models developed in these cited studies (i.e., Moya and Castro 1986) were directly or indirectly inspired by the rigorous experiments carried out by Bakker (1961). Chapter 6 contains some additional discussion regarding the consequences of these models.

The measurement of larval competitive ability has also received a lot of focus, with studies implementing experimental designs of varying complexity (Bakker 1961, 1969; Gale 1964; Kearsey 1965; Seaton and Antonovics 1967; Mather and Caligari 1981; de Miranda et al. 1991). The further partitioning of larval competitive ability into 'effectiveness' and 'tolerance' components has also been helpful in some contexts, and is reviewed in chapter 2 (also see Joshi et al. 2001).

As in the crowding adaptation work described in the previous section, most studies on the ecology of competition did not focus on the importance of differences in ecology at the same high density experienced in different ways – with the exceptions primarily being Sang 1949 and Bakker 1961. Bakker extensively discussed the possibility of different ecological consequences at the same high density when a) egg number was increased while keeping food constant, vs. b) when egg number was kept constant while increasing food volume (Bakker 1961). However, he was unable to find these predicted differences empirically, either due to his usage of relatively low densities where such differences might not have been apparent, or due to his unique culture implementation of using a layer of agar with a yeast solution on top (discussed in chapter 6). In contrast, J. H. Sang discovered that crowded cultures had observable differences in survivorship, development time and dry mass when larval crowding was implemented through two different means: a) changing food volume through food column height, vs. b) Changing food volume through changing food cross-section surface area – in both a) and b) the number of larvae were kept constant (Sang 1949). This finding was the

primary impetus for the study carried out in chapter 5, and the possible mechanisms for the same have been extensively discussed in chapter 6.

The role of my Ph.D. thesis

My studies primarily aim to incorporate past understanding the ecology of larval competition into the recently changing framework of the evolution of larval competitive ability, in order to ultimately add greater nuance and predictive strength to the theory of density-dependent selection, at least as it pertains to larval crowding in *Drosophila*. I hope that some of the insights gained will also be generalizable beyond the domain of crowded *Drosophila* cultures.

Populations used in my studies

In the studies described in this thesis, four sets of long-term laboratory populations of *D*. *melanogaster* were used. Each set consisted of four replicate populations, as briefly described below. The detailed description of the ancestry and maintenance of all four population sets can be found in Sarangi, 2018.

MB 1-4: These four low density reared populations served as ancestral controls to the three sets of crowding-adapted populations. They were maintained at a relatively low density of approx. 70 eggs in 6 mL of cornneal-sugar-yeast medium, in cylindrical Borosilicate glass vials with inner diameter of 2.2-2.4 cm, and height of approx. 9.5 cm (8 dram vials).

MCU 1-4: This set of populations experienced larval crowding at ~ 600 eggs in ~ 1.5 mL of cornmeal medium, in the same vial type as MBs.

CCU 1-4: These populations experienced larval crowding at ~1200 eggs in ~3 mL of cornmeal medium, in the same type of vials as MBs. MCU and CCU populations were reared at the exact same overall eggs/food density.

LCU 1-4: These populations were selected for adaptation to larval crowding at ~1200 eggs in ~6 mL of cornmeal medium, in Borosilicate glass vials of ~2 cm inner diameter and ~9 cm height (6 dram vials), in conditions similar to those the CU populations (Mueller et al. 1993) were reared in.

OE (**Orange Eye**): In addition to the four sets of focal populations, some studies also employed a population of *D. melanogaster* with an orange eye colour mutation. These were used as visual markers in competition experiments described in chapters 2 and 4. The OE population was reared in similar fashion to the MB populations (Sarangi et al. 2016; Sarangi 2018).

Premise of each chapter

Chapter 2: Larval competitive ability has evolved to increase in response to every selection experiment done under chronic larval crowding so far, found either through direct measurement (Mueller 1988a, Nagarajan et al 2016, Sarangi et al 2016) or via indirect inference (Joshi and Mueller 1996). However, given that our laboratory now has three sets of populations each adapted to larval crowding experienced in different ways, there is a need to elaborate how they might differ in larval competitive ability. Until now, only preliminary experiments had been done at around 50 generations of selection of LCU and CCU (Sarangi 2018). Moreover, it is known that besides pre-adult survivorship, changes in both pre-adult development time and body mass at eclosion are robust indicators of larval competition (Sang 1949; Bakker 1961; Ohnishi 1976; Sarangi 2018). Chapter 2 outlines an extensive larval competitive ability experiment carried out in order to study competitive ability along the axes of survivorship,

development time and dry body mass at eclosion, with the dry biomass per type per culture also measured. We further partitioned larval competitive ability into 'effectiveness' and 'tolerance' components, following a suggestion from a previous study (Joshi et al. 2001), whose argument was based on earlier research which had taken that approach (e.g., Mather and Caligari 1983; Hemmat and Eggleston 1988; Joshi and Thompson, 1995).

Chapter 3: One of the primary requirements for understanding larval competitive ability is to elucidate its component traits under various regimes of larval crowding. Previously, feeding rate, waste tolerance and development time (partly via time to convert food to biomass) have emerged as some of the major traits involved in conferring increased competitive ability (Borash et al. 1998; Sarangi et al. 2016; Sarangi 2018). However, an aspect of competition not yet studied in this regard was to study traits possibly conferring improved head starts in larval competition. Head starts imposed in competition are known to confer competitive advantages to larvae (Bakker 1961, 1969). This prompted the study of the evolution of hatching time and egg size in crowding adapted populations, two traits that may confer improved head starts to competing larvae.

Chapter 4: In this study, we combined both the evolution of competitive ability and the role of head starts in competition in crowding-adapted populations to ask the following question: *How well do competitively superior populations tackle age disadvantages in competition?*

We asked this by providing larvae of the OE population various durations of head starts against those of the crowding-adapted populations, under crowded conditions, and compared the response achieved with that seen for the uncrowded control populations (MB).

Chapter 5: In chapter 5, we broke down the implementation of larval crowding to its fundamentals, with the goal of finding out what the primary determinants of larval crowding were. We explored the implementation of larval crowding along three axes while keeping all

else equal – i) changing egg number, ii) changing food volume via food column height and iii) changing food volume via vial cross-section surface area. We implemented a three-way, fully-factorial design with three levels each of starting egg number, food column height and vial cross-section surface area, in the MB populations. We also challenged the importance of 'total density' (the overall eggs/food density) in predicting the outcome of a crowded culture.

Chapter 6: This chapter presents the development of an individual based-simulation framework, which explores the ecological consequences and the mechanistic underpinnings of crowding in *Drosophila* larvae and attempts to capture the results seen in Chapter 5. We further make some predictions for future experiments, and lay down the most important questions that need to be asked in order to improve our understanding of the ecology of larval competition, the evolution of larval competitive ability, leading to a nuanced expansion of predictions from density-dependent selection theory.

Chapter 7: This chapter serves as an epilogue for the thesis, containing summarised conclusions from each chapter, while also laying down the path forward from the findings of this thesis.

References

Agashe, D., and D. I. Bolnick. 2010. Intraspecific genetic variation and competition interact to influence niche expansion. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 277:2915–2924.

Ayala, F. J. 1965. Relative fitness of populations of *Drosophila serrata* and *Drosophila birchii*. Genetics 51:527-544.

Ayala, F. J. 1969. Evolution of fitness. IV. Genetic evolution of interspecific competitive ability in *Drosophila*. Genetics 61:737–747.

Bakker, K. 1961. An analysis of factors which determine success in competition for food among larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Archives Néerlandaises de Zoologie 14:200–281.

———. 1969. Selection for rate of growth and its influence on competitive ability of larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Netherlands Journal of Zoology 19:541–595.

Barclay, H. J., and P. T. Gregory. 1981. An experimental test of models predicting life-history characteristics. The American Naturalist 117:944–961.

Bassar, R. D., A. Lopez-Sepulcre, D. N. Reznick, and J. Travis. 2013. Experimental evidence for density-dependent regulation and selection on Trinidadian guppy life histories. The American Naturalist 181:25–38.

Bentvelzen, P. 1964. Some interrelations between density and genetic structure of a *Drosophila* population. Genetica 34:229–241.

Birch, L. C. 1955. Selection in *Drosophila pseudoobscura* in relation to crowding. Evolution, 9(4):389-399.

Bolnick, D. I. 2001. Intraspecific competition favours niche width expansion in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Nature 410:463–466.

Borash, D. J., A. G. Gibbs, A. Joshi, and L. D. Mueller. 1998. A genetic polymorphism maintained by natural selection in a temporally varying environment. The American Naturalist 151:148–156.

Botella, L. M., A. Moya, M. C. González, and J. L. Ménsua. 1985. Larval stop, delayed development and survival in overcrowded cultures of *Drosophila melanogaster*: Effect of urea and uric acid. Journal of Insect Physiology 31:179–185.

Bradshaw, W. E., and C. M. Holzapfel. 1989. Life-historical consequences of densitydependent selection in the pitcher-plant mosquito, *Wyeomyia smithii*. The American Naturalist 133:869–887.

Bryant, E. H., and C. R. Turner. 1972. Rapid evolution of competitive ability in larval mixtures of the housefly. Evolution 26:161–170.

Burnet, B., D. Sewell, and M. Bos. 1977. Genetic analysis of larval feeding behaviour in *Drosophila melanogaster* : II. Growth relations and competition between selected lines. Genetical Research 30:149–161.

Chiang, H. C., and A. C. Hodson. 1950. An analytical study of population growth in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Ecological Monographs 20:173–206.

Dawood, M. M., and M. W. Strickberger. 1969. The effect of larval interaction on viability in *Drosophila melanogaster*. 3. Effects of biotic residues. Genetics 63:213–220.

De Jong, G. 1976. A model of competition for food. i. Frequency-dependent viabilities. The American Naturalist 110:1013–1027.

de Miranda, J. R., and P. Eggleston. 1988. Larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. I. Estimation of larval growth parameters. Heredity 60:205–212.

de Miranda, J. R., M. Hemmat, and P. Eggleston. 1991. The competition diallel and the exploitation and interference components of larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 66:333–342.

Dudley, S. A., and J. Schmitt. 1996. Testing the adaptive plasticity hypothesis: densitydependent selection on manipulated stem length in *Impatiens capensis*. The American Naturalist 147:445–465.

Fellowes, M. D. E., A. R. Kraaijeveld, and H. C. J. Godfray. 1998. Trade–off associated with selection for increased ability to resist parasitoid attack in *Drosophila melanogaster*.
Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 265:1553–1558.

———. 1999. Association between feeding rate and parasitoid resistance in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Evolution 53:1302–1305.

Gale, J. S. 1964. Competition between three lines of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 19:681–699.

Grimm, V., and C. Wissel. 1997. Babel, or the ecological stability discussions: an inventory and analysis of terminology and a guide for avoiding confusion. Oecologia 109:323–334.

Guo, P. Z., L. D. Mueller, and F. J. Ayala. 1991. Evolution of behavior by density-dependent natural selection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 88:10905–10906.

Hemmat, M., and P. Eggleston. 1988. Competitive interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*: recurrent selection for aggression and response. Heredity 60:129–137.

Henry, Y., D. Renault, and H. Colinet. 2018. Hormesis-like effect of mild larval crowding on thermotolerance in *Drosophila* flies. Journal of Experimental Biology 221:jeb178681.

Jansen, V. A. A., and J. G. Sevenster. 1997. An individual-based model for competing *Drosophila* populations. Population Ecology 39:215–225.

Joshi, A., and L. D. Mueller. 1988. Evolution of higher feeding rate in *Drosophila* due to density-dependent natural selection. Evolution 42:1090-1093.

Joshi, A., and L. D. Mueller. 1996. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: tradeoffs between larval food acquisition and utilization. Evolutionary Ecology 10:463–474.

Joshi, A., and J.N. Thompson. 1995. Alternative routes to the evolution of competitive ability in two competing species of *Drosophila*. Evolution 49:616-625.

Joshi, A., N.G. Prasad, and M. Shakarad. 2001. *K*-selection, α -selection, effectiveness, and tolerance in competition: density-dependent selection revisited. Journal of Genetics 80:63–75.

Joshi, A., W.-P. Wu, and L. D. Mueller. 1998. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: Adaptation to adult crowding. Evolutionary Ecology 12:363–376.

Kearsey, M. J. 1965. The interaction of competition and food supply in two lines of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 20:169–181.

Klepsatel, P., E. Procházka, and M. Gáliková. 2018. Crowding of *Drosophila* larvae affects lifespan and other life-history traits via reduced availability of dietary yeast. Experimental Gerontology 110:298–308.
Le Galliard, J.-F., M. Paquet, and M. Mugabo. 2015. An experimental test of densitydependent selection on temperament traits of activity, boldness and sociability. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 28:1144–1155.

Lewontin, R. C. 1955. The effects of population density and composition on viability in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Evolution 9:27–41.

Lewontin, R. C., and Y. Matsuo. 1963. Interaction of genotypes determining viability in *Drosophila busckii*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 49:270–278.

Luckinbill, L. S. 1979. Selection and the r/K continuum in experimental populations of Protozoa. The American Naturalist 113:427–437.

MacArthur, R. H. 1962. Some generalized theorems of natural selection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 48:1893.

MacArthur, R. H., and E. O. Wilson. 1967. The theory of island biogeography. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Mappes, T., M. Koivula, E. Koskela, T. A. Oksanen, T. Savolainen, and B. Sinervo. 2008. Frequency and density-dependent selection on life-history strategies – a field experiment. PLOS ONE 3:e1687.

Mather, K., and P. D. S. Caligari. 1981. Competitive interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*. II. Measurement of competition. Heredity 46:239–254.

. 1983. Pressure and response in competitive interactions. Heredity 51:435–454.
Ménsua, J. L., and A. Moya. 1983. Stopped development in overcrowded cultures of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 51:347–352.

Mital, A., M. Sarangi, S. Dey, and A. Joshi. 2021. *Evolution of lower levels of inter-locus sexual conflict in* D. melanogaster *populations under strong selection for rapid development*. bioRxiv <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.08.430125</u>

Moorcroft, P. R., S. D. Albon, J. M. Pemberton, I. R. Stevenson, and T. H. Clutton-Brock. 1996. Density-dependent selection in a fluctuating ungulate population. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 263:31–38.

Moore, J. A. 1952. Competition between *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Drosophila simulans*.I. Population cage experiments. Evolution 6:407.

Morimoto, J., Wenzel, M., Derous, D., Henry, Y. and Colinet, H. 2023. The transcriptomic signature of responses to larval crowding in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Insect Science, 30: 539-554.

Morimoto, J., T. Pizzari, and S. Wigby. 2016. Developmental environment effects on sexual selection in male and female *Drosophila melanogaster*. PLoS ONE 11:e0154468.

Moya, A., and J. A. Castro. 1986. Larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*: The model of the bands of density. Oikos 47:280-286.

Mueller, L. D. 1988*a*. Evolution of competitive ability in *Drosophila* by density-dependent natural selection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 85:4383–4386.

——. 1988*b*. Density-dependent population growth and natural selection in food-limited environments: the *Drosophila* model. The American Naturalist 132:786–809.

———. 1990. Density-dependent natural selection does not increase efficiency. Evolutionary Ecology 4:290–297. Mueller, L. D. 1997. Theoretical and empirical examination of density-dependent selection. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 28:269–288.

———. 2009. Fitness, demography, and population dynamics in laboratory experiments. Pages 197–216 *in* Experimental evolution: concepts, methods and applications of selection experiments (ed. T. Garland Jr. and M. R. Rose). Berkeley: University of California Press.

Mueller, L. D., and F. J. Ayala. 1981. Trade-off between *r*-selection and *K*-selection in *Drosophila* populations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 78:1303–1305.

Mueller, L. D., and T. T. Barter. 2015. A model of the evolution of larval feeding rate in *Drosophila* driven by conflicting energy demands. Genetica 143:93–100.

Mueller, L. D., P. Guo, and F. Ayala. 1991. Density-dependent natural selection and trade-offs in life history traits. Science 253:433–435.

Mueller, L., J. Graves, and M. Rose. 1993. Interactions between density-dependent and agespecific selection in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Functional ecology 7:469–479.

Nagarajan, A., S. B. Natarajan, M. Jayaram, A. Thammanna, S. Chari, J. Bose, S. V. Jois, et al. 2016. Adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila ananassae* and *Drosophila nasuta nasuta*: increased larval competitive ability without increased larval feeding rate. Journal of Genetics 95:411–425.

Nunney, L. 1983. Sex differences in larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*: the testing of a competition model and its relevance to frequency-dependent selection. The American Naturalist 121:67–93.

Ohnishi, S. 1976. Effects of population density and temperature condition on fitness in *Drosophila melanogaster*: i. Developmental time and pre-adult viability. The Japanese Journal of Genetics 51:19–25.

Pandey, N., and A. Joshi. 2022*a*. *Density-dependent selection at low food levels leads to the evolution of population stability in* <u>Drosophila melanogaster</u> *even without a clear* r - K *tradeoff*. bioRxiv <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.04.494799</u>

------. 2022b. Density-dependent selection at high food levels leads to the evolution of persistence but not constancy in Drosophila melanogaster populations. bioRxiv https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.05.494854

Prasad, N. G., M. Shakarad, D. Anitha, M. Rajamani, and A. Joshi. 2001. correlated responses to selection for faster development and early reproduction in *Drosophila*: the evolution of larval traits. Evolution 55:1363–1372.

Prasad, N., and A. Joshi. 2003. What have two decades of laboratory life-history evolution studies on *Drosophila melanogaster* taught us? Journal of Genetics 82:45–76.

Rajamani, M., N. Raghavendra, N. G. Prasad, N. Archana, A. Joshi, and M. Shakarad. 2006. Reduced larval feeding rate is a strong evolutionary correlate of rapid development in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Journal of Genetics 85:209–212.

Sang, J. H. 1949. The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture. III. Larval and pupal survival. Physiological Zoology 22:183–202.

Santos, M., K. Fowler, and L. Partridge. 1992. On the use of tester stocks to predict the competitive ability of genotypes. Heredity 69:489–495.

Sarangi, M. 2018. *Ecological details mediate different paths to the evolution of larval competitive ability in* Drosophila (PhD Thesis). Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research. <u>http://lib.jncasr.ac.in:8080/jspui/handle/10572/2722</u>

Sarangi, M., A. Nagarajan, S. Dey, J. Bose, and A. Joshi. 2016. Evolution of increased larval competitive ability in *Drosophila melanogaster* without increased larval feeding rate. Journal of Genetics 95:491–503.

Seaton, A. P. C., and J. Antonovics. 1967. Population inter-relationships I. Evolution in mixtures of *Drosophila* mutants. Heredity 22:19–33.

Sewell, D., B. Burnet, and K. Connolly. 1974. Genetic analysis of larval feeding behaviour in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Genetical Research 24:163–173.

Shakarad, M., N. G. Prasad, K. Gokhale, V. Gadagkar, M. Rajamani, and A. Joshi. 2005. Faster development does not lead to correlated evolution of greater pre-adult competitive ability in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Biology Letters 1:91–94.

Shiotsugu, J., A. M. Leroi, H. Yashiro, M. R. Rose, and L. D. Mueller. 1997. The symmetry of correlated selection responses in adaptive evolution: an experimental study using *Drosophila*. Evolution 51:163–172.

Sokal, R. R., and R. L. Sullivan. 1963. Competition between mutant and wild-type house-fly strains at varying densities. Ecology 44:314–322.

Sokolowski, M. B., H. S. Pereira, and K. Hughes. 1997. Evolution of foraging behavior in *Drosophila* by density-dependent selection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 94:7373–7377.

Sørensen, J. G., and V. Loeschcke. 2001. Larval crowding in *Drosophila melanogaster* induces Hsp70 expression, and leads to increased adult longevity and adult thermal stress resistance. Journal of Insect Physiology 47:1301–1307.

Sulzbach, D. S. 1980. Selection for competitive ability: negative results in *Drosophila*. Evolution 34:431–436.

Tung, S., M. Rajamani, A. Joshi, and S. Dey. 2019. Complex interaction of resource availability, life-history and demography determines the dynamics and stability of stage-structured populations. Journal of Theoretical Biology 460:1–12.

Weisbrot, D. R. 1966. Genotypic interactions among competing strains and species of *Drosophila*. Genetics 53:427–435.

Chapter II

The evolution of competitive effectiveness and tolerance in populations of *Drosophila melanogaster* adapted to chronic larval crowding at varying combinations of egg number and food volume

<u>NOTE</u>

This chapter is a reproduction of a preprint on bioRxiv with the following citation:

<u>Venkitachalam, S.</u>, Temura, C., Kokile, R., and Joshi, A. 2023. The evolution of competitive effectiveness and tolerance in populations of *Drosophila melanogaster* adapted to chronic larval crowding at varying combinations of egg number and food volume. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.24.550285

Introduction

The theory of density-dependent selection is based on the notion that different genotypes or phenotypes may have a selective advantage at low vs. high population density conditions, and forms an important bridge between the fields of population genetics and population ecology (reviewed in Mueller 1997, 2009; Joshi et al. 2001). Some of the early ideas about the fitness of a type varying with population density were put forward by Charles Elton (Elton 1927), followed by Theodosius Dobzhansky (Dobzhansky 1950), J. B. S. Haldane (Haldane 1956), and Robert MacArthur (1962). The most well-known treatment of this concept was laid out in the book 'The Theory of Island Biogeography' by MacArthur and Wilson (1967). The authors defined r- and K-selection as the evolutionary consequences of selection under low and high population densities, respectively (MacArthur and Wilson 1967). Many models, both verbal and mathematical, stemmed from this work, and have been reviewed extensively (Mueller 1997; Joshi et al. 2001). The salient prediction coming from several of these models, including the one proposed by MacArthur and Wilson (1967), was that under K-selection, evolution of higher equilibrium population size K (also called 'carrying capacity' by some authors critically reviewed in Mallet 2012) would occur (MacArthur 1962; MacArthur and Wilson 1967; Gadgil and Bossert 1970; Anderson 1971; Roughgarden 1971; Pianka 1972). Furthermore, the evolution of higher K would be consequent on the increase in the efficiency of resource utilisation of K-selected individuals (MacArthur and Wilson 1967; Pianka 1970). Over the last four decades, this prediction regarding efficiency was tested and subsequently rejected through a series of rigorous long-term selection experiments using populations of fruit flies Drosophila melanogaster adapted to high-density conditions (Mueller 1990; Joshi and Mueller 1996). These studies failed to find the evolution of greater food-to-biomass conversion

efficiency as a correlate of selection for adaptation to chronically high population density or larval crowding.

Several alternate models of density-dependent selection predicted the evolution of increased competitive ability as a consequence of adaptation to high-density (Gill 1972, 1974; Asmussen 1983; Mueller 1988*a*; reviewed in Joshi et al. 2001; Mallet 2012). Some models also conflated or subsumed competitive ability under *K*-selection (MacArthur 1962; Pianka 1972; Gilpin et al. 1976; reviewed in Bradshaw and Holzapfel 1989; Joshi et al. 2001). Competitive ability, defined here as the sum of traits relevant to an individual's performance in competition (Bakker 1961), could be equated to fitness in conditions of resource limitation (Prasad and Joshi 2003). The prediction that increased competitive ability evolves under adaptation to high-density was observed in several *Drosophila* selection studies, each of which saw the evolution of increased larval competitive ability for limited food (Mueller 1988*b*; Mueller et al. 1991). Moreover, some studies of adaptation to crowding in *Drosophila* saw an increase in larval feeding rate (Joshi and Mueller 1988, 1996), which had been shown to be a strong positive correlate of larval competitive ability (Burnet et al. 1977), leading eventually to a view that adaptation to larval feeding rise (Prasad and Joshi 2003).

In the last fifteen years, this canonical view of adaptation to larval crowding via increased larval feeding rate was challenged by three selection studies on adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila* species, including *D. melanogaster*, with the high densities implemented by varying combinations of egg amount, food volume and container dimensions (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016). In these studies, crowding-adapted populations did evolve greater larval competitive ability, but through increased efficiency with respect to development time, and not increased larval feeding rate as seen in the previous studies (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016).

What became apparent from these studies was that populations adapted to high larval densities at varying egg number, food amount and container dimensions actually experienced different ecologies in the culture vials, which likely altered their evolutionary trajectories toward increased larval competitive ability (Sarangi 2013, 2018; Sarangi et al. 2016). Thus, efficiency may or may not evolve in populations adapted to high-density conditions depending on the manner in which the high density was imposed. Moreover, the details of the high-density rearing also influenced the evolution of population stability parameters – with increased constancy stability evolving in populations subjected to selection for larval crowding in low food amounts (Dey et al. 2012; Pandey and Joshi 2022*a*), but not in populations selected for crowding with relatively higher food amounts, with higher food columns (Mueller et al. 2000; Pandey and Joshi 2022*b*). While the exploration of traits correlated with different types of high-density conditions is still underway (Sarangi 2018; Chapter 3), the prediction regarding the evolution of increased competitive ability under chronic crowding has been directly or indirectly met in every *Drosophila* selection study seeking to test it (reviewed in Chapter 3).

Here, we draw on the findings of the studies suggesting that there is more to crowding than just density (eggs per unit volume of food) as well as an earlier argument for thinking about the consequences of density dependent selection in terms of the effectiveness and tolerance components of competitive ability rather than just efficiency (Joshi et al. 2001), in order to see whether viewing the outcomes of adaptation to crowding experienced in different ways in terms of effectiveness and tolerance might provide deeper insights into the ecology and evolution of competitive ability in *Drosophila*.

We define effectiveness as the average degree of potential population growth inhibition imposed by individuals of a focal group on those of a competitor group, as compared to the inhibition imposed by competitor group individuals on each other. Tolerance is the average degree of reduction of such inhibition by the focal group, inflicted by the competitor group, as compared to the inhibition observed in the focal group individuals when competing amongst themselves. These definitions are very similar to those used by Joshi et al. (2001). This approach of splitting competition into a proactive and a reactive component has been discussed for several decades, albeit with varying terms being used for the two components.

Early work focused on components of competition in plant species – called aggressiveness (similar to effectiveness) and sensitivity (inverse of tolerance) (Breese and Hill 1973), or effect and response (Peart 1989; Goldberg and Landa 1991), respectively. Peart (1989) found little or no relationship between colonising ability (of seeds) and inhibition ability (of adult plants), and equated the terms to competitive effect and response, respectively. Goldberg and Landa (1991) found competitive effect and response to be uncorrelated in several species of herbaceous plants.

In *Drosophila*, some of the earliest studies on this concept were carried out by Mather and Caligari (1983). The authors studied competitive pressure (or aggressiveness) and response (used in lieu of sensitivity) in intraspecific larval competition between two strains of *Drosophila*, across three experiments, studying these aspects for both pre-adult survivorship and body weight of eclosed adults. While no difference was found in the response component of either strain, aggressiveness was found to differ among strains in all three experiments. The authors concluded that aggressiveness and response appeared to be independent in terms of their variation, and could combine additively to result in the competitive ability of a genotype (Mather and Caligari 1983). A continuation of the above-mentioned study found that competition in trio-cultures was a reflection of the competitive ability of each strain in duocultures (Caligari and Mather 1984). Paul Eggleston (Eggleston 1985) speculated that the aggressiveness and response of genotypes "must depend upon factors such as larval feeding rate, critical weights, food conversion efficiency, the secretion and excretion of various substances into the medium and even the exploitation of behavioural characteristics".

An early selection experiment was also carried out on a *D. melanogaster* population, for low aggression and for high response (response here was equated with sensitivity, or the inverse of tolerance) – both markers of lowered competitive ability(Hemmat and Eggleston 1988). Both trajectories in response to selection led to a decrease in the average competitive ability of the population. However, selection for low aggression led to a clearer result than for high response (Hemmat and Eggleston 1988). This study, thus, showed that the two components of competitive ability could evolve independently, and this was explored in greater detail in a later study on interspecific competition (Joshi and Thompson 1995).

Joshi and Thompson (1995) tracked changes in competitive effectiveness and resistance (i.e., tolerance) over 11 generations in 3 sets of populations of *D. melanogaster* vs. *D. simulans*, competing in 3 different environments, respectively. At the end of the experiment, almost all population sets saw an increase in the overall competitive ability of *D. simulans*, initially the weaker competitor. However, this increased competitive ability was likely achieved via alternate routes in each population – different combinations of effectiveness and resistance were seen to evolve in each population (Joshi and Thompson 1995).

To summarise, the *Drosophila* studies on effectiveness and tolerance highlighted two things – a) that effectiveness and tolerance can be affected independently by ecological factors in a given population, and need not evolve together, and b) that effectiveness and tolerance can be defined using readouts of competition other than just survivorship, such as body size of adults. However, the limitations of some of these studies have been their reliance on inbred strains (which may greatly limit inferential reach: Rose 1984), or on using populations relatively naïve to larval competition (e.g., Mather and Caligari 1983; Eggleston 1985).

These limitations can be overcome by selection experiments such as those that established that competitive ability can evolve in outbred populations adapted to chronic larval crowding, and

that this evolution can happen through the correlated evolution of different underlying traits, depending on the exact combination of egg number, food amount and container dimensions used to implement the larval crowding. However, despite the advances made in the understanding of effectiveness and tolerance in competitive ability, and their predicted usefulness in studying density-dependent selection, populations adapted to larval crowding experienced in different ways have yet to be examined for effectiveness and tolerance. In this study, we undertake a systematic examination of effectiveness and tolerance with regard to four different parameters that can be used as surrogates for evaluating larval competitive ability in several population sets of *D. melanogaster*, each adapted to larval crowding experienced in different ways. The measures of effectiveness and tolerance employed are similar to those used by Joshi and Thompson 1995 (see Methods).

Thee four parameters of competition we use – pre-adult survivorship, pre-adult development time, total dry biomass, and dry weight per fly – are each representative of the potential growth of a population. Pre-adult survivorship is the most straightforward readout (used in Bakker 1961; Mueller 1988*b*; Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016) – only survivors to adulthood get a chance to reproduce and have possible non-zero fitness. Pre-adult development time may influence reproductive success in many ways (discussed in González-Candelas et al. 1990). In nature, the earliest developers can reproduce faster than late developers, and may get the advantages of a shorter generation time (Cole 1954). Even in discrete-generation laboratory cultures such as ours, where the generation time is fixed (see Methods), early eclosing individuals may have greater opportunities for mating (reviewed in Mital et al. 2022). Moreover, crowded *Drosophila* cultures tend to accumulate metabolic waste over time (Botella et al. 1985; Borash et al. 1998). In such scenarios, early eclosing flies, assuming they also pupate earlier, may partly escape the toxic build-up that could otherwise prove lethal or reduce the capacity to reproduce in some way (Borash et al. 1998; Mueller and Barter 2015). Dry

weight per fly is another potential measure of fitness – smaller flies often have some general loss of fitness (reviewed Mital et al. 2021), besides some mating-related disadvantages. Smaller males may have lower ability to manipulate females for mating (Mital et al. 2021), and females from crowded cultures, which are smaller in size than those from uncrowded cultures, may have lower fecundity than the latter (Pandey et al. 2022). It is, however, unknown if any variation in dry weight among flies within a crowded culture (as seen in Sarangi 2018, and in fig 5 of the current study) also results in size-based differences in fecundity. It may be reasonable to assume that the smallest flies from a crowded culture may also have the lowest fecundity, simply because they cannot provision the same number of eggs as larger flies. Additionally, there may not be much difference in the egg size of flies from crowded cultures compared to those from uncrowded cultures (Chapter 3). Ideally, we would prefer to directly measure fecundity and count the resulting offspring produced by surviving flies in our competition studies, as was done by Gale (1964). However, due to logistical reasons we used indirect proxies such as dry weight per fly instead. The total dry biomass of eclosed flies from a culture is a result of both the dry weight per fly as well as pre-adult survivorship. Unlike the dry weight of individual flies, biomass data can be analysed more readily if some populations don't show any eclosion (see fig 3, 4, 5 for examples). Biomass was earlier used as a readout of competition in several experiments by Bakker (1961, 1969). Finally, each of the four outcomes of competition used in the current study have previously been shown to be affected by larval crowding (Sang 1949; Bakker 1961; Ohnishi 1976).

Methods

Populations used

We used three sets of four replicate outbred *D. melanogaster* populations each, subjected to chronic larval crowding experienced at different combinations of egg number and food volume per rearing vial, along with the four ancestral control populations routinely maintained at moderate larval density. The four control MB populations are maintained at approx. 70 eggs in 6 mL cornmeal food, in cylindrical glass vials (8-dram vials: 2.2-2.4 cm inner diameter and approx. 9.5 cm height) (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016). Each replicate (i = 1 to 4) of all three sets of crowding-adapted populations is derived from replicate i of the MB set. This allows the implementation of a block design in the analysis of variance (see 'statistical analysis' section below). For all four sets of populations, matched replicate populations were assayed at the same time.

The details of the crowding-adapted population sets are as follows:

MCU: selected for larval crowding at 600 eggs in 1.5 mL food in the same vial type as MB. At the time of assaying, they had undergone selection for at least 229 generations. Each replicate population was assayed at a different generation – 229, 230, 231, 232 for replicates 4, 1, 3, 2 respectively.

CCU: selected for larval crowding at 1200 eggs in 3 mL food in the same vial type as MB. These are maintained at the same total eggs/food density as the MCU, but with twice the egg number and food volume. At the time of assaying, they had undergone at least 108 generations of selection.

LCU: selected for larval crowding at 1200 eggs in 6 mL food in slightly narrower 6-dram vials (see Sarangi 2018). This maintenance regime was somewhat similar to that used in earlier

studies for the CU populations (Mueller et al. 1993). At the time of assaying, they had undergone at least 107 generations of selection.

Additionally, we used a common competitor population with an orange eye (OE) mutation as a distinct visual marker in duo-cultures (see below). The OE population was maintained at low density, in a manner similar to the control MB populations.

Extensive descriptions of the ancestry and maintenance of these populations can be found in recent publications (Sarangi et al. 2016; Sarangi 2018; also see Chapter 3). In brief, all sixteen populations are maintained on a 21-day generation cycle. Eggs are collected into vials at the respective selection density on day 1. Once the flies eclose, they are transferred to Plexiglas cages $(25 \times 20 \times 15 \text{ cm}^3)$. This transfer takes place daily from around day 8 to day 20 in crowding-adapted populations, owing to a prolonged eclosion period in crowded cultures (see fig. 3 for an example). In MB as well as OE, transfer occurs only once, on day 11, by which time almost all eclosions are over. On day 18, the flies of all populations are provided food plates with a generous supplement of a paste containing live yeast mixed with water and a few drops of glacial acetic acid. On day 20, they are provided a food plate for egg laying for a duration of about 18 hours. On day 21, the next generation commences, starting with a new round of egg collection.

Standardisation

Prior to starting the experimental assay, we reared each population in a common environment to minimise potentially confounding effects of non-genetic inheritance. This was done by rearing each population in the MB type, low density regime of approx. 70 eggs in 6 mL cornmeal medium. The eggs of each population were collected in vials and reared for 11 days, and thereafter the eclosing flies were transferred to a Plexiglas cage. These populations were provided a Petri plate with cornmeal medium and a generous smear of live yeast paste made with water and a few drops of glacial acetic acid. After around 60 hours, we removed the yeastladen plates and added a cornmeal plate with vertical surfaces provided for egg laying. This plate was provided for one hour, and served to remove fertile eggs previously incubated inside the female flies. This ensured that most eggs laid for the experiment were more or less freshly fertilised, and no artificial head starts were being provided to larvae from previously incubated eggs hatching several hours earlier than others. The assay was started after this step.

Competition experiment: start

After the initial egg laying plate was removed, a fresh plate was added for 5 hours to each population's cage. This was a harder plate for easier egg removal, made with 2% agar along with yeast and sugar (Chapter 3). After 5 hours, each plate was removed from its respective cage. The eggs on the plate were transferred to a surface of 1% agar. We kept two cages for the OE population, owing to a larger requirement for eggs. The eggs from both the cages were mixed on the 1% agar surface after plate removal.

Egg collection

At this stage, eggs were exactly counted up to the required amount using a soft bristle brush and collected in bunches for transfer to experimental vials. These 8-dram vials (same as the ones used to rear MB) contained either 1, 1.5 or 2 mL of cornmeal food. They were further divided into two categories: mono-culture, which received 400 eggs of a focal population or OE; and duo-culture, which received 200 eggs of a focal population and 200 eggs of OE. Thus, each vial had a total of 400 eggs, in either 1, 1.5 or 2 mL of food. There were five replicate vials per culture type, per food level, per selection regime, per block. We additionally set up low density vials with 70 eggs in 6 mL cornmeal food in a similar fashion. In this case, duoculture vials had 35 eggs focal population + 35 eggs OE. Each replicate set (MB*i*, MCU*i*, CCU*i*, LCU*i*, *i* = 1...4), along with OE, was assayed together per maintenance generation. A total of 228,600 eggs, spread over 720 vials, were thus used for the experiment. After egg collection, the vials were kept at 25°C in constant light in 70-90% relative humidity. The position of the racks (containing vials of various selection regime and density combinations) were shuffled daily to randomise the rearing environment as much as possible.

Collection of eclosing flies: Pre-adult survivorship and development time measurements

On the 8th day from egg collection, observations were started in order to collect eclosing flies from the culture vials. In each observation check, all vials were visually scanned for any eclosed flies. These checks were done 12 hours apart on the night of the 8th day, morning of the 9th day, night of the 9th day and morning of the 10th day, respectively. Afterwards, the checks were carried out 24 hours apart (10th day, 11th day, 12th day...and so on). This was done until all eclosion ceased.

In each check, eclosed flies from each vial were transferred to a corresponding empty transfer vial. These flies were then frozen by dousing the transfer vials in liquid nitrogen for approx. 2 minutes. After this, flies from each vial were taken out onto a stereomicroscope platform for separation and counting. Flies from mono-cultures were segregated and counted on the basis of sex (female or male). Those from duo-cultures were segregated and counted on the basis of eye colour (wild type or orange) and sex. Any flies that inadvertently escaped during the transfer, freezing or counting process were noted (if noted before escape, sex and eye colour were recorded too).

For each vial, the pre-adult survivorship of a population was obtained by summing up the counts of all eclosed flies per eye colour (male and female) and taking its proportion to the total eggs of the respective population added into the culture. The pre-adult development time was taken as the average time of eclosion per eye colour, per sex.

After counting, we transferred the flies to 1.5 mL centrifuge tubes kept in respectively labelled sachets, in order to freeze and store them for subsequent weight measurements.

Biomass and dry weight collection

Flies eclosing from each vial were transferred into their respective packages and stored at -20°C for weighing later (after conclusion of the entirety of survivorship and development time assays). In these transfers, there were exceptions made as to the flies that could not be weighed, although they were noted for survivorship and development time. These exceptions included:

1. Any flies found stuck in food. These were discarded from weighing due to the likely presence of an additional confounding mass of leftover food.

2. Any flies that moved deep inside the cotton plug during eclosion, and got crushed in the process.

3. Any flies that were otherwise crushed during counting.

4. Any inadvertently escaped flies.

5. Any human error regarding sachet identity during fly transfer. The packet receiving the wrong transfer was discarded (see supplementary material for a detailed list of such exceptions).

These exceptions meant that the biomass was usually a small underestimate of the actual biomass (see supplementary material).

As an additional step for increased rigour, in order to control for any inadvertent transfers or losses, we also approximately re-counted all the flies from each tube before weighing. Any tube that had flies outside of $\pm 15\%$ of the number expected from survivorship counts was discarded from biomass readings. For dry weights, this percentage was relaxed to -30% of the expected counts for the lower limits, as lower than expected counts could still provide enough

flies for obtaining the dry weight per fly. This discarding process resulted in some treatments having less than 5 replicate vials (at least 1 replicate vial was present in every case).

Flies were transferred according to their development time into one of three different time interval bins. These bins were:

T1: all flies eclosing up to day 11 (approx. 270 hours development time) were binned into the T1 sachets.

T2: all flies eclosing between day 11 and day 15 (approx. 270-370 hours development time) were assigned as T2.

T3: all flies eclosing after day 15 were kept in the T3 marked sachets. For T3, since the number of flies eclosing was generally lower, all vials were pooled together per combination of block \times food level \times population \times culture type \times sex.

The first time-interval bin, T1, was assigned such that it captured the vial duration of MB maintenance (which are transferred to cages on day 11), and could be classified as containing the early eclosing flies. The end of the second time bin, T2, completed a week of eclosion from the vials, and was set as such for logistical convenience. The bins are visually represented in the eclosion profiles in fig. 3.

Dry biomass and dry weight measurement

Dry biomass measurements were taken to capture the weight of all eclosing flies from a particular centrifuge tube (containing a combination of block \times food level \times population \times culture type \times sex). Dry weight measurements were taken for a fixed sample of these flies, to obtain more accurate per fly weights, as was done in previous experiments (Sarangi 2018). By taking a constant number of flies per measurement, machine error per fly was also standardised. Thus, for dry weight per fly, a total of 10 flies (max.) were taken per reading. In case 10 or less

flies were present in the tube, all the flies were weighed for both biomass and dry weight (lower limit set at 5 flies per tube). The weighing process was as follows:

- a) Remove tube from freezer. Keep in convection oven (tube lid open) and dry at 70°C for 36-42 hours.
- b) Weigh the tube along with the flies stored within.
- c) Remove all the flies and weigh the empty tube.
- d) Add 10 flies randomly sampled from the removed flies, into the tube, and weigh again.

(The weight of all flies + tube) – weight of tube = resulting dry biomass.

((The weight of 10 flies + tube) – weight of tube) \div 10 = resulting dry weight per fly.

Effectiveness and Tolerance: calculations and properties

The measurement of both effectiveness and tolerance was broadly inspired by the definitions used by Joshi and Thompson (1995). The values were calculated as follows:

Effectiveness of a focal (i.e., MB, MCU, CCU, or LCU) population =

(Competitive outcome of OE in duo-culture vs. focal population - Competitive outcome of OE in mono-culture) ÷ Competitive outcome of OE in mono-culture

Tolerance of a focal population =

(Competitive outcome of focal population in duo-culture vs. OE - Competitive outcome of focal population in mono-culture) ÷ Competitive outcome of focal population in mono-culture

Competitive outcome was represented by either pre-adult survivorship, pre-adult development time, total vial dry biomass of eclosing adults (pooling time windows and sex), or dry weight per fly at eclosion (averaged across time windows and sex). With the exception of pre-adult development time, a greater negative value of effectiveness implied greater competitive ability of the focal population. A population with high effectiveness would suppress the common competitor's mean competitive outcome more than the common competitor could suppress its own outcome in competition. For development time, a lower absolute value confers greater fitness on average (see introduction). Thus, positive values of effectiveness for development time signify greater competitive ability of the focal population.

For tolerance, the patterns are reversed. For all outcomes except development time, a positive tolerance value suggests greater competitive ability. High tolerance values mean that the 200 larvae of the focal population had a more beneficial outcome when competing against 200 OE larvae than vs. 200 additional focal population larvae. As with effectiveness, pre-adult development time tolerance is inversely related to the competitive ability of the focal population. Negative tolerance values imply greater focal population competitive ability for development time.

Statistical Analyses

We performed type 3 (mixed effects model) factorial ANOVA on both effectiveness and tolerance for pre-adult survivorship, pre-adult development time, dry weight per fly and total dry biomass, respectively. Selection was treated as a fixed factor with four levels (MB, MCU, CCU, LCU). Starting food volume was also considered a fixed factor with three levels (1 mL, 1.5 mL, 2 mL – 1 mL excluded for development time and dry weight per fly, see below). Block was a random factor with four levels, representing common ancestry and handling during assays (replicates 1-4). In addition, we also carried out ANOVA on the raw data for each trait,

before calculating effectiveness or tolerance. For pre-adult survivorship, the raw data analysis included 2 additional fixed factors as compared to effectiveness or tolerance for survivorship – these were eye colour (2 levels - wild type (MB, MCU, CCU or LCU) and orange eye) and culture type (2 levels – mono-culture and duo-culture). The survivorship data were also arcsine-square-root transformed to verify the statistical differences observed in the untransformed data. For pre-adult development time, there was no development time data in some blocks for orange eye at 1 mL in duo-culture vs. MCU and CCU, due to them having 0% survivorship. Thus, the 1 mL treatment was excluded from the raw data analysis as well as effectiveness analysis. The ANOVA for the raw data for pre-adult development time also included sex as a factor (2 levels – female, male), in addition to selection, starting food volume, block, eye colour and culture type.

For total biomass, as in pre-adult survivorship, the factors included selection, starting food volume (1 mL, 1.5 mL and 2 mL), block, eye colour and culture type. An additional fixed factor, the time window of eclosion, was also included, with three levels (T1, T2, T3, see text above). Female and male biomass were pooled per replicate vial.

Dry weight per fly was not analysed in its entirety due to several points of data being missing, due to lack of eclosion, at 1- and 1.5-mL food, in OE, at different time windows, in different sexes. Dry weight effectiveness analysis was carried out for the 1.5 mL and 2 mL cultures only.

All analyses were conducted in STATISTICA for windows (StatSoft 1995). Tukey's HSD was used for post-hoc pairwise comparisons, calculated manually in each case. All results were plotted in R version 4.1.3 (R Core Team 2022) using the ggplot2, forcats and tidyverse packages (Wickham 2016; Wickham et al. 2019).

Results

Pre-adult Survivorship

The tolerance and effectiveness of the MB, MCU, CCU and LCU populations for pre-adult survivorship are shown in figures 1a and 1b, respectively. The raw survivorship values for the data of crowded cultures containing 400 eggs in 1-, 1.5- and 2-mL food, from which the effectiveness and tolerance were computed, are given in supp figure 1a-c, respectively.

Increasing food level increased mean survivorship for all selection regimes and culture types (compared across supp fig 1a, 1b, 1c); main effect of food volume ($F_{2, 6} = 33.80$, P = 0.0005, supp table 3). The differences between selection regimes were the largest at 1 mL. Both MCU and CCU populations showed a gain in survivorship in duo-cultures as compared with mono-cultures. This was reflected in a mean tolerance significantly greater than 0 for both the population sets (fig 1a, interaction effect selection × food volume, $F_{6, 18} = 3.15$, P = 0.0273, supp table 1). CCU tolerance declined to values no different from 0 at both 1.5 mL and 2 mL food. However, MCU tolerance remained greater than zero when the starting food volume was increased to 1.5 mL food, although they too showed nearly zero mean tolerance at 2 mL food volume (fig 1a). Both MCU and CCU were significantly different from MB populations in mean tolerance at only 1 mL food. LCU tolerance values were, on average, between MB and CCU at 1 mL food, and nearly equal to CCU at higher food volumes (fig 1a). As a result, LCU tolerance was not different from MB, MCU or CCU at any food volume, nor was it significantly different from 0.

All three crowding-adapted population sets (MCU, CCU, LCU) had a significantly more severe competitive effect on the survivorship of the common competitor OE, than they did on themselves. This was reflected in the mean effectiveness data, with a significant main effect of selection (supp table 2, $F_{3,9} = 24.92$, P = 0.0001). These patterns of differences were mainly

driven by mean effectiveness at 1 and 1.5 mL food, with each of the MCU, CCU and LCU population sets differing significantly in effectiveness from the MB set, which was itself not significantly different from 0 effectiveness (supp table 2, interaction effect Selection × Food Volume, $F_{6, 18} = 4.13$, P = 0.0088). It is worth noting that the average effectiveness of both MCU and CCU at 1 mL food, likely the highest intensity of competition, was almost equal to -1 (fig 1b). This was due to OE survivorship against them being nearly 0% at the highest intensity of competition (supp fig. 1a). At 1.5 mL food, effectiveness for survivorship generally declined as compared to 1 mL, but this decline was more severe for CCU and LCU than for MCU, with both showing lower effectiveness than MCU at 1.5 mL food (fig 1b). MCU effectiveness was significantly negative even at 2 mL food – OE in duo-culture vs. MCU were performing poorly compared to OE in mono-culture at every single high-density food level. At 2 mL food, CCU and LCU effectiveness values were indistinguishable from 0. OE showed better survivorship in duo-culture vs. MB at 2 mL than in OE mono-culture, as can be seen from a positive effectiveness value for MB (fig 1b).

Pre-adult development time (hours)

As mentioned in the methods section, the relationship of development time, all else being equal, tends to be inversely related to fitness – a greater development time implies lower fitness, on an average. Consequently, this also implies reversed patterns of tolerance (more negative value implies greater tolerance), as well as effectiveness (ascribed to greater positive values) for development time, as compared to survivorship.

Overall, we observed a pattern of increase of mean development time, as well as its variance, with food level, although these could not be tested for significance at the 1 mL food level due to lack of any surviving OE flies in duo-cultures vs. MCU and CCU.

Differences between mono- and duo-cultures tended to be larger at higher food levels for the crowding-adapted populations (fig3). However, the ANOVA did not show a significant interaction effect for selection × food volume for tolerance (supp table 4). There was a significant main effect of selection for tolerance ($F_{3,9} = 7.36$, P = 0.0085, supp. table 4). Both MCU and CCU showed significantly negative tolerance (fig. 1c). They were also significantly different from MB, which was itself not significantly different from 0 tolerance. LCU showed no significant difference from any other selection regime, or from 0, for tolerance in development time (fig. 1c).

Effectiveness at 1 mL food could not be tested – the OE showed 0% pre-adult survivorship in competition against some MCU and CCU blocks, which meant that there was no development time to test in those cases. The ANOVA showed no significant main or interaction effect for starting food volume, implying an absence of statistical differences in effectiveness values at 1.5 and 2 mL food levels. The ANOVA did show a significant main effect of selection regime $(F_{3,9} = 8.05, P = 0.0064, \text{supp. table 5})$, and the resulting pairwise comparisons are plotted in fig 1d, which pools both food levels per selection regime. All three sets of crowding-adapted populations were significantly more detrimental to OE than OE themselves, on average. This can be seen from the significantly 'positive' effectiveness values of MCU, CCU and LCU in fig 1d, whose means are not different from each other either. Average MB effectiveness was not significantly different from 0, nor was it significantly different from that of LCU, whereas both MCU and CCU had greater effectiveness than MB (fig. 1d).

Average variance for development time did not show any significant differences between mono- and duo-cultures (data not shown).



Figure 1: Tolerance and effectiveness of the three crowding-adapted population sets (MCU, LCU and CCU) as well as their low-density ancestral controls (MB). Error bars show $\pm 95\%$ confidence intervals around the mean of four replicate populations, based on the ANOVA. The individual plots are a) Tolerance for survivorship (interaction effect of starting food volume × selection, supp table 1); b) Effectiveness for survivorship (interaction effect of starting food volume × selection, supp table 2); c) tolerance for development time (main effect of selection, supp table 4); d) effectiveness for development time (main effect of selection, supp table 4); d) effectiveness for development time (main effect of selection, supp table 5). Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

Biomass

Average tolerance for biomass is plotted in fig. 2a. At the lowest food level, all three crowding adapted population sets (MCU, CCU, LCU) showed, on an average, increased biomass in competition with OE than in competition with themselves (interaction effect Selection × Food volume $F_{6,18} = 4.02$, P = 0.0099, supp table 7). This was indicated by their significantly positive mean tolerance levels at 1 mL food (fig. 2a). All three population sets also showed higher tolerance than MB. CCU tolerance was significantly greater than LCU tolerance at 1 mL food (fig. 2a). At 1.5 mL food, both MCU and CCU maintained this pattern, but LCU tolerance dropped to an average that was positive, though not statistically different from 0, nor from MB tolerance. Finally, at 2 mL food, only MCU populations retained a positive mean tolerance, although this was not statistically different from MB (fig. 2a).

For biomass-based effectiveness, only the main effects of selection and food level were significant in the ANOVA. The interaction between the two factors was not significant. All three crowding-adapted populations reduced OE biomass significantly compared to OE themselves, when averaged across all food levels (fig. 2b, $F_{3,9} = 20.98$, P = 0.0002, supp. table 8). These were also different from MB, which was itself not significantly different from 0 in effectiveness. Additionally, all populations, on average, showed greater effectiveness at 1 mL food than at 1.5 and 2 mL food ($F_{2,6} = 41.32$, P = 0.0003, supp table 8).

Dry weight per fly at eclosion

The ANOVA for tolerance with respect to dry weight did not reveal any significant differences for selection regime (supp table 10). However, the patterns of gain in dry weight were largely similar to those seen for biomass (fig. 2a). Moreover, there was a significant main effect of starting food volume ($F_{2, 6} = 7.11$, P = 0.0262, table 10). Both 1 and 1.5 mL food had average tolerance greater than 0, which appeared to be driven mainly by the crowding-adapted

populations (fig. 2c). There was nearly 0 tolerance on average at 2 mL food, which was also significantly different from average tolerance at 1 mL (fig. 2c).

Patterns for effectiveness of dry weight per fly were also similar to that seen in biomass. OE flies were smaller, on average, in competition against all three crowding adapted populations as compared to competition against OE (main effect of selection, $F_{3,9} = 8.76$, P = 0.0049, supp. table 11). This can be seen from the non-zero effectiveness of MCU, CCU and LCU in fig 2d. Additionally, MB effectiveness was also significantly different from zero, implying that OE flies also lost dry body mass when competing against MB. This difference, however, was smaller than the reductions in dry body mass of OE flies when competing against the crowding-adapted populations – MCU, CCU as well as LCU were significantly more effective than MB in competition against OE (fig. 2d).



Figure 2: Tolerance and effectiveness of the three crowding adapted population sets (MCU, LCU and CCU) as well as their low-density ancestral controls (MB). Error bars show $\pm 95\%$ confidence intervals around the mean of four replicate populations, based on the ANOVA. The individual plots are a) Tolerance for dry biomass (interaction effect of starting food volume × selection, supp table 7); b) Effectiveness for dry biomass (main effect of selection, supp table 8); c) Tolerance for dry weight per fly (main effect of starting food volume, supp. table 10); d) Effectiveness for dry weight per fly (main effect of selection, supp. table 11). Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

Eclosion profiles

Figure 3 shows the profiles for eclosion of the different population sets across different culture types and starting food volumes. The number of eclosing flies is shown per 200 eggs in case of mono-cultures, in order to compare the values with the 200 eggs of the respective duo-cultures. Moreover, each time point on the X-axis is an average across replicate populations of the development time checks done over similar time windows per block.

MB and OE showed largely similar eclosion profiles over time (fig. 3a-c). The peak of eclosion increased in amplitude as food level increased, although this change was more pronounced from 1 mL to 1.5 mL than from 1.5 to 2 mL. Most 1 mL eclosions ended by the end of T2 time window, whereas they continued well into T3 at higher starting food volumes. There was a large gain in survivorship of OE at 2 mL food in duo-cultures when compared with monocultures (fig. 3c). This was also exemplified by the positive effectiveness for survivorship of MB at 2mL food (fig. 1b). MCU flies appeared to showed a relatively greater peak of eclosion in duo-cultures at both 1 mL and 1.5 mL food than in mono-cultures (fig. 3d-e). At 2 mL starting food (fig. 3f), the peak of MCU duo-culture eclosion was closer to mono-culture, and appeared lower than the peaks at 1 and 1.5 mL food. OE had zero (or very close to zero) survivorship against MCU at 1 and 1.5mL food duo-cultures, respectively (fig. 3d-e). At 2 mL food (fig. 3f), there were a steady number of OE duo-culture eclosions across a hundred hour period, although the relative peak of eclosion at mono-culture was greater. There was a significant difference between mono- and duo-cultures in the total eclosion of OE at 2 mL vs. MCU, however, as also reflected in negative effectiveness (fig. 1b). CCU eclosion profiles largely resembled MCU at 1mL (fig. 3d, 3g), as can also be seen from the tolerance and effectiveness plots (figures 1 and 2). At 1.5 mL food (fig. 3h), CCU populations lost the survivorship advantage in duo-culture vs. mono-culture (see fig. 1a), but continued to suppress OE survivorship (fig. 3h, 1b). Finally, at 2mL food (fig. 3i), survivorship differences between CCU mono- and duo-cultures

disappeared, but a pattern for advantage in development time was present (fig. 1c). LCU populations followed a largely similar pattern to the CCU, with an overall smaller peak of eclosion, in both mono- and in duo-cultures (fig. 3j-l). There was also a small peak of eclosion that OE showed in duo-culture vs. LCU at 1mL food (fig. 3j) – a feature that was absent against the MCU and CCU populations.



Figure 3: Eclosion over time for each focal population set across three starting food volumes (Top labels). Each row represents a population set; each column represents a starting food volume. Solid lines with circular points represent mono-culture (per 200 eggs); dashed lines with triangular points represent duo-culture. The shaded regions around the data points show S.E.M. The 3 time windows (T1, T2, T3; see methods) are also marked to aid visual interpretation of data in figures 4 and 5.

Dry biomass across time windows

The biomass measurements were divided across three time windows: T1, T2, T3 (up to 270 hours, 270-370 hours, post 370 hours from egg collection, respectively) (fig. 4). As in the eclosion profiles, mono-cultures are plotted per 200 eggs, to be matched with the 200 eggs seeded in the respective duo-cultures. These biomass values were also statistically tested for differences (supp table 9). There was a general pattern of biomass increasing with food volume (fig. 4). MB populations largely showed no differences from OE at any time point or food volume (fig. 4a-c). In duo-cultures, MCU populations consistently showed greater biomass than the mono-cultures at T1 across all food levels (fig. 4d-f) (fig. 4d). These large differences were also likely represented by a significantly positive total biomass tolerance of the MCU at each food volume (fig. 2a). At 2 mL, the T1 duo-culture MCU biomass was almost double that of the biomass of the (scaled to 200 eggs) mono-culture MCU populations (fig. 4f). Dry biomass in both T2 and T3 was significantly reduced compared to T1 across all food levels, in both mono- and duo-cultures in MCU (fig. 4d-f). The biomass of OE in duo-cultures vs. MCU was not significantly different from 0 at both 1 and 1.5 mL food (fig. 4d-e). Duo-culture biomass of OE vs. MCU was also significantly lower than the mono-culture OE at T1, at both 1.5 and 2 mL food (fig. 4e-f). However, in the most delayed time window from egg collection, T3, OE showed a non-significant pattern of greater biomass in duo-culture vs. MCU than in mono-cultures at 2 mL food (fig. 4f). In CCU, the patterns were largely similar to MCU (fig. 4g-i). There were some exceptions of note – the difference between duo-culture and monoculture biomass of CCU at 1 mL, T1, appeared to be greater than the pattern seen in MCU(fig. 4g), and this was likely also reflected in the non-significant pattern of slightly higher tolerance for biomass in CCU vs. MCU at 1 mL food (fig. 2a).. However, the difference between the two culture types in CCU largely remained similar across food levels (fig. 4g-i), while this pattern of differences increased in the MCU (fig. 4d-f). Additionally, OE biomass in duo-culture was

more comparable to mono-culture at both 1.5 mL as well as 2 mL food at T2 (fig. 4h-i). At T3 in 2 mL food, OE duo-culture biomass was nearly twice the value (scaled for 200 eggs) of the mono-culture biomass in competition against CCU, although this difference was not significant (fig. 4i).

LCU duo-culture biomass did not show much difference compared to that of mono-culture at both 1 mL and 1.5 mL food (fig. 4j-k). However, the duo-culture biomass at 2 mL was significantly greater than that of mono-culture at T1 (fig. 4l). The extent of this difference, however, was slightly lower than CCU, and much lower than MCU. T2 and T3 biomass of the LCU at 1.5 mL and 2 mL were not significantly different from 0 in duo-culture (fig. 4k-l). OE biomass values at duo-culture vs. LCU were (either significantly or with a non-significant pattern) reduced from those of mono-culture at both T1 and T2 across all food volumes (fig. 4j-l). It is also worth noting that there was very little difference in biomass of OE at T3 in duoculture vs. LCU, as compared to the scaled biomass of OE in mono-culture (fig. 4l).



Figure 4: Biomass per population set per starting food volume, across the three time windows (T1, T2, T3; see methods). Error bars indicate $\pm 95\%$ Confidence Intervals around the means of four replicate populations (interaction effect selection × starting food volume × time window × culture type × eye colour, $F_{12, 36} = 4.85$, P < 0.001, supp. table 9). Each figure label (a-l) corresponds to the same culture as labelled in figure 3.
Dry weight per fly across time windows

The dry weight per fly data could not be analysed in its entirety due to the lack of data for OE in 1 mL cultures across time steps (see fig. 1b, supp. fig. 1a). Nevertheless, the data are presented in figure 5 in order to see the overall patterns of dry weight over time, per population, per culture type. There were a few prominent patterns observable in the data. While OE in mono-cultures appeared larger than all focal population flies across all time windows, their dry weights in duo-cultures were reduced vs. the crowding adapted populations, especially in T1 (fig. 5d-1). In the dry weight distributions of 1 mL cultures, the flies eclosing in the T1 time window were generally larger than flies from T2 (fig. 5a, 5d, 5g, 5j). In the mono-culture distributions of 2 mL (fig. 5c, 5f, 5i, 5l), T1 flies as well as T3 eclosing flies appeared larger than T2 eclosing flies. This pattern changed however, in the duo-cultures of crowding-adapted populations. OE and (more prominently) MCU, CCU and LCU population flies were reduced or plateaued in size at T3 in duo-cultures as well as at T2, unlike in mono-cultures, which appeared to show an increase in average size from T2 to T3 (fig. 5c, 5f, 5i, 5l).



Figure 5: Dry weight per fly, for each combination of population set × starting food volume, across the three time windows (T1, T2, T3; see methods). Bold coloured bars represent mean under each category, respectively. Each figure label (a-l) corresponds to the same culture as labelled in figure 3.

Low-density cultures

Data from the low-density cultures containing 70 eggs in 6 mL food are shown in supp fig. 3ad. These show the potential values each of the traits used as outcomes of competition under crowding can take without the influence of crowding. Both mono- and duo-culture data are plotted.

Discussion

Our results reinforce earlier findings that increased larval competitive ability is a consistent outcome of selection for adaptation to larval crowding. Moreover, our results highlight many nuances that become apparent upon splitting competitive ability along the axes of effectiveness and tolerance, for different measures of competitive outcome.

Starting food volume, even at relatively high densities, can be a major determinant of whether differences in competitive ability are seen between crowding-adapted and control populations. At 1 mL food volume, with a total density of 400 eggs/mL food, survivorship was lowest for all mono-cultures (supp fig 1). Furthermore, effectiveness and tolerance were most visibly different at this food volume for survivorship as well as biomass and dry weight per fly (fig. 1a-b and fig. 2). Out of the three crowding-adapted population sets, the MCU and CCU populations were practically identical in their effectiveness and tolerance at 1 mL along every axis of measurement (with perhaps CCU having a slight advantage in tolerance for development time (fig. 1c) as well as the biomass of early eclosing flies (figures 4d, 4g)). At higher food levels, however, CCU populations had relatively lower effectiveness and tolerance, and were similar to the LCU. In contrast, the MCU populations remained at average non-zero effectiveness and tolerance, at least at 1.5 mL food (figures 1 and 2). This is surprising, given that the MCU and CCU populations were similar in competitive ability at 1 mL food. However,

the MCU populations had undergone over 100 more generations of selection than the CCU populations at the time of the current study. If we assume that the selection response has plateaued in both sets of populations, we should expect MCU and CCU to show similar competitive ability across all food levels. Alternatively, the MCU populations could, as they did against the LCU, show greater competitive ability than the CCU at every high-density condition examined. In contrast to both assumptions, the CCU populations competed just as well as the MCU when the total (eggs/food) density was close to their rearing density, but not when food levels were higher (and closer to the rearing food volumes of MCU). This suggests the involvement of some food column height effects in competitive ability as well.

LCU populations showed the lowest competitive ability in most conditions (as compared with MCU and CCU). This is not surprising, given that the LCU populations are reared at the lowest eggs/food density (200 eggs/mL for LCU vs. 400 eggs/mL in case of MCU and CCU). In the current experiment, the treatment containing 400 eggs in 2 mL food is the same total density as the one in which LCU is reared (200 eggs/mL food). Even at that treatment, however, LCU populations still performed, at best, on par with the MCU and CCU populations (figures 1 and 2). One possible exception was in the biomass of T3 (i.e., the last eclosing) OE flies, which showed a pattern of being the lowest against LCU at 2 mL duo-culture (fig. 41). This might indicate the presence of greater effectiveness of the LCU larvae towards the later part of a culture, when any remaining food is likely riddled with high concentrations of metabolic waste (Borash et al. 1998). This is a scenario that is very likely to happen in the LCU native rearing cultures, wherein relatively high volumes of food are used. It remains to be seen if the LCU populations display any greater competitive advantages at the exact container dimensions, food volume and egg number quantities as their native rearing conditions (i.e., 1200 eggs, 6 mL food, 6 dram vials). While earlier experiments have examined competitive ability at the exact rearing conditions of LCU, they were too early in the selection process to give any clear results (Sarangi 2018). Moreover, it has recently been demonstrated by us that the density at the feeding band (a narrow volume of food, close to the surface, where the larvae feed) is an important determinant of the outcome of competition, more so than the total eggs/food density (Chapter 5). Given this knowledge, it cannot be ruled out that the LCU populations may have greater larval competitive ability close to the feeding band density at which they have been reared. Experiments are underway to determine if such specific competitive ability exists.

These results are also in agreement with the data of Pandey et al. (2022), who saw that MCU in mono-cultures had greater survivorship at higher densities of crowding compared to LCU. Moreover, the sensitivity of MCU survivorship to increased crowding was lower than LCU (Pandey et al. 2022). With the current study, we further add that MCU populations also show greater competitive ability across a wider range of crowding densities than LCU. In mono-cultures, Pandey et al. (2022) observed differences primarily at the highest density tested (300 eggs in 1 mL food). In contrast, in the current study, the effectiveness and tolerance of MCU show differences from LCU even at lower crowding densities. This indicates that larvae in duo-cultures can potentially show greater sensitivity to the outcomes of competition than mono-cultures.

Furthermore, while both average effectiveness and tolerance for pre-adult survivorship of each crowding-adapted population set changed similarly across crowding densities, there were some notable exceptions. MCU tolerance for survivorship was not significantly different from 0 at 2 mL food (fig. 1a), while the effectiveness was different (fig. 1b). This was true for CCU at 1.5 mL food (fig. 1a-b). LCU populations never showed a difference from 0, or from MB, in tolerance, but showed a difference in effectiveness (fig. 1a-b). The MB populations showed poor effectiveness at 2 mL but no change in tolerance (fig. 1a-b). These results together indicate that tolerance and effectiveness are likely independent in their evolution, as suggested

previously (Mather and Caligari 1983; Caligari and Mather 1984; Eggleston 1985; Hemmat and Eggleston 1988; Joshi and Thompson 1995).

The role of development time

While differences in survivorship and dry weight (and hence biomass) can be modelled to result from the simplest possible forms of exploitation competition (Bakker 1961; Chapter 6), those in development time are likely to rise from more complex processes. In a crowded culture, there are two ways in which development time of a larva can be delayed -a) high concentrations of metabolic waste products building up and slowing developmental rate (Botella et al. 1985), and b) lack of space to feed, leading to lower overall feeding rate (discussed in Sang 1949; Bakker 1961). The phenomenon by which the development of a larva is arrested in a crowded culture, wherein it presumably faces severe competition and high concentrations of waste, has been termed 'larval stop' (Ménsua and Moya 1983). This process would be expected to lead to an extended development time distribution, as larval stop duration can be quite variable (Ménsua and Moya 1983). While the build-up of waste products such as urea, ammonia would be expected in all the food levels tested in the current study, the higher volumes of food would allow larvae to ingest more waste before running out of food, slowing overall development time, and possibly giving rise to larval stop (Botella et al. 1985). This could lead to a long tail of the development time distribution, which could further extend if more food were present, as larvae that were facing high levels of waste due to low initial feeding rate could still feed slowly in waste ridden food (see Borash et al. 1998). This is in overall agreement with what was observed in our study – while the 1 mL cultures showed a truncation in development time at around the T2 stage (fig. 3a, 3d, 3g, 3j), likely due to severe food shortage, the 2 mL cultures could sustain feeding, and thus eclosion, for a much longer duration – well into the T3 stage (fig. 3c, 3f, 3i, 3l). The crowded cultures with higher initial volumes of food also appeared to have a number of larvae feeding after the bulk of pupation

was over, and had some moist food left over after all the eclosions were done (S. Venkitachalam, personal observation). This was in contrast to the 1 mL culture, in which food got depleted much faster and the remnants turned to dried powder by around day 10 from egg collection (S. Venkitachalam, personal observation). It is worth speculating here that the overall moisture of food in a culture can be an important factor in determining the volume of accessible food remaining in a culture. An additional noteworthy point is that the development times of every crowded culture are several hours longer than their respective low-density cultures (supp. fig. 2 vs. supp. fig. 3b), possibly suggesting some action of larval stop in each crowded food level. A previous study from our research group found the existence of some duration of larval stop in the MB populations, but not in the MCU populations (Pandey 2022).

The second possibility for delayed larval development has found some discussion in earlier papers – the existence of crowding for limited space, leading to reduced access to food, when a large number of larvae feed together in limited spatial constraints of the feeding band (Bakker 1961). A recent study by us also demonstrated that the larval density in the feeding band is a more important determinant of the outcome of competition than overall density (Chapter 5). However, while some initial overcrowding of larvae may cause space shortages in the feeding band in the cultures used in the current study, these shortages are unlikely to be sustained to nearly the levels that are seen in the regular maintenance cultures of LCU or CCU, or even the MCU, which are each reared with higher absolute numbers of eggs. Thus, it is likely that the development time delays at moderately high feeding band densities, as used in the current study, are primarily through the consequences of metabolic waste build-up. This argument has some support from earlier studies as well, assayed at high feeding band densities (Borash et al. 1998; Mueller and Barter 2015). Given the argument developed above, it is also worth noting the pattern that 1 mL cultures appear to result in lower tolerance than 2 mL cultures (fig. 1c).

These results can also be compared with another study we conducted (Chapter 4), wherein MB, MCU, CCU and LCU populations were each competitively handicapped by providing a temporal head start in age to the OE eggs in competition against them (200 eggs focal population + 200 eggs OE in 2 mL food). When competing against each of the crowding-adapted population sets, head starts to OE gave greater development time advantages to OE adults against both CCU and LCU, than against MCU (Chapter 4). This was another example of MCU competitive superiority in 2 mL food volume, similar to the effectiveness and tolerance measurements in the current study, which once again suggests that the food column height at which the larvae of the population are adapted may play a major role in determining larval competitive ability in food columns of varying height.

Distribution of dry weight over development time

The elongated development time distribution in crowded cultures with higher volumes of food also has consequences on the distribution of dry weight of eclosed flies. It has been shown before that in a crowded culture, early eclosing flies are usually larger than later eclosing flies (Hughes 1980; Sarangi 2018). This can be seen in the dry weight per fly distributions of 1 mL cultures, with T1 flies generally being larger than T2 flies (figure 5a, d, g, j). Sarangi (2018) also showed that in crowded cultures with higher food levels, early eclosing flies were larger than flies that eclosed in the middle of the distribution, but the flies eclosing towards the tailend of the distributions of 2 mL (fig. 5c, 5f, 5i, 5l), wherein T1 as well as T3 eclosing flies appeared larger than T2 eclosing flies. This pattern changed, however, in the duo-cultures of crowding-adapted populations (fig. 5f, i, 1). Instead of showing an increase in size as in the mono-cultures, OE and (more prominently) focal population flies appeared to reduce (or plateau) in size at T3, compared to T2. A future experiment might explore this aspect in greater detail, with greater replication for vials and a greater resolution of binning in time windows.

Surprisingly, at 2 mL food, the smallest flies appeared to come from the crowding-adapted populations in duo-culture, in T3 (fig. 5f, 5i, 5l). Given the eclosion and biomass distributions (fig. 3 and 4, f, i, l, respectively), these were likely to be lower in number. However, this indicates the possible existence of crowding-induced late-eclosing variants in the MCU, CCU and LCU populations that can survive at smaller body masses than MB (see also Nagarajan et al. 2016, Sarangi et al. 2016).

Fitness-functions – a matter of competitive ability distributions?

In the current study, the MCU, CCU and LCU populations had generally higher competitive ability than OE as seen by their increased effectiveness and tolerance across different starting food volumes (figures 1, 2) and the nuanced time-based expression of competitive ability displayed in biomass distributions (fig. 4). The duo-cultures of crowding-adapted populations also differed (or appeared to differ) from mono-cultures in eclosion, biomass and dry weight per fly distributions (figures 3, 4, 5). Given these two observations, we can speculate that the overall distribution and the variance of competitive ability likely determine the development time and dry weight distribution in crowded cultures. Duo-cultures containing eggs from crowding-adapted populations vs. OE are likely to furnish bimodal distributions in competitive ability, as opposed to unimodal distributions in mono-cultures, and this uniquely shapes dry weight, development time and biomass distributions in the crowded cultures.

This difference in competitive ability distributions becomes relevant when we compare interspecific and intraspecific competition experiments. In interspecific competition experiments using populations of two closely related *Drosophila* species which can be reared on the same food resource (e.g., Moore 1952; Ayala 1969; Joshi and Thompson 1995), we may be able to compare the competitive ability distributions of the two competing species. In some previous experiments, there have been large starting differences in competitive ability between

the two competing species (Moore 1952; Ayala 1969; Joshi and Thompson 1995). Such large differences in competitive ability distributions would be akin to a bimodal starting distribution for competitive ability seen in MCU vs. OE competition in the current study. This is in contrast to a selection experiment on intraspecific competition, which is more likely to start with a unimodal competitive ability distribution. Given the differences in competitive ability distributions, interspecific competition may result in very different patterns of survivorship, body size and development time for each species in the culture compared to their densitymatched mono-culture counterparts. This would suggest that each competitor species could experience different underlying fitness-functions depending on whether they are in inter- or intraspecific competition. Consequently, these differences may lead to the evolution of very different traits for a given species in inter- vs. intraspecific competition, depending on the competitive ability of the species as well as the details of crowding under which the selection is carried out. In interspecific competition, different competitive strategies may be selected by the different species if there is more starting food, as there is likely to be enough survivorship of both species with a development time and size difference (as seen with MCU vs. OE in fig. 3-5). An interesting question also arises as to the rate of evolution of competitive ability (in the broad sense, as described in Joshi and Thompson 1996) in duo-species vs. mono-species systems.

Conclusions

The evolution of competitive ability is a fundamental outcome of density-dependent selection in crowded conditions, and constitutes an important conceptual bridge between ecology and evolution. Our results indicate that outbred *D. melanogaster* populations can evolve increased competitive ability to different degrees depending on the precise nature of crowded rearing conditions. Furthermore, competitive ability, when split along the axes of effectiveness and tolerance, and measured for four different outcomes of competition, shows a staggering depth of nuance in its evolution, even in a seemingly simple laboratory culture system. Larvae of crowding-adapted populations can be superior competitors depending on the starting food volume, and show patterns of time-dependence in their competitive superiority, as seen from eclosion, biomass and dry weight per fly distributions over time (fig 3, 4, 5). While there have been some recent advances, both theoretical and experimental, in the study of densitydependent selection (Fronhofer et al. 2022; Bertram and Masel 2019; see also Than et al. 2020), our results highlight the need for understanding the ultimate consequences, as well as the mechanistic bases, of the depth of nuance visible in the process of competition and evolution of competitive ability. This requires greater exploration both in simple laboratory systems as used in the current study, as well as complex natural ones as discussed by other authors (Travis et al. 2013; Morimoto and Pietras 2020). Where logistically possible, the experiment design used in the current study can be further expanded in order to better study the ecology and evolution of larval competition. Such expansions include the use of multiple marked competitors (e.g., de Miranda et al. 1991; Santos et al. 1992), as well as more complex experiments incorporating replacement series or substitution methods (De Wit 1960; Seaton and Antonovics 1967; Mather and Caligari 1981).

References

Anderson, W. W. 1971. Genetic equilibrium and population growth under density-regulated selection. The American Naturalist 105:489–498.

Asmussen, M. A. 1983. Density-dependent selection incorporating intraspecific competition. II. A diploid model. Genetics 103:335–350.

Ayala, F. J. 1969. Evolution of fitness. IV. Genetic evolution of interspecific competitive ability in *Drosophila*. Genetics 61:737–747.

Bakker, K. 1961. An analysis of factors which determine success in competition for food among larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Archives Néerlandaises de Zoologie 14:200–281.

———. 1969. Selection for rate of growth and its influence on competitive ability of larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Netherlands Journal of Zoology 19:541–595.

Bertram, J., and J. Masel. 2019. Density-dependent selection and the limits of relative fitness. Theoretical Population Biology 129:81–92.

Borash, D. J., A. G. Gibbs, A. Joshi, and L. D. Mueller. 1998. A genetic polymorphism maintained by natural selection in a temporally varying environment. The American Naturalist 151:148–156.

Botella, L. M., A. Moya, M. C. González, and J. L. Ménsua. 1985. Larval stop, delayed development and survival in overcrowded cultures of *Drosophila melanogaster*: Effect of urea and uric acid. Journal of Insect Physiology 31:179–185.

Bradshaw, W. E., and C. M. Holzapfel. 1989. Life-historical consequences of densitydependent selection in the pitcher-plant mosquito, *Wyeomyia smithii*. The American Naturalist 133:869–887.

Breese, E. L., and J. Hill. 1973. Regression analysis of interactions between competing species. Heredity 31:181–200.

Burnet, B., D. Sewell, and M. Bos. 1977. Genetic analysis of larval feeding behaviour in *Drosophila melanogaster* : II. Growth relations and competition between selected lines. Genetical Research 30:149–161.

Caligari, P. D. S., and K. Mather. 1984. Competitive interactions in Drosophila melanogaster III. Triocultures. Heredity 52:255–264.

Cole, L. C. 1954. The population consequences of life history phenomena. The Quarterly Review of Biology 29:103–137.

de Miranda, J. R., M. Hemmat, and P. Eggleston. 1991. The competition diallel and the exploitation and interference components of larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 66:333–342.

De Wit, C. T. 1960. On competition. Verslagen Landbouwkundige Onderzoekigen 66:1-82.

Dey, S., J. Bose, and A. Joshi. 2012. Adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila ananassae* leads to the evolution of population stability. Ecology and Evolution 2:941–951.

Dobzhansky, T. G. 1950. Evolution in the tropics. American Scientist 38:209.

Eggleston, P. 1985. Variation for aggression and response in the competitive interactions of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 54:43–51.

Elton, C. 1927. Animal Ecology. New York: Macmillan.

Fronhofer, E. A., L. Govaert, M. I. O'Connor, S. J. Schreiber, and F. Altermatt. 2022. The shape of density dependence and the relationship between population growth, intraspecific competition and equilibrium population density. *bioRxiv* https://doi.org/10.1101/485946

Gadgil, M., and W. H. Bossert. 1970. Life historical consequences of natural selection. The American Naturalist 104:1–24.

Gale, J. S. 1964. Competition between three lines of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 19:681–699.

Gill, D. E. 1972. Intrinsic rates of increase, saturation densities, and competitive ability. I. An experiment with *Paramecium*. The American Naturalist 106:461–471.

——. 1974. Intrinsic rate of increase, saturation density, and competitive ability. II. The evolution of competitive ability. The American Naturalist 108:103–116.

Gilpin, M. E., T. J. Case, and F. J. Ayala. 1976. *θ*-Selection. Mathematical Biosciences 32:131–139.

Goldberg, D. E., and K. Landa. 1991. Competitive effect and response: hierarchies and correlated traits in the early stages of competition. The Journal of Ecology 79:1013.

González-Candelas, F., J. L. Ménsua, and A. Moya. 1990. Larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*: effects on development time. Genetica 82:33–44.

Haldane, J. B. S. 1956. The relation between density regulation and natural selection.Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B - Biological Sciences 145:306–308.

Hemmat, M., and P. Eggleston. 1988. Competitive interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*: recurrent selection for aggression and response. Heredity 60:129–137.

Hughes, G. 1980. Larval competition in serially transferred populations of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Oecologia 45:396–403.

Joshi, A., and L. D. Mueller. 1988. Evolution of higher feeding rate in *Drosophila* due to density-dependent natural selection. Evolution 42:1090.

Joshi, A., and L. D. Mueller. 1996. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: tradeoffs between larval food acquisition and utilization. Evolutionary Ecology 10:463–474.

Joshi, A., N. Prasad, and M. Shakarad. 2001. *K*-selection, α -selection, effectiveness, and tolerance in competition: density-dependent selection revisited. Journal of Genetics 80:63–75.

Joshi, A., and J. N. Thompson. 1995. Alternative routes to the evolution of competitive ability in two competing species of *Drosophila*. Evolution 49:616–625.

——. 1996. Evolution of broad and specific competitive ability in novel versus familiar environments in *Drosophila* species. Evolution 50:188–194.

MacArthur, R. H. 1962. Some generalized theorems of natural selection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 48:1893-1897.

MacArthur, R. H., and E. O. Wilson. 1967. The Theory of Island Biogeography. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Mallet, J. 2012. The struggle for existence: How the notion of carrying capacity, *K*, obscures the links between demography, Darwinian evolution, and speciation. Evolutionary Ecology Research 14:627–665.

Mather, K., and P. D. S. Caligari. 1981. Competitive interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*. II. Measurement of competition. Heredity 46:239–254.

———. 1983. Pressure and response in competitive interactions. Heredity 51:435–454.

Ménsua, J. L., and A. Moya. 1983. Stopped development in overcrowded cultures of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 51:347–352.

Mital, A., M. Sarangi, S. Dey, and A. Joshi. 2021. Evolution of lower levels of inter-locus sexual conflict in D. melanogaster populations under strong selection for rapid development. *bioRxiv* https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.08.430125

Mital, A., M. Sarangi, B. Nandy, N. Pandey, and A. Joshi. 2022. Shorter effective lifespan in laboratory populations of *D. melanogaster* might reduce sexual selection. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 76:52.

Moore, J. A. 1952. Competition between *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Drosophila simulans*.I. Population cage experiments. Evolution 6:407.

Morimoto, J., and Z. Pietras. 2020. Natural history of model organisms: The secret (group) life of *Drosophila melanogaster* larvae and why it matters to developmental ecology. Ecology and Evolution 10:13593–13601.

Mueller, L. D. 1988*a*. Density-dependent population growth and natural selection in foodlimited environments: The *Drosophila* model. The American Naturalist 132:786–809. ———. 1988*b*. Evolution of competitive ability in *Drosophila* by density-dependent natural selection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 85:4383–4386.

———. 1990. Density-dependent natural selection does not increase efficiency. Evolutionary Ecology 4:290–297.

———. 1997. Theoretical and empirical examination of density-dependent selection. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 28:269–288.

——. 2009. Fitness, demography, and population dynamics in laboratory experiments. Pages 197–216 *in* Experimental evolution: concepts, methods and applications of selection experiments (ed. T. Garland Jr. and M. R. Rose). Berkeley: University of California Press.

Mueller, L. D., and T. T. Barter. 2015. A model of the evolution of larval feeding rate in *Drosophila* driven by conflicting energy demands. Genetica 143:93–100.

Mueller, L. D., F. Gonzalez-Candelas, and V. F. Sweet. 1991. Components of densitydependent population dynamics: models and tests with *Drosophila*. The American Naturalist 137:457–475.

Mueller L. D., Graves J. and Rose M. R. 1993. Interactions between density-dependent and age-specific selection in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Functional Ecology 7:469–479.

Mueller, L. D., A. Joshi, and D. J. Borash. 2000. Does population stability evolve? Ecology 81:1273–1285.

Nagarajan, A., S. B. Natarajan, M. Jayaram, A. Thammanna, S. Chari, J. Bose, S. V. Jois, et al. 2016. Adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila ananassae* and *Drosophila nasuta nasuta*: increased larval competitive ability without increased larval feeding rate. Journal of Genetics 95:411–425.

Ohnishi, S. 1976. Effects of population density and temperature condition on fitness in *Drosophila melanogaster*: I. Developmental time and pre-adult viability. The Japanese Journal of Genetics 51:19–25.

Pandey, N. 2022, *Investigations on density-dependent selection and its effects on population dynamics and stability in fruitflies*, Ph.D thesis, Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research. http://lib.jncasr.ac.in:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/3290

Pandey, N., and A. Joshi. 2022*a*. Density-dependent selection at low food levels leads to the evolution of population stability in *Drosophila melanogaster* even without a clear r - K trade-off . *bioRxiv* https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.04.494799

_____. 2022*b*. Density-dependent selection at high food levels leads to the evolution of persistence but not constancy in *Drosophila melanogaster* populations. *bioRxiv* https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.05.494854

Pandey, N., R. Malhotra, and A. Joshi. 2022. Effects of larval and adult crowding on fitness components in *Drosophila* populations adapted to larval crowding experienced under different combinations of food amount and egg number. *bioRxiv* https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.05.08.491081

Peart, D. R. 1989. Species interactions in a successional grassland. II. Colonization of vegetated sites. The Journal of Ecology 77:252.

Pianka, E. R. 1970. On r- and K-Selection. The American Naturalist 104:592–597.

———. 1972. *r* and *K* Selection or *b* and *d* Selection? The American Naturalist 106:581–588.

Prasad, N., and A. Joshi. 2003. What have two decades of laboratory life-history evolution studies on *Drosophila melanogaster* taught us? Journal of Genetics 82:45–76.

R Core Team. 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/.

Rose, M. R. 1984. Genetic covariation in *Drosophila* life history: untangling the data. The American Naturalist 123:565–569.

Roughgarden, J. 1971. Density-dependent natural selection. Ecology 52:453-468.

Sang, J. H. 1949. The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture. III. Larval and pupal survival. Physiological zoology 22:183–202.

Santos, M., K. Fowler, and L. Partridge. 1992. On the use of tester stocks to predict the competitive ability of genotypes. Heredity 69:489–495.

Sarangi, M. 2013. Preliminary investigations into the causes for alternative routes to the evolution of competitive ability in populations of Drosophila selected for adaptation to larval crowding (M.S. Thesis). Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research. https://libjncir.jncasr.ac.in/jspui/handle/10572/1445

Sarangi, M. 2018. *Ecological details mediate different paths to the evolution of larval competitive ability in Drosophila* (Ph.D. Thesis). Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research. http://lib.jncasr.ac.in:8080/jspui/handle/10572/2722

Sarangi, M., A. Nagarajan, S. Dey, J. Bose, and A. Joshi. 2016. Evolution of increased larval competitive ability in *Drosophila melanogaster* without increased larval feeding rate. Journal of Genetics 95:491–503.

Seaton, A. P. C., and J. Antonovics. 1967. Population inter-relationships I. Evolution in mixtures of *Drosophila* mutants. Heredity 22:19–33.

StatSoft. 1995. Statistica Vol. I: General conventions and statistics 1. StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, USA.

Than, A. T., F. Ponton, and J. Morimoto. 2020. Integrative developmental ecology: a review of density-dependent effects on life-history traits and host-microbe interactions in non-social holometabolous insects. Evolutionary Ecology 34:659–680.

Travis, J., J. Leips, and F. H. Rodd. 2013. Evolution in population parameters: density-dependent selection or density-dependent fitness? The American Naturalist 181:S9–S20.

Wickham, H. 2016. ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. Use R! (2nd ed. 2016.). Springer International Publishing : Imprint: Springer, Cham (https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4).

Wickham, H., M. Averick, J. Bryan, W. Chang, L. McGowan, R. François, G. Grolemund, et al. 2019. Welcome to the Tidyverse. Journal of Open Source Software 4:1686.

Supplementary material for chapter 2

The evolution of effectiveness and tolerance in populations of *Drosophila melanogaster* adapted to chronic larval crowding at varying combinations of egg number and food volume





Supp. Fig. 1. Pre-adult survivorship in A) 1 mL; B) 1.5 mL; C) 2 mL cultures. Black bars in each group represent the mean. Error bars show 95% C.I. for the post hoc test using the relevant within-group error from ANOVA. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.



Supp. Fig. 2. Pre-adult development time (hours) pooling 1.5 mL and 2 mL cultures, as well as male and female data. Black bars in each group represent the mean. Error bars show 95% C.I. for the post hoc test using the relevant within-group error from ANOVA.



Supp. Fig. 3. Outcomes at 70 eggs in 6 mL cultures (non-crowded). A) Pre-adult survivorship. B) Pre-adult development time (hrs). C) Dry weight per fly (mg). Coloured bars represent means of each group.

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	p
Selection	3	9	2.728070	0.106245
Food	2	6	1.763133	0.249854
Selection*Food	6	18	3.149238	0.027261

Supp. Table 1. ANOVA on tolerance for survivorship.

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	р
Selection	3	9	24.9151	0.000108
Food	2	6	38.9512	0.000366
Selection*Food	6	18	4.1277	0.008830

Supp. Table 2. ANOVA on effectiveness for survivorship.

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	p
Selection	3	9	2.1178	0.168128
Food	2	6	33.7987	0.000542
Туре	1	3	10.6024	0.047269
Eye	1	3	7.1108	0.075910
Selection*Food	6	18	4.6312	0.005166
Selection*Type	3	9	1.8019	0.216846
Food*Type	2	6	2.2254	0.189241
Selection*Eye	3	9	43.8494	0.000011
Food*Eye	2	6	4.2396	0.071156
Type*Eye	1	3	262.3098	0.000512
Selection*Food*Type	6	18	0.8149	0.572306
Selection*Food*Eye	6	18	6.0920	0.001263
Selection*Type*Eye	3	9	12.2814	0.001560
Food*Type*Eye	2	6	8.1230	0.019620
Selection*Food*Type*Eye	6	18	6.1507	0.001198

Supp. Table 3. ANOVA on the raw survivorship data (without effectiveness and tolerance calculations).

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	р
Selection	3	9	7.36425	0.008532
Food	2	6	3.30806	0.107566
Selection*Food	6	18	0.84211	0.553924

Supp. Table 4. ANOVA on tolerance for development time.

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	p
Selection	3	9	8.052838	0.006449
Food	1	3	1.407017	0.320936
Selection*Food	3	9	0.132010	0.938569

Supp. Table 5. ANOVA on effectiveness for development time.

Effect	df	df Error	F	p
Selection	3	9	2.778	0.102499
Food	1	3	0.546	0.513442
Туре	1	3	6.427	0.085042
Eye	1	3	103.760	0.002016
Sex	1	3	0.002	0.969169
Selection*Food	3	9	0.531	0.672565
Selection*Type	3	9	3.750	0.053606
Food*Type	1	3	3.025	0.180370
Selection*Eye	3	9	23.034	0.000147
Food*Eye	1	3	11.999	0.040522
Type*Eye	1	3	8.600	0.060877
Selection*Sex	3	9	3.142	0.079614
Food*Sex	1	3	0.373	0.584592
Type*Sex	1	3	2.027	0.249737
Eye*Sex	1	3	4.733	0.117847
Selection*Food*Type	3	9	0.053	0.982687
Selection*Food*Eye	3	9	0.105	0.954966
Selection*Type*Eye	3	9	10.701	0.002520
Food*Type*Eye	1	3	0.123	0.748556
Selection*Food*Sex	3	9	0.153	0.925020
Selection*Type*Sex	3	9	1.842	0.209904
Food*Type*Sex	1	3	17.001	0.025863
Selection*Eye*Sex	3	9	2.431	0.132202
Food*Eye*Sex	1	3	0.879	0.417537
Type*Eye*Sex	1	3	0.070	0.808865
Selection*Food*Type*Eye	3	9	0.377	0.771984
Selection*Food*Type*Sex	3	9	0.103	0.956520
Selection*Food*Eye*Sex	3	9	0.191	0.899642
Selection*Type*Eye*Sex	3	9	1.256	0.346357
Food*Type*Eye*Sex	1	3	2.703	0.198687
Selection*Food*Type*Eye*Sex	3	9	0.234	0.870290

Supp. Table 6. ANOVA on the raw development time data (without effectiveness and tolerance calculations).

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	p
Selection	3	9	6.535786	0.012243
Culture	2	6	1.851222	0.236489
Selection*Culture	6	18	4.024106	0.009896

Supp. Table 7. ANOVA on tolerance for dry biomass.

Effect	df	df Error	F	р
Selection	3	9	20.98280	0.000212
Culture	2	6	41.31956	0.000310
Selection*Culture	6	18	1.13016	0.384548

Supp. Table 8. ANOVA on effectiveness for dry biomass.

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	р
Selection	3	9	0.7619	0.543299
Culture	2	6	56.4226	0.000129
Culture Type	1	3	95.1140	0.002290
Time Period	2	6	19.5251	0.002362
Eye Colour	1	3	9.8346	0.051823
Selection*Culture	6	18	1.8671	0.142237
Selection*Culture Type	3	9	0.9895	0.440505
Culture*Culture Type	2	6	0.0926	0.912818
Selection*Time Period	6	18	6.3127	0.001038
Culture*Time Period	4	12	20.8850	0.000025
Culture Type*Time Period	2	6	27.5558	0.000946
Selection*Eye Colour	3	9	19.9492	0.000258
Culture*Eye Colour	2	6	0.3575	0.713340
Culture Type*Eye Colour	1	3	32.9023	0.010521
Time Period*Eye Colour	2	6	81.5255	0.000045
Selection*Culture*Culture Type	6	18	1.8061	0.154470
Selection*Culture*Time Period	12	36	4.9308	0.000093
Selection*Culture Type*Time Period	6	18	4.2259	0.007936
Culture*Culture Type*Time Period	4	12	0.6102	0.663168
Selection*Culture*Eye Colour	6	18	9.7010	0.000078
Selection*Culture Type*Eye Colour	3	9	10.9354	0.002340
Culture*Culture Type*Eye Colour	2	6	1.1565	0.376003
Selection*Time Period*Eye Colour	6	18	18.7577	0.000001
Culture*Time Period*Eye Colour	4	12	36.6022	0.000001
Culture Type*Time Period*Eye Colour	2	6	29.7227	0.000771
Selection*Culture*Culture Type*Time Period	12	36	1.9379	0.062373
Selection*Culture*Culture Type*Eye Colour	6	18	2.5536	0.057390
Selection*Culture*Time Period*Eye Colour	12	36	15.4230	0.000000
Selection*Culture Type*Time Period*Eye Colour	6	18	4.6180	0.005237
Culture*Culture Type*Time Period*Eye Colour	4	12	8.1356	0.002058
Selection*Culture*Culture Type*Time Period*Eye Colour	12	36	4.8455	0.000109

Supp. Table 9. ANOVA on the raw dry biomass data (without effectiveness and tolerance calculations).

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	p
Selection	3	9	1.14488	0.382530
Culture	2	6	7.10533	0.026165
Selection*Culture	6	18	1.76215	0.163953

Supp. Table 10. ANOVA on tolerance for dry weight per fly.

Effect	df	<i>df</i> Error	F	p
Selection	3	9	8.762882	0.004915
Culture	1	3	0.463798	0.544711
Selection*Culture	3	9	2.823193	0.099270

Supp. Table 11. ANOVA on effectiveness for dry weight per fly.

Exceptions for measurements

The following section marks occasions when eclosing flies could not be used for measurement of preadult survivorship, pre-adult development time, dry mass at eclosion or dry biomass.

The first section marks 'general' exceptions, which were prevalent throughout the culture vials.

The second section marks specific known exceptions, wherein the contents of the particular replicate were discarded due to some issue. In cases where the contents were not discarded, these issues represent some confounding error.

General Exceptions:

1. Some flies were crushed or drowned or escaped. Those were noted down. In case they could be sexed and the eye colour could be identified, they were used for survivorship and development time. None of these flies could be used for weight measurements.

2. Some flies (<5%) in CCU 2 resembled the OE phenotype even under mono-cultures. This was likely to be a preserved mutation in the CCU 2 population and unlikely to be a contamination since CCU flies are maintained under intense selection pressure, under which OE larvae are unlikely to survive.

3. Several pupae failed to eclose, or drowned.

4. Freezer switched off for 12 hours from 5-6 March. The temperature was generally cold inside at opening. All flies were tightly sealed in tubes, which were sealed inside two levels of Ziplock bags. Thus, there was unlikely to be significant loss of dry mass due to decomposition.

5. Some tube sets were left at room temperature for a few days (tightly sealed in centrifuge tubes, kept inside oven (switched off)). Thus, there was unlikely to be significant loss of dry mass to due to decomposition. This was unavoidable due to COVID-19-related quarantine procedures.

Specific Exceptions:

Block 1:

- a) MB 1, 2 mL mono-cultures:
 - Vials 2 and 5 T2 flies exchanged on 22 to 23 Feb, 2020, reshuffled back with correct numbers. however, the vial identity was lost, thus they could not be used for biomass calculations.
 - Vials 1 and 4 same as above.
- b) LCU 1, 2 mL mono-cultures:
 - Vials 2 and 3: 3 males, 1 female transferred to vial 2 from vial 3 on 24 Feb, 2020 (T2), this count was reshuffled back. These could not be used for biomass calculations.
- c) MCU 1, 1.5 mL mono-cultures: T3, 27 Feb 2020, 3 male and 3 female of 2mL added to T3 tube.

Block 2:

- a) MB 2 1mL duo-cultures 1: vial accidentally frozen on 10 April, 2020. Most eclosions were done. Most pupae had either eclosed or were dried. No further eclosions seen in this vial but also very few eclosions overall in duo-cultures after this.
- b) CCU 2 2mL duo-culture vial 5: frozen on 18th April, 2020. Eclosions were more or less over at this point.
- c) MB 1.5mL duo-culture vial 4: frozen on 14th April, 2020. Eclosions were more or less over by this point.
- d) LCU 2 1.5mL duo-culture: 10th April, 2020 : vials 2, 3 and 4 reshuffled into each other.

Block 3:

- a) OE 3 1.5mL, 2mL all vials: 18th march vials added to T2 (should have been T3)
- b) MCU 3 2mL duo-cultures: vial 1 and vial 5 reshuffled in T1.

Block 4:

- a) LCU 4 1mL mono-culture all vials: first (very few) flies eclosing from all vials were inadvertently discarded.
- b) MCU 4 2mL duo-culture: Vial 2 and Vial 5 reshuffled on 6th Feb, 2020. Not used for biomass calculations.

Chapter III

Density-dependent selection in *Drosophila***:**

evolution of egg size and hatching time

<u>NOTE</u>

This chapter is a reproduction of an article published in the Journal of Genetics, with the following citation:

<u>Venkitachalam, S.</u>, Das, S., Deep, A., and Joshi, A. 2022. Density-dependent selection in *Drosophila*: evolution of egg size and hatching time. Journal of Genetics, *101*(1), 13.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-021-01355-6

Introduction

Populations adapted to high density conditions are expected to evolve greater competitive ability, a prediction highlighted by the theory of density-dependent selection, first formulated by MacArthur (1962) and MacArthur and Wilson (1967) (see Mueller 1997, 2009 for reviews on subsequent developments in this area). Several rigorous long-term selection experiments on populations of *Drosophila* reared under high larval density conditions subsequently validated this prediction, showing the evolution of increased pre-adult competitive ability in the crowding adapted populations when compared to their low density controls (Mueller 1988; Nagarajan *et al.* 2016; Sarangi *et al.* 2016). However, the traits that evolved as correlates of the increased pre-adult competitive ability differed widely across the studies (Nagarajan *et al.* 2016; Sarangi 2018).

The first of these experiments was done using two sets of replicate populations: the *K*-populations, maintained at high population density (larval and adult) by serial transfer, and the *r*-populations, maintained at low population density by culling (Mueller and Ayala 1981). Compared to the *r*-populations, the *K*-populations evolved greater larval competitive ability (Mueller 1988), increased larval feeding rate (Joshi and Mueller 1988), greater pupation height (Mueller and Sweet 1986; Joshi and Mueller 1993), greater larval foraging path length (Sokolowski *et al.* 1997), increased adult dry weight and pre-adult viability at high density (Bierbaum *et al.* 1989), and increased minimum larval food requirement for completion of development (Mueller 1990).

The next selection study sought to validate the results from the *r*- and *K*-populations, as the earlier selection regime confounded the effects of larval and adult crowding. Moreover, the *r*-populations were maintained on discrete generations, whereas the *K*-populations were maintained on overlapping generations (Mueller *et al.* 1993). Consequently, populations of *D*.

melanogaster, originally derived from a different geographical region than the ancestors of the *r*- and *K*-populations, were used in a selection experiment that differentiated the effects of larval and adult crowding, and in which all selected populations and controls were maintained on a three-week discrete generation cycle (Mueller *et al.* 1993). The populations reared at high larval, but not adult, density were called the CU (Crowded as larvae, Uncrowded as adults), and the low density controls were called UU (Uncrowded as larvae, Uncrowded as adults) (Mueller *et al.* 1993). Similar to what was seen earlier in the *K*-populations, the CU populations evolved increased larval feeding rate and minimum larval food requirement for completion of development (Joshi and Mueller 1996), and larval foraging path length (Sokolowski *et al.* 1997). Moreover, the CU populations evolved increased pre-adult urea tolerance (Shiotsugu *et al.* 1997; Borash *et al.* 1998) and ammonia tolerance (Borash *et al.* 1998). The CU populations, however, did not evolve increased pupation height than controls (Joshi and Mueller 1996), unlike the *K*-populations; possible explanations are discussed by Joshi *et al.* (2003).

The broadly consistent results from the *r*- and *K*-populations and the CU and UU populations, together with similar results from the *rK* and $r \times rK$ populations (Guo *et al.* 1991), resulted in the canonical model for adaptation to larval crowding in *D. melanogaster* populations: these populations would exhibit increased pre-adult competitive ability and larval feeding rate, foraging path length, and tolerance to ammonia and urea, but would show reduced food to biomass conversion efficiency as a trade-off (Mueller 1997; Joshi *et al.* 2001; Prasad and Joshi 2003; Mueller *et al.* 2005; Mueller 2009; Mueller and Cabral 2012; Mueller and Barter 2015; Bitner *et al.* 2021). The canonical model was strengthened by observations in *D. melanogaster* of greater pre-adult competitive ability in populations selected for increased larval feeding rate (Burnet *et al.* 1977), and the evolution of reduced pre-adult competitive ability in populations that evolved reduced larval feeding rate due to selection for either rapid pre-adult development

(Prasad *et al.* 2001; Shakarad *et al.* 2005; Rajamani *et al.* 2006) or for increased parasitoid resistance (Fellowes *et al.* 1998, 1999).

The canonical model was, nevertheless, challenged later by three selection studies involving adaptation to larval crowding, in D. ananassae, D. nasuta nasuta and D. melanogaster, respectively (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016). In all three studies, crowding adapted populations did evolve greater larval competitive ability compared to their respective low density controls, but did so through a suite of traits different from the canonical model. No evolution of increased feeding rate was seen, nor were there any changes in urea tolerance, compared to controls. Instead, the crowding-adapted populations seemed to evolve greater larval competitive ability primarily through a decrease in pre-adult development time, expressed even when assayed at low density, and an increase in the time efficiency of food to biomass conversion, relative to controls (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016). It then became apparent that the major difference between these studies and the earlier work that had given rise to the canonical model was in the ecological details of the context in which larvae in selected populations experienced crowding (Sarangi 2018). Specifically, the populations used by Nagarajan et al. (2016) and Sarangi et al. (2016) had very low amounts of food per vial, whereas the earlier studies had used larger amounts of food and a greater number of eggs. For example, the MCU populations of Sarangi et al. (2016) were maintained at a density of about 600 eggs per vial containing 1.5 mL food whereas the CU populations (Mueller et al. 1993) were reared in vials containing about 1500 eggs in 6-7 mL of food. Subsequently, altering the amount of food and number of eggs while keeping overall eggs per unit food density the same was shown to affect pre-adult survivorship and development time, as well as the weight distribution of eclosing flies (Sarangi 2018). Therefore, in order to examine this phenomenon further, two new sets of *D. melanogaster* populations were subjected to selection for adaptation to larval crowding. One set of four populations, called LCU, was maintained at around 1200

eggs in 6 mL food, and this regime was meant to approximate the CU populations of Mueller *et al.* (1993). The other set of four populations, called the CCU, and was maintained at twice the number of eggs and twice the volume of food, and thus an identical overall density, as the MCU populations (Sarangi 2018). Thus, a system of 16 populations was created: ancestral controls (MB), MCU, CCU and LCU, with four replicate populations in each regime (Sarangi 2018).

Interestingly, although the LCU and CCU populations did evolve greater pre-adult competitive ability compared to the MB controls (Sarangi 2018; Chapter 2), they did so via an increased larval feeding rate, unlike the MCU populations (Sarangi 2018). However, as in the MCU populations, no evolution of pre-adult urea or ammonia tolerance was seen in the CCU and LCU populations (Sarangi 2018). The overall picture that emerges is, thus, one of 'unity in ends, diversity in means', with even populations experiencing identical larval density in slightly different ecological contexts exhibiting the evolution of increased pre-adult competitive ability with or without a concomitant increase in larval feeding rate (Sarangi 2018). Here, we show that there is nevertheless a commonality in evolutionary trajectories across the MCU, CCU and LCU populations in that they all seem to have evolved a shorter egg hatching time and a greater egg size than the MB controls. These traits may be important for larval competitive ability, as together they can effectively provide a temporal head-start and initial size advantage in competition. A shorter egg hatching time may be important for larval competitive ability as it can provide a temporal head start in competition (Bakker 1961). Earlier hatching larvae will likely encounter lower density conditions early on, before the density increases due to the presence of later hatching larvae (Sokolowski et al. 1997). Experiments providing a few hours head start to larvae with poor competitive ability showed an enhancement in the ability of those larvae to compete against otherwise superior competitors (Bakker 1961, 69; Chapter 4). A similar example comes from the colonising of Morinda fruit by larvae of various species of *Drosophila*. A species with poorer larval competitive ability, *D. sechellia*, may be able to successfully colonise the *Morinda* fruit in its earliest, toxin-rich phases of rotting, likely due to its vastly shorter egg hatching time compared to other competitors, as well as its greater tolerance to the toxins found in the early phase of the fruit (Mueller and Bitner 2015). A day's head start to *D. sechellia* larvae would be expected to allow them to grow to sufficient size to survive in the presence of the later arriving, superior competitors of other *Drosophila* species (Mueller and Bitner 2015). A greater egg size would also be expected to provide an initial size advantage in larval competition. This advantage, however small, may give a proportional weight advantage at the end of growth to a larva against otherwise equal competitors (Bakker 1961).

Materials and methods

Experimental populations

We used four sets of long-term laboratory populations of *D. melanogaster*, with each set consisting of four replicate populations, as briefly described below. The derivation and maintenance of all these populations have been discussed in detail by Sarangi (2018).

MB 1-4: These are four low density reared populations that serve as ancestral controls to the three sets of crowding-adapted populations. They are maintained at a relatively low density of approx. 70 eggs in 6 mL of cornneal-sugar-yeast medium, in cylindrical Borosilicate glass vials of 2.2-2.4 cm inner diameter and 9.5 cm height.

MCU 1-4: These populations experience larval crowding at ~600 eggs in ~1.5 mL of cornmeal medium, in the same type of vials as MBs. At the time of assaying, the MCUs had undergone at least 218 generations of selection (replicate populations 1, 2 assayed at gen. 218; replicate populations 3, 4 assayed at gen. 219).

CCU 1-4: These populations experience larval crowding at ~1200 eggs in ~3 mL of cornmeal medium, in the same type of vials as MBs. It should be noted that MCU and CCU have the exact same overall eggs/food density. At the time of assaying, the CCUs had undergone at least 97 generations of selection (replicate populations 1, 2 assayed at gen. 97; replicate populations 3, 4 assayed at gen. 98).

LCU 1-4: These populations experience larval crowding at ~1200 eggs in ~6 mL of cornmeal medium, in Borosilicate glass vials of ~2 cm inner diameter and ~9 cm height (approx. 6-dram volume, to mimic the CU populations of Mueller *et al.* (1993)). At the time of assaying, the LCUs had undergone at least 96 generations of selection (replicate populations 1, 2 assayed at gen. 96; replicate populations 3, 4 assayed at gen. 97).

While the pre-adult stages of each population are maintained in vials, the adults are transferred to Plexiglas cages $(25 \times 20 \times 15 \text{ cm}^3)$ on the day of eclosion. Given the low larval density of MB populations, they are transferred to cages on the 11th day from egg collection. In the crowding-adapted populations, there is a large amount of variation in eclosion time and, therefore, transfer of eclosing adults to cages is done daily from day 8 to day 21 from egg collection. Fresh cornmeal food plates are given (following a fresh plate given on initiation of transfers) on day 10, 12, 14 and 17 from egg collection. On day 18 from egg collection, the flies in the cages are provided a food plate with a generous smear of a paste of live yeast mixed with water and a few drops of glacial acetic acid. On day 20 from egg collection, the flies are provided cornmeal food plates are used to initiate the next generation, with eggs being transferred to fresh vials containing the respective food volume assigned to each population. All populations are maintained under constant light, at $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and 70-90% relative humidity.

Standardisation of populations

Prior to assays, all populations were subjected to one generation of standardisation (rearing in a common low larval density environment), to eliminate any non-genetic parental effects. Eggs from each population were collected at approx. 70 eggs in 6 mL of food per vial, for a total of 40 vials per population. The flies eclosing in these vials were transferred to cages on day 11 from egg collection, following which they were provided a food plate, with a generous smear of the live yeast-water-acetic acid paste, for approx. 48 hours. On day 13 from egg collection, the flies were provided a food plate for egg collection for around 18 hours, and two rearing environments for the assay were set up on day 14 from egg collection. All assays were conducted in constant light, at $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and 70-90% relative humidity.

Rearing environments

For each population, the eggs collected from the previous standardised generation were used to form two sets of assay populations, reared at two larval densities.

Low density rearing: The first set was kept at a relatively low eggs/food density of ~70 eggs in 6 mL commeal medium per vial, with a total of 40 vials per replicate population. As in the standardisation, the adults eclosing in the vials were transferred to a cage on day 11 from egg collection. On day 17 from egg collection, the flies were provided a food plate with a generous smear of live yeast paste for ~48 hours. Following this, a "dummy" egg collection commeal plate was provided for an hour, which was for the laying of any eggs previously incubating inside the females. Relatively synchronized eggs for the hatching time and egg size assays were then obtained by providing a harder plate with double the usual agar and different composition (only yeast, sugar added), for 45 minutes. This composition ensured easier egg removal for counting.
High-density rearing: Eggs for the second set were collected into vials at a relatively high eggs/food density – approx. 300 eggs in 2 mL cornmeal medium per vial, with a total of 12 vials per population. This simple density change was done as a first pass to obtain reduced adult size without impacting survivorship greatly. Unlike in the low density rearing conditions, adults emerging from the vials were transferred to cages daily from the day of the start until the end of eclosion, usually day 15-16. The protocol from day 17 onwards was the same as in the low density reared populations.

Egg hatching time

The assay was carried out in plastic Petri plates (90 mm diameter \times 14 mm height), in which a thin layer of 12 g/L agar solution (containing 2.4 g/L methyl 4-hydroxybenzoate, as preservative) was spread. A 6 \times 6 square grid (36 square cells, each having 3 mm sides) was pasted on the bottom of each Petri plate, which was visible through the transparent layer of agar. A total of 5 Petri plates were used per selection \times rearing density \times block combination, with 36 eggs per Petri plate – one egg per cell of the grid (Figure 1). Observations for egg hatching were done at 13, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 24, 26, 28 and 30 hours from egg laying, respectively. At each time-point, the number of eggs that had hatched in the time interval between the current and previous observation was noted.



Figure 1: Apparatus for egg hatching time and hatchability measurements. The 6×6 grid is pasted on the bottom of a Petri plate containing a thin layer of agar solution. Each cell of the grid contains an egg, as can be seen in the image. The label denotes the selection \times rearing density \times block combination used, along with the replicate plate number ('1' in this case).

Egg hatchability

From the hatching time assay, we also recorded how many eggs hatched within 48 hours from egg laying. The egg hatchability was calculated as the number of eggs hatched divided by the total number of eggs. Earlier hatchability experiments on populations with relatively close ancestry to our MB populations did not use clear eggs due to their infertility (Chippindale *et al.* 1997). However, we have found that some clear eggs in our populations can lead to viable adults (S. Venkitachalam, *pers. obs.*), and thus we used all but the visibly damaged eggs for our experiments.

Egg length and width

For size measurements, a total of 30 eggs (obtained as 10 eggs each in 3 replicates) were measured per selection × rearing density × block combination. The eggs were placed on a Neubauer haemocytometer and photographed under a stereo-microscope. The parallel lines on the haemocytometer, which were a known distance apart (200 μ m or 250 μ m, depending on the set of lines used; see Figure 2) provided a scale with which to measure the eggs. Egg length (estimate of polar axis) and egg width (estimate of minor axis) were measured from the photographs (Figure 2) using ImageJ (Rasband 1997-2018).



Figure 2: Egg size measurement setup for a replicate containing 10 eggs. There were three such replicates for each selection × rearing density × block combination. Eggs were numbered from 1 through 10. The egg labelled '9' has two lines of measurement drawn for demonstration: the yellow line denotes egg length and the red line, egg width. The background is that of a Neubauer haemocytometer, which

contains parallel lines set a known distance apart, and can thus be used to determine the scale in the image (parallel lines set either 250 µm or 200 µm apart could be used, as marked in the figure).

Statistical analyses

Every replicate larval crowding adapted population shares ancestry with an MB population with the same replicate subscript i.e. replicate population *i* in the MCU, CCU and LCU regimes is derived from replicate *i* of MB (i = 1..4). This permits the use of a completely randomized block design in our statistical analysis, with replicate populations bearing the same subscript treated as blocks. Assays were conducted concurrently on all populations of a block. The data were subjected to a mixed model ANOVA (type III) in a fully factorial design, with block (4 levels) treated as a random factor. Selection (4 levels) and rearing density (2 levels) were treated as fixed factors. For hatchability, the analysis was repeated after performing an arcsine square root transformation on the data, to check for any differences in the statistical significance of the fixed factors. All ANOVAs were done using STATISTICATM Windows release 5.0 (Statsoft 1995). Tukey's HSD was used for post-hoc pairwise comparisons at $\alpha = 0.05$. The image measurements for egg size were done using ImageJ (Rasband 1997-2018). Pearson's productmoment correlation coefficients were calculated pairwise for population means of egg hatching time, egg length and egg width.

Results

Egg hatching time

Mean egg hatching time across all four types of selected and control populations was close to 20 hours, and the range of variation among means was only about 30 min (Figure 3). However, all three sets of selected populations had shorter mean hatching times than the MB controls,

the shortest being in the LCU populations, followed by CCU, and then by MCU (Figure 3). The ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of selection ($F_{3,9} = 4.142$, P = 0.042) on egg hatching time, but post-hoc pairwise comparisons showed a significant difference only between LCU and MB (Figure 3). There neither a significant main effect of rearing density ($F_{1,3} = 0.631$, P = 0.485), nor a significant selection × rearing density interaction ($F_{3,9} = 1.871$, P = 0.205).



Figure 3: Mean egg hatching time in hours for the four levels of selection, averaged over all levels of rearing density and block. The error bars show 95% confidence intervals, calculated from post-hoc Tukey's HSD, and allow for visual hypothesis testing – identical superscript letters denote means that did not differ significantly, whereas different letters denote means that differed significantly. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

Egg hatchability

Mean egg hatchability ranged from about 75-90% across selection × rearing density combinations, with flies reared as larvae at high density (300 eggs in 2 mL food) tending to lay more viable eggs than those reared at low density (70 eggs in 6 mL food), most markedly so in the MCU populations (Figure 4). The ANOVA revealed no significant main effect of selection ($F_{3,9} = 1.067, P = 0.410$). There was, however, a significant main effect of rearing density ($F_{1,3} = 12.484, P = 0.039$), as well as a significant selection × rearing density interaction ($F_{3,9} = 4.236, P = 0.040$). Post-hoc comparisons revealed that only MCU showed significantly higher hatchability when flies were reared as larvae at high versus low density. Similar but non-significant differences were also seen in the MB and LCU, whereas mean hatchability of CCU reared at low versus high larval density was very similar (Figure 4). The pattern of significant ANOVA effects was unaffected by whether untransformed or arcsine transformed data were used.



Figure 4: Mean hatchability (%), for all combinations of four levels of selection and two levels of rearing density, averaged across all blocks. The error bars show 95% confidence intervals, calculated from post-hoc Tukey's HSD, and allow for visual hypothesis testing – identical superscript letters denote means that did not differ significantly, whereas different letters denote means that differed significantly. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

Egg length (µm)

Mean egg length in MB populations was significantly less than any of the sets of populations selected for larval crowding (Figure 5), driving a significant ANOVA main effect of selection $(F_{3,9} = 22.104, P < 0.001)$. Egg length, on an average, did not differ significantly between rearing densities (main effect of rearing density: $F_{1,3} = 8.109, P = 0.065$; Figure 5). LCU eggs were longer than those of MCU across both rearing densities, but longer than CCU eggs only at high rearing density. On the other hand, MCU eggs were shorter than CCU eggs at low density, but of similar length at high density (Figure 5), and these rearing density-specific differences among various crowding adapted sets of populations drove a significant ANOVA selection × rearing density interaction ($F_{3,9} = 4.830, P = 0.029$). This pattern of differences between CCU and the other crowding adapted populations was likely due to an average of 9 µm longer eggs laid by CCU females when reared at low as compared to high density, although this difference itself was not statistically significant (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Mean egg length (μ m), for all combinations of four levels of selection and two levels of rearing density, averaged across all blocks. The error bars show 95% confidence intervals, calculated from posthoc Tukey's HSD, and allow for visual hypothesis testing – identical superscript letters denote means that did not differ significantly, whereas different letters denote means that differed significantly. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

Egg width (µm)

Overall, the egg width data were fairly similar to those for egg length (Figures 5,6), with egg width being considerably lower in MB populations compared to all crowding adapted populations (ANOVA main effect of selection: $F_{3,9} = 5.496$, P = 0.020), and not differing, on an average, between rearing densities (main effect of rearing density: $F_{1,3} = 0.584$, P = 0.500) (Figure 6). Eggs laid by MCU, CCU and LCU flies reared at low density did not differ much in mean width, whereas at high rearing density LCU females laid the widest eggs, and the MCU and CCU did not significantly differ in egg width (selection × rearing density interaction: $F_{3,9} = 7.971$, P = 0.007; Figure 6).



Figure 6: Mean egg width (μ m), for all combinations of four levels of selection and two levels of rearing density, averaged across all blocks. The error bars show 95% confidence intervals, calculated from posthoc Tukey's HSD, and allow for visual hypothesis testing – identical superscript letters denote means that did not differ significantly, whereas different letters denote means that differed significantly. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

Trait correlations

There was a strong, positive correlation across population means between egg length and width (r = +0.771, P < 0.001; Figure 7), indicating that populations with longer eggs also tended to have wider eggs, and vice versa. The correlations for mean hatching time and mean egg length (r = -0.395, P = 0.025), and for mean hatching time and mean egg width (r = -0.548, P = 0.001) were both negative, although the strength of the correlation was moderate in both cases, being stronger for hatching time with egg width (Figure 7). There were no discernible patterns for within population correlations between egg length and egg width, with the mean correlation coefficient being around 0.11, and no selection × rearing density combination exceeding a correlation coefficient of 0.3 (data not shown).



Figure 7: The relationship between mean egg length (μ m), mean egg width (μ m) and mean hatching time (hours) across the four sets of populations. Each data point represents the mean trait value for the three traits in one combination of selection × rearing density × block. Note the orientation of the x and y axes.

Discussion

Despite differences in the traits that underlie the evolution of greater pre-adult competitive ability in *Drosophila* populations experiencing larval crowding under slightly varying conditions (reviewed in Sarangi 2018), our results suggest one common adaptation across at least three such selection regimes covering a range of egg number and food amount combinations that more or less mimics the range of previous studies. Adults from the MCU, CCU and LCU populations laid eggs with greater length and width compared to the MB populations, when assayed at low (70 eggs in 6 mL food) or relatively high (300 eggs in 2 mL) density rearing conditions (Figures 5 and 6). Along with the strong positive correlation seen between the mean egg length and mean egg width across populations (Figure 7), these results indicate an increase in overall egg size of all these three sets of crowding adapted populations compared to the ancestral controls. Our results are also in agreement with an earlier study from a different laboratory, which demonstrated an increase in egg size, relative to controls, in crowding adapted populations derived from our MCU populations and maintained on a similar regime (Kumar 2014).

The eggs laid by LCU females were larger than those laid by MCU at both low- and highdensity rearing conditions, with CCU eggs being intermediate in size (Figures 5 and 6). The differences among the MCU, CCU and LCU populations themselves are perhaps just as important as the consistent difference between the egg size of the crowding-adapted and MB populations. While previous comparisons of results from selection studies in differently crowded cultures have focused on the repeatability of qualitative differences found between a single set of crowding adapted populations against its controls (Joshi and Mueller 1996; Nagarajan *et al.* 2016; Sarangi *et al.* 2016), our study system permits more nuanced, quantitative comparisons between multiple types of high-density selection regimes. The importance of plasticity in egg size has been studied extensively from the perspective of non-genetic maternal effects, in the contexts of both competition and malnutrition (Kawecki 1995; Azevedo et al. 1997; Prasad et al. 2003; Vijendravarma et al. 2010; Yanagi et al. 2013). In our study, egg size did not show any statistically significant difference between parents reared at low or high larval density (Figures 5,6). However, the CCU populations did show a consistent trend of smaller eggs when crowded.

These results indicate that the populations in our lab, control or crowding adapted, do not show any significant sensitivity to density with respect to egg size, at least up to the 'mild' crowding imposed in this experiment. It is likely that this trades off with fecundity, as seen in a recent study comparing MCU and LCU reared at 3 different densities, which showed that fecundity decreases when flies are reared at higher density (Pandey et al. 2022). An early study by Warren showed that flies made smaller through food limitations nevertheless laid eggs of the same size as optimally fed, larger flies (Warren 1924 Genetics).

Given the pattern of differences seen for the CCU populations compared to the rest, It is possible that either the relative scaling of egg size with female body size, or the sensitivity of female size to larval crowding, differs across the MCU, CCU and LCU populations.

It is also known that crowding more severe than what we used can further decrease body size (Sang 1949; Bakker 1961; Chapter 2), observed effects of rearing density on egg traits in these populations may change under more extreme crowding, when size at eclosion and pre-adult survivorship are more severely impacted than they were in this study.

Thus, future studies can aim to study the crowding adapted and control populations with respect to their egg size and fecundity across a large gradient of densities (or effective densities – see Chapter 5), which may shed light on the reaction norm of egg size with rearing density with respect to larval crowding adaptation, and unravel the relationship between egg size and fecundity of adults from differently crowded cultures, respectively.

If we compare our egg size results with those obtained in a comparison of populations selected for rapid pre-adult development (FEJ) relative to their controls (JB), which are similar to the MB populations (first described in Prasad et al. 2000), there are some interesting similarities and differences. Although the MCU, CCU and LCU populations all have reduced pre-adult development time compared to MB controls (Sarangi 2018), the FEJ populations had undergone a far greater reduction in pre-adult development time, relative to their controls, as that was the primary trait under selection (Prasad et al. 2000; Prasad and Joshi 2003). On an average, eggs laid by FEJ females, after rearing at low density as larvae, were 3.8% longer, 7% wider, and 11% heavier than those of their controls (B.M. Prakash and A. Joshi, unpubl. data). The MCU, CCU and LCU populations in this study exhibited length increases of 6.5%, 8.2% and 9.5%, respectively, compared to the MB controls, and the corresponding width increases were 3.9%, 3.6% and 5.1%. From this comparison, we might conclude that MCU, CCU and LCU eggs are likely to be about 10-15% heavier than MB eggs. Interestingly, in the FEJ populations, the increase in width was greater than in length; it is just the opposite in the MCU, CCU and LCU populations. At this point, we cannot say why this may be so, although, given the very different selection pressures (rapid development vs. larval crowding), the mechanisms underlying the response could differ. The difference is unlikely to be explained by female size differences, since flies of FEJ, as well as MCU, CCU and LCU populations tend to be quite small relative to controls.

In the light of increased egg size and reduced hatching time having evolved in the crowding adapted populations, it is pertinent to inquire whether these populations also exhibit reduced fecundity as a tradeoff. We do not have data on fecundity for the MCU, LCU and CCU populations, but we do know that eclosing adults in these three sets of populations have reduced dry weight compared to the MB controls (Sarangi 2018; Chapter 2). Derivatives of our MB and MCU populations are also studied in another lab and their data show that MCU females are slightly more fecund than MB females, but not significantly so (N.G. Prasad, *pers. comm.*). Thus, the MCU, CCU and LCU populations are likely to have evolved increased egg size and reduced hatching without a concomitant reduction in fecundity.

Although eggs from all crowding-adapted populations hatched faster than those of the controls, only the difference between mean egg hatching time between the LCU and MB populations was statistically significant (Figure 3). Moreover, the difference between LCU and MB mean egg hatching time was only ~30 minutes. However, given the egg size results (Figures 5,6), the pattern of MB > MCU > CCU > LCU for egg hatching time (Figure 3), and the negative correlation between mean egg length and mean hatching time, as well as between mean egg width and mean hatching time, we might expect crowding adapted populations that evolve increased egg size and decreased hatching time to benefit from a potent head-start in conditions of high pre-adult competition. Thus, we might expect LCU larvae to have a greater head-start in terms of pre-adult competition, compared to MCU larvae, and much greater still compared to MB larvae. This does not, however, necessarily imply that LCU larvae will have greater pre-adult competitive ability than MCU larvae, as differences in growth rates, efficiency and waste tolerance may also play a major role in determining pre-adult competitive ability (Bakker 1961; Joshi and Mueller 1996; Santos *et al.* 1997; Borash *et al.* 1998; Nagarajan *et al.* 2016; Sarangi *et al.* 2016).

The evolution of a greater potential head-start in the LCU populations could be driven by the fact that, compared to the MCU and CCU populations, the LCU larvae experience the highest density within the feeding band (the few mm deep zone below the food surface within which larvae feed), even though their overall eggs/food density is lower than that in the other two selection regimes.

Overall hatchability was lower in our study than usually observed in related populations (e.g. over 90% in Chippindale *et al.* (1994)). This might be attributed to reduced humidity due to the very thin layer of agar used by us – future experiments using a thicker agar layer or regular cornneal food might alleviate the survivorship, if this explanation is correct. We also observed reduced hatchability of eggs laid by MCU flies reared under low density conditions (Figure 4). It is not clear if this is due to an increase in infertile or unviable eggs (e.g., Chippindale *et al.* 1994, 1997), and whether it is driven by some correlated response(s) to evolution under larval crowding for over 200 generations of selection in the MCU populations, much longer than their CCU and LCU counterparts.

In conclusion, our results highlight increased egg size as being a consistent evolutionary correlate of greater pre-adult competitive ability across three differently crowded selection regimes that otherwise differ in the traits they have evolved in response to chronic larval crowding. Moreover, adults from populations crowded with the lowest eggs/food density, but the highest feeding band density, laid the largest eggs with the fastest hatching times, thus potentially allowing for a substantial head-start in the context of pre-adult competition. The study system we describe allows the comparison of adaptations to different crowding scenarios, highlighting quantitative differences that may otherwise not be possible to see when comparing qualitative results between different long-term selection experiments.

References

Azevedo R.B., Partridge L. and French V. 1997 Life-history consequences of egg size in Drosophila melanogaster. Am. Nat. 150, 250–282.

Bakker K. 1961 An analysis of factors which determine success in competition for food among larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Arch. Neerl. Zool.* **14**, 200–281.

Bakker K. 1969 Selection for rate of growth and its influence on competitive ability of larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Neth. J. Zool.* **19**, 541–595.

Bierbaum T.J., Mueller L.D. and Ayala F.J. 1989 Density-dependent evolution of life-history traits in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Evolution* **43**, 382–392.

Bitner K., Rutledge G.A., Kezos J.N. and Mueller L.D. 2021 The effects of adaptation to urea on feeding rates and growth in *Drosophila* larvae. *Ecol. Evol*, **11**, 9516–9529.

Borash D.J., Gibbs A.G., Joshi A. and Mueller L.D. 1998 A genetic polymorphism maintained by natural selection in a temporally varying environment. *Am. Nat.* **151**, 148–156.

Burnet B., Sewell D. and Bos M. 1977 Genetic analysis of larval feeding behaviour in *Drosophila melanogaster*. II. Growth relations and competition between selected lines. *Genet*. *Res.* **30**, 149–161.

Chippindale A.K., Hoang D., Service P. and Rose M.R. 1994 The evolution of development in *Drosophila* selected for postponed senescence. *Evolution* **48**, 1880–1899.

Chippindale A.K., Alipaz J.A., Chen H.-W. and Rose M.R. 1997 Experimental evolution of accelerated development in *Drosophila*. 1. Developmental speed and larval survival. *Evolution* **51**, 1536–1551.

Fellowes M.D.E., Kraaijeveld A.R. and Godfray H.C.J. 1998 Trade-off associated with selection for increased ability to resist parasitoid attack in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proc.* R. *Soc. Lond. B* **265**, 1553–1558.

Fellowes M.D.E., Kraaijeveld A.R. and Godfray H.C.J. 1999 Association between feeding rate and parasitoid resistance in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Evolution* **53**, 1302–1305.

Guo, P.Z., Mueller L.D. and Ayala F.J. 1991 Evolution of behavior by density-dependent natural selection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**, 10905–10906.

Joshi A. and Mueller L.D. 1988 Evolution of higher feeding rate in *Drosophila* due to densitydependent natural selection. *Evolution* **42**, 1090–1092.

Joshi A. and Mueller L.D. 1993 Directional and stabilizing density-dependent natural selection for pupation height in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Evolution* **47**, 176–184.

Joshi A. and Mueller L.D. 1996 Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: trade-offs between larval food acquisition and utilization. *Evol. Ecol.* **10**, 463–474.

Joshi A., Prasad N.G. and Shakarad M. 2001 *K*-selection, α -selection, effectiveness, and tolerance in competition: density-dependent selection revisited. *J. Genet.* **80**, 63–75.

Joshi A., Castillo R.H. and Mueller L.D. 2003. The contribution of ancestry, chance, and past and ongoing selection to adaptive evolution. *J. Genet.* **82**, 147–162.

Kawecki T.J. 1995 Adaptive plasticity of egg size in response to competition in the cowpea weevil, *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Coleoptera: Bruchidae). *Oecologia* **102**, 81–85.

Kumar L. 2014 *A study of female reproductive investment in populations of Drosophila melanogaster adapted to larval crowding*. M.S. Thesis, Indian Institute of Science Education and Research, Mohali, India. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/123456789/420</u>

MacArthur R.H. 1962 Some generalized theorems of natural selection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 48, 1893–1897.

MacArthur R.H. and Wilson E.O. 1967 *The theory of island biogeography*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, USA.

Mueller L.D. 1988 Evolution of competitive ability in *Drosophila* by density-dependent natural selection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **85**, 4383–4386.

Mueller L.D. 1990 Density-dependent natural selection does not increase efficiency. *Evol. Ecol.* **4**, 290–297.

Mueller L.D. 1997 Theoretical and empirical examination of density-dependent selection. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 28, 269–288.

Mueller L.D. 2009 Fitness, demography, and population dynamics in laboratory experiments.In: *Experimental evolution: concepts, methods and applications of selection experiments* (Eds.T. Garland Jr. and M.R. Rose) pp. 197–216. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA, USA.

Mueller L.D. and Ayala F.J. 1981 Trade-off between *r*-selection and *K*-selection in *Drosophila* populations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **78**, 1303–1305.

Mueller L.D. and Sweet V.F. 1986 Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: evolution of pupation height. *Evolution* **40**, 1354–1356.

Mueller, L.D. and Cabral L.G. 2012 Does phenotypic plasticity for adult size versus food level in *Drosophila melanogaster* evolve in response to adaptation to different rearing densities? Evolution **66**, 263–271.

Mueller L.D. and Barter T.T. 2015 A model of the evolution of larval feeding rate in *Drosophila* driven by conflicting energy demands. *Genetica* **143**, 93–100.

Mueller L.D. and Bitner K. 2015 The evolution of ovoviviparity in a temporally varying environment. *Am. Nat.* **186**, 708–715.

Mueller L.D., Graves J. and Rose M.R. 1993 Interactions between density-dependent and agespecific selection in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Func. Ecol.* **7**, 469–479.

Mueller L.D., Rauser C.L. and Rose M.R. 2005 Population dynamics, life history, and demography: lessons from *Drosophila*. *Adv. Ecol. Res.* **37**, 77–99.

Nagarajan A., Natarajan S.B., Jayaram M., Thammanna A., Chari S., Bose J., Jois S.V. and Joshi A. 2016 Adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila ananassae* and *Drosophila nasuta nasuta*: increased larval competitive ability without increased larval feeding rate. *J. Genet.* **95**, 411–425.

Pandey, N., R. Malhotra, and A. Joshi. 2022 Effects of larval and adult crowding on fitness components in *Drosophila* populations adapted to larval crowding experienced under different combinations of food amount and egg number. *bioRxiv*.

https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.05.08.491081

Prasad N.G. and Joshi A. 2003 What have two decades of laboratory life-history evolution studies on *Drosophila melanogaster* taught us? *J. Genet.* **82**, 45–76.

Prasad N.G., Shakarad M., Rajamani M. and Joshi A. 2003 Interaction between the effects of maternal and larval levels of nutrition on pre-adult survival in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Evol. Ecol. Res.* **5**, 903–911.

Prasad N.G., Shakarad M, Anitha D., Rajamani M. and Joshi A. 2001 Correlated responses to selection for faster development and early reproduction in *Drosophila*: the evolution of larval traits. *Evolution* **55**, 1363–1372.

Prasad N.G., Shakarad M., Gohil V.M., Sheeba V., Rajamani M. and Joshi A. 2000 Evolution of reduced pre-adult viability and larval growth rate in laboratory populations of *Drosophila melanogaster* selected for shorter development time. *Genet. Res.* **76**, 249–259.

Rajamani M., Raghavendra N., Prasad N.G., Archana N., Joshi A. and Shakarad M. 2006 Reduced larval feeding rate is a strong evolutionary correlate of rapid development in *Drosophila melanogaster. J. Genet.* **85**, 209–212.

Rasband W.S. 1997-2018 ImageJ. U.S. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA (*https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/*).

Sang J.H. 1949 The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture. III. Larval and pupal survival. *Physiol. Zool.* **22**, 183–202.

Santos M., Borash D.J., Joshi A., Bounlutay N. and Mueller L.D. 1997 Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: evolution of growth rate and body size. *Evolution* **51**, 420–432.

Sarangi M. 2018 Ecological details mediate different paths to the evolution of larval competitive ability in Drosophila. Ph.D. Thesis, Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bengaluru, India. http://lib.jncasr.ac.in:8080/jspui/handle/10572/2722

Sarangi M., Nagarajan A., Dey S., Bose J. and Joshi A. 2016 Evolution of increased larval competitive ability in *Drosophila melanogaster* without increased larval feeding rate. *J. Genet.* **95**, 491–503.

Shakarad M., Prasad N.G., Gokhale K., Gadagkar V., Rajamani M. and Joshi A. 2005 Faster development does not lead to correlated evolution of greater competitive ability in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Biol. Lett.* **1**, 91–94.

Shiotsugu J., Leroi A.M., Yashiro H., Rose M.R. and Mueller L.D. 1997 The symmetry of correlated selection responses in adaptive evolution: an experimental study using *Drosophila*. *Evolution* **51**, 163–172.

Sokolowski M.B., Pereira H.S. and Hughes K. 1997 Evolution of foraging behavior in *Drosophila* by density-dependent selection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **94**, 7373–7377.

StatSoft 1995 Statistica Vol. I: general conventions and statistics 1. StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA.

Vijendravarma R.K., Narasimha S. and Kawecki T.J. 2010 Effects of parental larval diet on egg size and offspring traits in *Drosophila*. *Biol. Lett.* **6**, 238–241.

Warren, D. C. 1924 Inheritance of egg size in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics* 9(1), 41-69.

Yanagi S., Saeki Y. and Tuda M. 2013 Adaptive egg size plasticity for larval competition and its limits in the seed beetle *Callosobruchus chinensis*. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* **148**, 182–187.

Chapter IV

The role of greater competitive ability in countering

age disadvantages in larval competition in

Drosophila melanogaster

<u>NOTE</u>

This chapter is a reproduction of a preprint on bioRxiv with the following citation:

<u>Venkitachalam, S.</u>, Deep, A., Das, S., and Joshi, A. 2023. The role of greater competitive ability in countering age disadvantages in larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.25.550469</u>

Introduction

Competition holds a central place in the theory of density-dependent selection (MacArthur, 1962; MacArthur and Wilson, 1967), which is one of the few interfaces between ecology and evolution (reviewed in Mueller, 1997, 2009). A fundamental prediction of this theory is that a population adapted to crowded conditions will evolve greater average competitive ability (Mueller, 1988a). We define competitive ability as the sum of traits relevant to the individual's performance in competition (Bakker, 1961): essentially, fitness under competitive conditions.

The traits contributing to competitive ability can be teased apart by studying laboratory populations adapted to high density conditions. Such long-term experiments would be expected to lead to the evolution of greater competitive ability over generations of selection. Over the past four decades, experimenters have used populations of *Drosophila* extensively for such selection experiments. The results from several selection experiments have explored the evolution of increased larval competitive ability and its contributing traits (reviewed in Mueller, 1997, 2009; Prasad and Joshi, 2003; Nagarajan *et al.*, 2016; Chapter 3).

However, over the decades, different selection experiments have shown very contrasting results regarding which traits underlie the greater competitive ability (Nagarajan *et al.*, 2016; Sarangi *et al.*, 2016; Sarangi, 2018). Due to this, we do not yet have a comprehensive understanding of the relative importance of different traits in the context of larval competition.

The early selection studies in the 1980s and 1990s did show some consistent results among themselves and led to a canonical understanding of which traits typically mediate the evolution of larval competitive ability in *Drosophila*. The first studies were done on *D. melanogaster* populations selected for high population densities at all life-stages (the *K*-populations), compared to their low population density controls (the *r*-populations) (Mueller and Ayala,

1981). The selection experiment met the predictions made by models of density-dependent selection. The *K*-populations evolved increased larval competitive ability compared to the *r*-populations (Mueller, 1988b). The *K*-population larvae also evolved increased larval feeding rate as well as increased larval foraging path length (Joshi and Mueller, 1988; Sokolowski *et al.*, 1997). Both these traits could be essential to larval competition. However, the *K*-populations showed reduced food to biomass efficiency (Mueller, 1990), which was a trait predicted to evolve under adaptation to high-density conditions (MacArthur and Wilson, 1967; Mueller, 1988a). This reduction gave the first indication that efficency of food acquisition versus utilization might trade off in optimising larval competitive ability: he *K*-population larvae were possibly sacrificing efficiency for a greater increase in feeding rate (Mueller, 1990, 1991).

This study was later repeated with greater rigour and gave rise to similar results once more (Guo *et al.*, 1991; Mueller *et al.*, 1991). Subsequently, another selection study sought to replicate these results using only larval crowding. The CU set of populations were maintained at high larval density, in contrast to their low larval density controls, named UU (Mueller *et al.*, 1993; Joshi and Mueller, 1996). Additionally, their geographical origin also differed from that of the *r*- and *K*-populations. Similar to the *K*-populations, the CU populations also evolved increased larval feeding rate and foraging path length, compared to the UU (Joshi and Mueller, 1996; Santos *et al.*, 1997; Sokolowski *et al.*, 1997), and they showed a reduction in food to biomass conversion efficiency as well (Joshi and Mueller, 1996). Additionally, the CU populations evolved increased larval tolerance to urea and ammonia (Shiotsugu *et al.*, 1997; Borash *et al.*, 1998) – both known to be components of larval metabolic waste, which could build up in crowded larval cultures (Botella *et al.*, 1985; Borash *et al.*, 1998).

Thus, three selection experiments yielded consistent patterns of adaptation to high larval density conditions, leading to the canonical view (Mueller, 1997, 2009; Joshi *et al.*, 2001; Prasad and Joshi, 2003; Mueller *et al.*, 2005; Mueller and Cabral, 2012; Mueller and Barter, 2015; Bitner *et al.*, 2021), which predicted that laboratory populations of *D. melanogaster* selected for adaptation to larval crowding would evolve increased larval competitive ability via:

- a. Increased larval feeding rate.
- b. Increased tolerance to metabolic waste products.
- c. Increased larval foraging path length.

This adaptation would come at the cost of reduced food to biomass conversion efficiency. This view was reinforced by observations from other studies. *Drosophila* populations selected for increased larval feeding rate also evolved greater larval competitive ability (Burnet *et al.*, 1977). Another study demonstrated that *Drosophila* larvae evolved decreased competitive ability as well as decreased feeding rate as correlates of the evolution of increased parasitoid resistance (Fellowes *et al.*, 1998, 1999). Selection for rapid development, with or without concurrent selection for early reproduction, in populations descended from UU also led to reduced larval competitive ability along with a reduction in larval feeding rate (Prasad *et al.*, 2001; Shakarad *et al.*, 2005; Rajamani *et al.*, 2006).

This canonical view was subsequently challenged by three selection studies. The first two selection studies involved selection for adaptation to larval crowding in populations of *D. ananassae* and *D. nasuta nasuta*, respectively (Nagarajan *et al.*, 2016). The third study, of which the current study is a continuation, involved *D. melanogaster* populations named MCU (Sarangi *et al.*, 2016). These were descended from the UU populations. All three studies involved selection for larval crowding at slightly different egg and food combinations

compared to the *K*-populations or the CU populations. The results from all these three experiments were inconsistent with the canonical view, but consonant with one another (Nagarajan *et al.*, 2016; Sarangi *et al.*, 2016). The larval-crowding-adapted populations evolved greater larval competitive ability via a very different set of traits than those seen to evolve in the earlier studies. Compared to their low-density controls, they evolved reduced pre-adult development time and increased time efficiency of food to biomass conversion. They did not evolve greater larval feeding rate. Nor did they evolve greater urea tolerance.

It was clear that exactly how the crowding was imposed could affect the evolutionary trajectory of a population experiencing chronic larval crowding (Sarangi, 2018). More recently, our research group has carried out a long-term selection experiment with three different sets of larval-crowding-adapted populations (Sarangi, 2018). Each set is adapted to different crowding regimes. The details of these populations are as follows:

- a) MCU reared at high larval densities similar to those of *D. ananassae* and *D. n. nasuta* (Nagarajan *et al.*, 2016).
- b) CCU reared at the same larval density and vial dimensions as the MCU, but with double the eggs and food amount.
- c) LCU reared at high larval densities similar to the CU populations (Joshi and Mueller, 1996), in vials with narrower dimensions than MCU (see methods).

All three sets of crowding-adapted populations evolved greater larval competitive ability compared to their low-density controls, called MB (Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2). When compared with MB populations, the LCU and CCU populations, but not the MCU populations, showed an increase in larval feeding rate (Sarangi, 2018). No evolution of urea or ammonia tolerance was seen in these populations (Sarangi, 2018).

We have recently shown that evolution of larger egg size is a consistent correlate of increased larval competitive ability in these populations (Chapter 3). Although all three crowding adapted population sets evolved increased egg size, LCU had greater egg length and egg width than the other two. Only LCU populations evolved a significantly shorter egg hatching time than the low-density controls, with the MCU and CCU populations showing a hatching time shorter than MB, but not significantly so (Chapter 3).

A shorter hatching time and greater egg size would likely confer increased competitive ability mainly through providing an initial advantage, or a head start, in the context of larval competition (Bakker, 1961, 1969; Mueller and Bitner, 2015). Thus, we can expect the larvae of the LCU populations to show the most potent head starts in competition. Even CCU and MCU can be expected to show greater larval head starts compared to the control MB populations.

In the current study, we have asked if these differences in egg size and hatching time are important for countering a head start imposed *against* the larvae of each of these populations. For this purpose, we have provided a common marked competitor population various durations of head start in competition against each focal population (MB, MCU, CCU, or LCU). This equates to an age disadvantage imposed on the respective focal populations. In the absence of artificially provided advantages, the common competitor is of roughly similar competitive ability as the low-density controls MB (Sarangi *et al.*, 2016; Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2).

We assessed the effects of providing competitive disadvantage in the following two ways:

- a) To what extent did the magnitude of the age disadvantage affect the outcomes of competition for each focal population?
- b) How much did each focal population affect the competitive outcomes of the head-startreceiving common competitor?

We made the following predictions -

- a) All crowding adapted populations would be less affected by a competitive disadvantage than the low-density controls (MB).
 - This would be expected, given the evolution of greater larval competitive ability and head start mechanisms in MCU, CCU and LCU.
- b) The common competitor would also gain the most competitive performance when given a head start against MB.
 - Following from prediction 1, we can predict that the crowding-adapted populations cover up the growth lag soon and challenge the unabated growth of the common competitor. We do not expect to see this for MB populations.
- c) The populations which evolved the largest eggs and the fastest hatching time (LCU) would be least affected by the age disadvantage.
 - Within the crowding-adapted populations, greater head start mechanisms should be most important for closing the initial time gap between the larvae of the focal population and the common competitor.
- d) *The common competitor would gain the least competitive performance when given a head start against LCU.*
 - From prediction 3, LCU larvae should be at the lowest time disadvantage at emergence. Thus, we expect that they can start feeding and growing sooner, thereby challenging the growth of the common competitor before MCU or CCU.

We measured pre-adult development time as the indicator of competitive performance. It can be more sensitive to competition in *Drosophila* than pre-adult survivorship (Sang, 1949a; Ohba 1961 as cited by González-Candelas *et al.*; 1990; González-Candelas *et al.*, 1990; Chapter 2).

Methods

Populations used

We used three sets of populations undergoing selection for adaptation to larval crowding, experienced at different combinations of egg number and food amount (MCU, CCU and LCU). We also used one set of control populations (MB), undergoing maintenance at relatively low larval densities, and ancestral to all the selected populations. A population (OE) carrying an eye colour mutation was used as a common competitor.

Each set (MB, MCU, CCU and LCU) contains four replicate populations, ancestrally linked by replicate subscript. The replicate *i* of each set of selected populations is derived from the population MB-*i*, allowing us to treat replicate populations as randomised blocks in our analyses.

The maintenance regime of each population set is as follows:

- a) MB 1-4: low density ancestral controls. Reared at ~70 eggs, ~6 mL cornmeal-sugaryeast food medium, in cylindrical borosilicate glass vials of 2.2-2.4 cm inner diameter and 9.5 cm height.
- b) MCU 1-4: larval crowding with lowest food amount. Reared at ~600 eggs, ~1.5 mL food. Same vial and food type as MB. At the time of the current study, they had undergone 218-219 generations of selection.
- c) CCU 1-4: same density as MCU, but egg number and food amount doubled. Same vial and food type as MB. Reared at ~1200 eggs, ~3 mL food. At the time of the current study, they had undergone 97-98 generations of selection.
- d) LCU 1-4: larval crowding with the highest food amount, meant to mimic the larval crowding protocol of the earlier used CU populations (Mueller *et al.*, 1993). Reared in ~1200 eggs, ~6mL food, in borosilicate glass vials of ~2 cm inner diameter and ~9 cm

height (approx. 6-dram volume). Same food type as MB. At the time of the current study, they had undergone 96-97 generations of selection.

Common competitor: OE (Orange Eye) is a population of *D. melanogaster* with an eye colour mutation. The mutation arose spontaneously in one of our populations ancestral to an MB population (Sarangi, 2018). We used it as a marker in the competition experiment of the current study. We rear this population at a similar egg number, food volume and vial dimensions as the MB populations.

The ancestry and maintenance of all these populations have been described in detail earlier (Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 3). Figure 1 shows a summarised diagram of the maintenance regime for each population set.



Figure 1: Maintenance schematic for all the populations used in the current study. In cultures with larval crowding, there is increased variation in pre-adult development time. Thus, the transfer of adults in MCU, CCU and LCU happens daily over multiple days during which adults are eclosing.

Two generations of common background rearing

Prior to assaying pre-adult competitive ability, we standardized each population to remove nongenetic parental effects. This was done by rearing all populations in a low-density environment for two generations. At both standardization generations, we collected ~70 eggs in ~6 mL of food for each population, in MB-type vial dimensions. We kept a total of 40 such vials per population.

On day 11 from egg collection, we transferred the eclosed adults to Plexiglas cages. In these cages, we provided the adults with food plates smeared generously with a paste of yeast with water and a few drops of glacial acetic acid.

In the first generation of standardization, we provided a food plate for egg laying on the 13th day from egg collection. On day 14, we collected eggs for the second standardisation generation.

We maintained the same protocol for generation 2 of standardisation as in generation 1 until day 13. On day 13, we first gave a regular egg-laying food plate to the adults for 1 hour, and discarded any eggs laid on it. This ensured that eggs laid from that point on would be relatively synchronized. After this step, we started the competition assay. Replicate populations 1, 3 of each set followed this schedule. For replicate populations 2 and 4 of each set, we started the experiment on day 16 due to logistical reasons, with the timing of yeast plate introduction also appropriately delayed.

Assay protocol

After the 1 h egg laying window described above, we gave another set of food plates to the adults for egg laying. These were harder agar plates, made of 2.4 g/L bacteriological agar along with yeast and sugar. The harder food surface facilitated easy removal of eggs. Once removed

from the plate, we placed the eggs onto a 1 g/L transparent agar plate. We counted these eggs using soft synthetic brushes and placed them in respective vials for the assay.

The assay involved imposing larval competition in high density duo-typic cultures, i.e., focal population (one of MB, MCU, CCU or LCU) + OE, with various larval age disadvantages to the focal populations (MB, MCU, CCU or LCU). This was achieved by giving larvae of the common competitor (OE) various durations of head start (figure 2). Briefly, from the standardized populations, 200 eggs of OE were added to 2 mL cornmeal food. These eggs were added 0, 3, 5, or 7 hours before 200 eggs of a focal population (MB, MCU, LCU or CCU). Each culture thus amounted to 400 eggs in 2 mL of food. For each combination of replicate population and head start duration, we used 5 replicate vials.



Figure 2: Schematic of the protocol for the pre-adult competition assay. Each plate represents a different head start duration given to OE. Plate 1 has either all the OE eggs, or eggs of the 0-hours head start treatment for focal populations. The subsequent plates contain eggs of the focal population for 3-, 5-, and 7-hours head start treatments, respectively.

We measured both pre-adult survivorship and pre-adult development time. We anaesthetised any adults eclosing from these vials (using CO₂) and counted them. We collected and counted eclosing flies twice a day at ~12-hour intervals for the first 3 days. This period was around day 8-10 from egg collection. Afterwards, the collection and counting frequency was relaxed to once a day. We continued this until eclosion stopped. Most flies eclosed by day 15-16 from egg collection, although a few stragglers could occasionally continue to emerge up to day 20-22. Due to logistical difficulties, eclosion checks for replicate 2 had to be stopped on the 21st day from egg collection, although by this time eclosion had ceased in most vials. The development time was calculated from time of egg plate introduction until mid-point of time window of eclosion.

Competitive performance

We wanted to test for changes in the outcome of competition, as reflected in pre-adult development time or pre-adult survivorship, due to the head start duration provided to OE. For this, we subtracted the competition outcome at 0-hours head start duration from the 3-, 5-, and 7-hour head start duration respectively. We did this for each focal population as well as for the OE competing against them.

This was calculated as follows, for both pre-adult development time and survivorship:

a) Effect of competitive disadvantage on outcome of focal population =

Outcome with given (3, 5 or 7 h) disadvantage – Outcome without disadvantage (0 h)

b) Effect of focal population on outcome of OE with head start =

Outcome with given (3, 5 or 7 h) head start to OE – Outcome without head start (0 h)
Statistical Analyses

We tested the difference in competitive outcome from the 0-hour head start condition, for each population. For this, we used a mixed-model ANOVA (model III) in a fully factorial design. The blocks representing ancestry comprised a random factor. Selection and age disadvantage duration (or head start duration for OE) were treated as fixed factors. There were 3 levels of head start to OE (3, 5, 7 hours), 4 levels of selection (MB, MCU, CCU, LCU), and 4 blocks (1-4). All ANOVA were done using STATISTICA 5 (Statsoft, 1995). Tukey's HSD was used for post-hoc pairwise comparisons. All results were plotted in R using the ggplot2 and tidyverse packages (R Core Team 2022; Wickham, 2016; Wickham *et al.*, 2019).

Results

Effects of competitive disadvantages on focal populations (pre-adult development time)

All focal populations faced, on average, a significant increase in pre-adult development time at every level of disadvantage. This can be seen in Figure 3, where y = 0 denotes no change compared to 0 hours head start. A 3 hour age disadvantage led to a 4.6 hour increase in development time, averaged across all populations. At 5 hours of disadvantage, this value was 8.2 hours. At 7 hours, it was 10.6 hours (Figure 3). The ANOVA also revealed a significant main effect of both selection and age disadvantage for the change in development time (Table 1).

All crowding adapted populations (MCU, CCU, LCU) faced a similar increase in development time compared to the 0 hours scenario, averaged over all levels of disadvantage provided to them (Figure 4). On average, MCU development time suffered by 5.6 hours, CCU by 4.9 hours, and LCU by almost 7 hours. Each of them fared better than the MB populations, which saw an

average increase of around 14 hours (Figure 4). The interaction of selection and age disadvantage was not significant (Table 1).

Effect	df	MS	F	Р
Selection	3	251.602	34.262	<0.001***
Age Disadvantage	2	114.947	5.200	0.049*
Selection × Age Disadvantage	6	15.589	1.273	0.318

Table 1: Mixed-model ANOVA for the effect of competitive age disadvantage on pre-adult development time of focal populations. Three factors are used – selection (fixed, four levels), age disadvantage duration (fixed, three levels), block (random, four levels). Statistically significant effects are marked. Analysis was performed on population means, therefore main effect of block and its interactions were not tested for significance.



Figure 3: Effect of competitive age disadvantage on pre-adult development time of focal population. This is shown for the three levels of the age disadvantage given, averaged over all focal populations and blocks. The error bars show 95% confidence intervals around the mean, calculated from post-hoc Tukey's HSD, and thus can be used for visual hypothesis testing. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.



Figure 4: Effect of competitive disadvantage on pre-adult development time of focal population. This is shown for the four levels of the factor selection, averaged over all age disadvantage durations and blocks. The error bars show 95% confidence intervals around the population means, calculated from post-hoc Tukey's HSD, and thus can be used for visual hypothesis testing. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

Effects of head start duration on the common competitor against each focal population (preadult development time)

As seen in Table 2, the ANOVA revealed a significant main effect for head start duration. Moreover, the interaction effect between selection and head start duration was also significant. Thus, we can analyze the effect of each focal population on the competitive performance of OE at every head start duration (see Figure 5 for the following results):

- 3 hours vs. 0 hours of head start to OE: No focal population differed statistically from another in its effect on OE development time. Compared to 0 hours of head start, OE with 3 hours of head start had significantly decreased development time against only CCU (~12 hours). On average, OE development time decreased by 7.8 and 5.5 hours when given a head start of 3 hours against MCU and LCU populations, respectively. Against MB, mean OE development time decreased by 1.4 hours.
- 5 hours vs. 0 hours of head start to OE: With 5 hours of head start, OE had significantly decreased development time in competition against every focal population, as compared to the scenario without any head start. No focal populations differed from each other in their effect on OE development time, but the pattern was that –OE development time decreased by around 24 hours in competition against both LCU and CCU, while this value was lower at 17.4 hours vs. MCU, and only 8.2 hours vs. MB.
- 7 hours vs. 0 hours head start to OE: Compared to the 0 hour head start scenario, OE had significantly shorter development time with 7 hours of head start in competition against each respective focal population. The development time decrease of OE against both CCU (35.3 hours) and LCU (38 hours) was significantly different from the development time decrease of OE against MB (10.4 hours). Moreover, the decrease of OE development time against LCU was also significantly more than the development time decrease against MCU (20.7 hours). A similar, but non-significant, pattern was seen for decrease in development time in competition vs. CCU and vs. MCU.

Effect	df	MS	F	Р
Selection	3	745.391	1.714	0.233
Head Start Duration	2	1527.034	36.937	<0.001***
Selection × Head Start	6	113.931	2.990	0.033*

Table 2: Mixed-model ANOVA for the effect of focal populations on pre-adult development time of OE with head start. Three factors are used – selection (fixed, four levels), head start duration (fixed, three levels), block (random, four levels). Statistically significant effects are marked. Analysis was performed on population means, therefore main effect of block and its interactions were not tested for significance.



Figure 5: effect of focal populations on pre-adult development time of OE (common competitor) with head start. This is shown for the three levels of the age disadvantage and the four levels of focal populations, averaged over all four blocks. The error bars show 95% confidence intervals around the population means, calculated from post-hoc Tukey's HSD, and thus can be used for visual hypothesis testing. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

Pre-adult survivorship

Providing an age disadvantage did not impose any significant changes on the mean pre-adult survivorship of any focal population (Data not shown). Additionally, the common competitor did not experience any statistically detectable change in its pre-adult survivorship due to any of the head start durations provided (Data not shown).

Discussion

Overall patterns

We started the study with four predictions, as mentioned in the Introduction. These predictions have fared thus –

1. All crowding adapted populations would be less affected by a competitive disadvantage than the low-density controls (MB).

This was observed. MB development time increased significantly more with age disadvantage than MCU, CCU or LCU (Figure 4).

2. The common competitor would also gain the most competitive performance when given a head start against MB.

From Figure 5, this was rejected. MB induced the least decrease in OE development time when the latter received head starts (i.e., MB was most detrimental to OE competition) compared to MCU, CCU or LCU.

3. The populations which evolved the largest eggs and the fastest hatching time (LCU) would be least affected by the age disadvantage.

This was rejected. No difference in the development time change was observed between any crowding-adapted population (Figure 4).

4. The common competitor would gain the least competitive performance when given a head start against LCU.

This was rejected. The common competitor gained the **most** performance (decreased development time) against LCU, followed closely by CCU (Figure 5).

All populations selected for adaptation to larval crowding were affected to similar degrees by their competitive disadvantage (Figure 4). Moreover, the crowding-adapted population which evolved the smallest increase in head start mechanisms (MCU) reduced the competitive performance of the common competitor to the greatest extent (Figure 5).

We know from previous experiments that the larval competitive ability of OE, the common marked competitor, is lower than that of MCU, LCU and CCU. It is similar to that of MB, when tested across a range of egg and food combinations (Sarangi *et al.*, 2016; Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2). The current study supports this and shows that MB larvae were most badly affected by the head start to OE (Prediction 1, Figure 4).

Predictions 2, 3 and 4, however, do not hold up to empirical tests. This unexpected pattern of results might have an underlying explanation in the effectiveness and tolerance of the focal populations.

Effectiveness and tolerance

We define *effectiveness* as the amount of growth rate inhibition a larva imposes upon its competitors. Conversely, a larva can also show some amount of *tolerance* to this growth inhibition imposed by other competitors on itself (usage inspired by Joshi and Thompson, 1995). These terms have been alternatively defined and formulated as aggressiveness and sensitivity (Breese and Hill, 1973), pressure and response (Mather and Caligari, 1983) or

aggression and response (Eggleston, 1985; Hemmat and Eggleston, 1988, 1990), although in those formulations response/sensitivity is inversely related with tolerance.

We performed a subsequent experiment to measure effectiveness and tolerance of the focal populations at the same density as the current study i.e., 400 eggs in 2 mL food (Chapter 2). The measurements were derived from the formulae for 'intrinsic competitive ability' used by Joshi and Thompson (1995). For pre-adult development time, the patterns for both effectiveness and tolerance of each set of focal populations were as follows:

MCU > CCU > LCU > MB

The MCU populations showed the highest effectiveness and tolerance against OE. The MB populations showed almost no change in effectiveness or tolerance compared to OE (i.e., they had the same competitive effect on OE larvae as the OE themselves).

We can consider the increase in development time due to age disadvantage to the focal populations as a decline in tolerance. Similarly, decreasing OE development time as the duration of head start to OE increases can be considered as a decline in the effectiveness of the respective focal population that competes against OE.

For seeing change in tolerance, Figure 6 shows the least square regression of focal population development time on age disadvantage duration. Exact values of intercepts and slopes are given in Table 3. The positive slope of development time vs. age disadvantage represents decline in tolerance. For all populations, there is a general decline in tolerance with increasing age disadvantage (Figure 6). MB has the most severe decrease in tolerance as OE is given a head start against it. This also follows from prediction 1 in the introduction (i.e., MB is expected to suffer the most from an age disadvantage). As MB has the lowest tolerance even without any head start to OE (Chapter 2), and also suffers the greatest decline in tolerance with age disadvantage, we can assume that the steepness of the decline in tolerance with age

disadvantage is proportional to the tolerance measured without any age disadvantage. With this assumption, based on the measurements made on tolerance without any age disadvantage (Chapter 2), MB should suffer the greatest decline, followed by LCU, followed by CCU, and finally by MCU, with the latter showing the lowest decline with head start to OE. However, all three crowding-adapted population sets show similar slopes (Figure 6). Thus, they suffer similar levels of decline in tolerance against OE that are given head starts against them. Based on measured tolerance, MCU should show a lower decline than CCU, with LCU showing the greatest decline among the three. The lack of a difference likely means that the greater egg size and faster hatching time of LCU and CCU help them offset a greater decline in tolerance. This provides some validation for prediction 3. However, the current argument is not consonant with the inference drawn from results in figure 4. Those seem to suggest that greater head start mechanisms (egg size and hatching time) of LCU and CCU do not help offset competitive age disadvantages any better than MCU. From the perspective of tolerance decline, the lack of a difference between the crowding-adapted populations highlights a possibly nuanced rather than straightforward role larger eggs or faster hatching may be playing in the process of competition.

Figure 7 shows the least squares regression of OE development time on head start duration. Exact values of intercepts and slopes are given in Table 3. We have plotted this for competition of OE vs. each focal population. The decrease in slope of development time vs. head start shows the decline in effectiveness of the focal populations. For the crowding-adapted populations, increasing head start durations lead to different declines in effectiveness (Figure 7). The rates of decline largely follow the patterns seen for effectiveness measurements without any head start to OE (Chapter 2). MCU, which has the greatest effectiveness, shows the lowest decline on increasing head start duration to OE. This is followed by CCU and LCU, with the latter having a marginally lower slope, i.e., greater decline in effectiveness. Even though CCU and LCU suffer more than MCU in effectiveness decline, we cannot preclude the possibility that

greater egg size and faster hatching time in these populations may be preventing an otherwise even steeper decline against increasing age disadvantage. Thus, prediction 4 is left unresolved.

The major exceptions to the patterns seen for effectiveness measurements are the MB. These low-density controls have the lowest measured effectiveness in competition with OE without any head start (Chapter 2) and yet display the least decline in effectiveness with head starts given to OE (Figure 7). This is also in contrast to the observed patterns of tolerance decline (Figure 6). We have provided a possible explanation for this in the extrapolations section below.



Figure 6: Pre-adult development time of focal populations vs. age disadvantage durations to the focal populations (by providing head start to OE). The positive slope of the least squares regression line denotes a decline in tolerance of focal populations. Exact values of slopes and intercept are given in Table 3. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.



Figure 7: Pre-adult development time of OE against each focal population vs. head start duration to OE. The negative slope of OE development time with increasing head start duration denotes a decline in the effectiveness of focal populations. Exact values of slopes and intercepts are given in Table 3. Rearing details: MB = 70 eggs, 6 mL food; MCU = 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food; CCU = 1200 eggs, 3 mL food; LCU = 1200 eggs, 6 mL food.

	Fig. 6: Toleran	ce Decline	Fig. 7: Effectiveness Decline		
	Intercepts	Slopes	Intercepts	Slopes	
MB	265.543	2.759	271.195	-1.601	
MCU	233.620	0.931	307.770	-3.113	
CCU	234.389	0.978	311.261	-5.081	
LCU	239.266	0.967	314.348	-5.581	

Table 3: Intercepts and slopes for the least squares regression lines in figures 6 and 7.

Extrapolations

Based on the trends of decline in effectiveness (Figure 7), we can calculate the head start duration to OE at which each crowding-adapted population should have zero effectiveness, on average. At this extrapolated head start duration, mean OE pre-adult development time in competition against 200 MCU, CCU, or LCU larvae, respectively, would approximate competition against 200 OE larvae. For this purpose, we assume that there remains a similar slope of decline in effectiveness of each crowding-adapted population (Table 3, Figure 7), as head start to OE increases beyond the bounds of the current study. From measurements of the subsequent experiment, we have calculated the effectiveness of MB as nearly zero against OE (Chapter 2). In the current study, we can simplify and assume the MB condition with no age disadvantage as the reference point for zero effectiveness. This zero point yields a development time of 271.2 hours for OE (Figure 7). With this, we extrapolate, from figure 7, the following head start durations to OE required to get zero effectiveness of the respective focal population:

vs. MB: 0 hours

vs. MCU: 11.75 hours

vs. CCU: 7.89 hours

vs. LCU: 7.73 hours

Both CCU and LCU have durations to reach zero effectiveness that nearly fall within the bounds of the current experiment. Their effectiveness is almost indistinguishable from that of OE (i.e., zero) at almost 8 hours of head start. MCU populations, owing to their high effectiveness and low slope of decline, are extrapolated to suffer nearly 12 hours of age disadvantage in order to get the same effectiveness as OE. We also note that at this zero effectiveness point, the mean pre-adult development time of each crowding-adapted population set would still be faster than OE by about 25-30 hours.

Further head starts to OE from this extrapolated duration may yield further loss in effectiveness, going below zero. This is observed in the MB populations, as their effectiveness declines to negative values with increasing age disadvantage (Figure 7). However, the MB populations already possess very nearly zero effectiveness in the absence of any imposed handicap. Given further age disadvantage, it is likely that the change in development time with head start duration may dampen somewhat as effectiveness becomes negative. At values below zero, MB would probably offer very mild competitive effects to OE. With greater head starts, there may not be much scope for effectiveness to reduce further. This may explain the somewhat strange results seen for Prediction 2 (Figure 5) and the minor decline of MB in effectiveness (Figure 7). The empirical verification of this argument will require future experiments with a larger range of head start durations to OE to test the limits of decline possible for effectiveness. Additionally, providing head starts to MB against OE should give the former positive effectiveness. This would allow the observation of changes in decline of effectiveness from a positive to negative range in MB populations.

Other outcomes of competition

At the density tested, we saw no differences in mean pre-adult survivorship. Conducting this experiment at a higher level of crowding may cause differences in survivorship. However, this may obscure trends in pre-adult development time due to very few surviving adults in some cases (Chapter 2). As seen in the current study, development time is sensitive to minor changes in the dynamics of competition.

Another sensitive output of competition is adult dry weight at eclosion (Sang, 1949a; Bakker, 1961, 1969; Ohba 1961 as cited by González-Candelas *et al.*; 1990; González-Candelas *et al.*, 1990; Chapter 2). Bakker (1961, 1969) saw changes in dry weight upon implementing multiple durations of head starts on two competing *D. melanogaster* populations. Nicholson (1948, as

cited in Nicholson, 1955) found that upon crowding the larvae of blow flies *Lucilia cuprina*, the variation in size of eclosing adults was accentuated due to batches of larvae getting various durations of head starts. Bryant (1971) also saw changes in dry weight of emerging house flies *Musca domestica* on conferring different durations of head starts to larvae of two strains. Due to logistical limitations, our study did not involve the measurement of adult dry weight. It does, however, have potential to show differences in future studies. We know that LCU-like crowded cultures show a large amount of variation in dry weight of eclosing flies (Sarangi, 2018). Adults eclosing earlier are larger. Later eclosing flies tend to be smaller, although the last eclosions are of medium-sized flies (Sarangi, 2018). Several other studies have also mentioned or shown patterns for earlier eclosing flies being larger than the later ones (Sang, 1949a; Bakker, 1969; Hughes, 1980; Chapter 2). Since there are large development time changes in our study, we might see differences in dry weight variation of both focal populations and OE at different head start durations.

Mechanistic explorations

The mechanism underlying the patterns seen in our experiment may be related to the dynamics of metabolic waste build-up in a crowded *Drosophila* culture . Metabolic waste products such as urea, ammonia and uric acid are known to cause mortality or increase development time in *Drosophila* larvae (Botella *et al.*, 1985). Food 'conditioned' by larvae of different strains can also cause differential mortality in larvae introduced later in the culture of *D. melanogaster* (Weisbrot, 1966; Dawood and Strickberger, 1969; but see Budnik and Brncic, 1975 for an exception) and related species (Budnik and Brncic, 1974, 1975). Moreover, the CU populations, which are ancestrally related to the populations used in our study, evolved different traits along the eclosion time axis (Borash *et al.*, 1998). From the CU-like crowded culture, offspring of earlier eclosing flies (first 72 h of eclosion) showed greater feeding rate. Those of later eclosing flies (post 500 h of eclosion, 48-72 h window) showed greater urea and

ammonia tolerance (Borash *et al.*, 1998). The same study also showed that waste (ammonia) accumulation occurred steadily over 20 days from egg collection.

Thus, waste dynamics likely play a larger role in the later stages of a crowded larval competition culture. The more time a larva spends in a culture, the greater the waste it likely is exposed to, and the longer it may take to develop. This means that larvae given age disadvantages may take a longer time to develop, as seen in our results (Figures 3, 4). Larvae given a head start likely face less waste and therefore may be able to develop faster (Figure 5). The delayed role of waste may also explain why LCU and CCU populations, with greater head start mechanisms, don't perform better than MCU. Even if the LCU or CCU larvae gain advantages early on compared to MCU in competition, the larvae of the latter could close the development time gap with potentially greater larval growth rates. Characterization of larval waste dynamics in future competition experiments with varying head starts could be used to test these predictions.

Additionally, as can be seen in figures 4 and 5, there exists large variation among blocks with respect to development time, under each selection and head start duration. This could occur due to a multitude of reasons, perhaps in combination:

i. Our observation is that whenever there are large delays to mean development time in crowded *Drosophila* cultures, there is typically also an increase in variance in development time within the crowded cultures (Chapter 6, compare figure 3Cii and figure s6a). Such large variances, coupled with the relatively small sample sizes of 4-5 vials that can be achieved within logistical possibilities, means that the standard error for each combination of block × selection × head start duration is likely to be high as well.

- ii. There may be among-block variation in the response to crowding with respect to development time.
- iii. There may also exist development time differences among blocks regardless of density.

On the importance of head starts in competition

We can potentially use results from the current study to ask another kind of question: how important are head starts in determining the outcome of competition?

The literature on plant competition is rife with studies attempting to address this question (reviewed in Ross and Harper, 1972; Wilson, 1988). Initial advantages to a plant in competition could lead to cumulative benefits, either through larger seed size (Black, 1958) or faster seedling emergence time (Ross and Harper, 1972). Ultimately, a small head start to a plant against somewhat equal competitors could provide an overwhelming supremacy to it. Newman (1973) termed this a "snowball" effect. In contrast, some studies showed that such cumulative snowballing may be limited to competition for light – for nutrient based, root competition, there was little evidence that initial advantages were supremely important (Newman, 1973; Newbery and Newman, 1978; Wilson, 1988).

Due to large differences in the biology of the model systems, such arguments from plant competition cannot directly be applied to the *Drosophila* larval competition context. However, the concept of a cumulative "snowball" effect in competition should be general enough to be explored in most model systems. Indeed, Bakker (1961) has reviewed evidence for and commented on the paramount importance of head starts in larval competition in nature.

Potentially cumulative advantages have been discussed in several studies which have looked at the ecological implications of head starts in larval competition. Populations have been seen to switch larval competitive superiority after a few hours of head start in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Bakker, 1961, 1969), and house flies *Musca domestica* (Bryant, 1971). Several experimenters have studied competition by providing larval batches different durations of head start in *Drosophila* (Sang, 1949b; Seaton and Antonovics, 1967; Gilpin, 1974). Mueller and Bitner (2015) suggested that *Drosophila sechellia* larvae on the *Morinda* fruit may obtain a survival advantage from a large head start against otherwise competitively superior larvae from other *Drosophila* species. This could occur due to the former's significantly faster hatching time and *Morinda* toxin tolerance compared to other *Drosophila* species. Initial advantages of older larvae have been shown to be important in Tephritid fruit flies *Rhagoletis pomonella* (Averill and Prokopy, 1987), as well as different species of Ichneumonid parasitoid wasps (Fisher, 1961; Jørgensen, 2009). Based on several empirical observations, the importance of head starts through early larval hatching has been suggested for three species of Scolytid bark beetles (Beaver, 1974). Except for Bakker's (1969) study, none of the above-mentioned studies considered the effects of head starts on populations that had evolved to become competitively superior through laboratory selection.

In our results, there does seem to be some cumulative effect along the development time axis. This is evidenced by the large decrease in development time that OE experiences after gaining only a few hours of head start (Figure 5). This is additionally supported by the relatively large increases in development time of focal populations given a small age disadvantage (Figures 3, 4). However, development time of crowding-adapted populations was not affected as badly as the MB (Figure 4). Additionally, survivorship did not change significantly across any head start duration. In the case of a "snowball" effect, we would also expect survivorship to be affected by an age disadvantage.

An additional complication arises in such arguments when effectiveness and tolerance are taken into account. We consider the simplest case of OE getting a head start against an almost equal competitor, MB. The latter's tolerance declines steeply with increasing head start to OE (Figure 7). This indicates the existence of a cumulative snowballing effect against MB. However, a similar pattern is not seen in the case of effectiveness. As seen in figure 6, OE gets the least advantage against MB, likely due to a dampened relationship between rate of decline for negative effectiveness and head start duration. This means that OE does not get nearly as much cumulative benefit against an equal competitor as it can get against potentially superior competitors such as LCU (Figure 6). Clearly, in *D. melanogaster* larval competition, cumulative effects from initial advantages are not obvious – they are dampened or exacerbated by the overall competitive ability, as well as relative effectiveness and head start durations may help uncover these nuances in the process of larval competition.

Conclusions

We have shown that increased larval competitive ability evolved through three different chronic larval crowding regimes can help larvae of the respective populations fare better against age disadvantages in competition. However, among superior competitors, those that have evolved the greatest head start mechanisms may not show better performance against age disadvantage. Studying the effectiveness and tolerance of the competitors can highlight the subtle effects head start mechanisms may nevertheless have on the outcomes of competition. Even the effectiveness relationship with head start duration may change depending on the value of effectiveness of the population. We have discussed the possibility of waste dynamics being crucial to the underlying mechanisms of the patterns seen in the current study. Such competition experiments with artificially provided head starts can also be used to explore cumulative gains from initial advantages. From the current study, we have seen that a "snowball" effect may or may not occur depending on the considerations of effectiveness and tolerance. We end with the observation, in agreement with J.H. Sang (1949b), that such competition experiments with head starts can give more nuanced understanding over and above simple larval crowding experiments.

References

Averill, A.L. and Prokopy, R.J. 1987. Intraspecific competition in the Tephritid fruit fly *Rhagoletis Pomonella*. *Ecology*, **68**: 878–886.

Bakker, K. 1961. An analysis of factors which determine success in competition for food among larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Archives Néerlandaises de Zoologie*, **14**: 200–281.

Bakker, K. 1969. Selection for rate of growth and its influence on competitive ability of larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Netherlands Journal of Zoology*, **19**: 541–595.

Beaver, R.A. 1974. Intraspecific competition among bark beetle larvae (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, **43**: 455-467.

Bitner, K., Rutledge, G.A., Kezos, J.N. and Mueller, L.D. 2021. The effects of adaptation to urea on feeding rates and growth in *Drosophila* larvae. *Ecology and Evolution*, **11**: 9516–9529.

Black, J. 1958. Competition between plants of different initial seed sizes in swards of subterranean clover (*Trifolium subterraneum* L.) with particular reference to leaf area and the light microclimate. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, **9**: 299–318.

Borash, D.J., Gibbs, A.G., Joshi, A. and Mueller, L.D. 1998. A genetic polymorphism maintained by natural selection in a temporally varying environment. *The American Naturalist*, **151**: 148–156.

Botella, L.M., Moya, A., González, M.C. and Ménsua, J.L. 1985. Larval stop, delayed development and survival in overcrowded cultures of *Drosophila melanogaster*: Effect of urea and uric acid. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, **31**: 179–185.

Breese, E.L. and Hill, J. 1973. Regression analysis of interactions between competing species. *Heredity*, **31**: 181–200.

Bryant, E.H. 1971. The effect of temporal advantage on competition between two strains of the housefly. *Population Ecology*, **13**: 55–66.

Budnik, M. and Brncic, D. 1975. Effects of larval biotic residues on viability in four species of *Drosophila*. *Evolution*, **29**: 777-780.

Budnik, M. and Brncic, D. 1974. Preadult competition between *Drosophila pavani* and *Drosophila melanogaster*, *Drosophila simulans*, and *Drosophila willistoni*. *Ecology*, **55**: 657–661.

Burnet, B., Sewell, D. and Bos, M. 1977. Genetic analysis of larval feeding behaviour in *Drosophila melanogaster* : II. Growth relations and competition between selected lines. *Genetics Research*, **30**: 149–161.

Dawood, M.M. and Strickberger, M.W. 1969. The effect of larval interaction on viability in *Drosophila melanogaster*. 3. Effects of biotic residues. *Genetics*, **63**: 213–220.

Eggleston, P. 1985. Variation for aggression and response in the competitive interactions of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Heredity*, **54**: 43–51.

Fellowes, M.D.E., Kraaijeveld, A.R. and Godfray, H.C.J. 1999. Association between feeding rate and parasitoid resistance in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Evolution*, **53**: 1302–1305.

Fellowes, M.D.E., Kraaijeveld, A.R. and Godfray, H.C.J. 1998. Trade–off associated with selection for increased ability to resist parasitoid attack in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, **265**: 1553–1558.

Fisher, R.C. 1961. A study in insect multiparasitism. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **38**: 605–629.

Gilpin, M.E. 1974. Intraspecific competition between *Drosophila* larvae in serial transfer systems. *Ecology*, **55**: 1154–1159.

González-Candelas, F., Ménsua, J.L. and Moya, A. 1990. Larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*: effects on development time. *Genetica*, **82**: 33–44.

Guo, P.Z., Mueller, L.D. and Ayala, F.J. 1991. Evolution of behavior by density-dependent natural selection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, **88**: 10905–10906.

Hemmat, M. and Eggleston, P. 1988. Competitive interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*: recurrent selection for aggression and response. *Heredity*, **60**: 129–137.

Hemmat, M. and Eggleston, P. 1990. The biometrical genetics of competitive parameters in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Heredity*, **64**: 223–231.

Hughes, G. 1980. Larval competition in serially transferred populations of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Oecologia*, **45**: 396–403.

Jørgensen, O.F. 2009. Competition among larvae of *Pimplopterus dubius* Hgn. (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae), a parasitoid of *Epinotia tedella* Cl. (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae). *Zeitschrift für Angewandte Entomologie*, **79**: 301–309.

Joshi, A. and Mueller, L.D. 1996. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: tradeoffs between larval food acquisition and utilization. *Evolutionary Ecology*, **10**: 463–474.

Joshi, A. and Mueller, L.D. 1988. Evolution of higher feeding rate in *Drosophila* due to density-dependent natural selection. *Evolution*, **42**: 1090-1093.

Joshi, A., Prasad, N. and Shakarad, M. 2001. *K*-selection, α -selection, effectiveness, and tolerance in competition: density-dependent selection revisited. *Journal of Genetics*, **80**: 63–75.

Joshi, A. and Thompson, J.N. 1995. Alternative routes to the evolution of competitive ability in two competing species of *Drosophila*. *Evolution*, **49**: 616–625.

MacArthur, R.H. 1962. Some generalized theorems of natural selection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, **48**: 1893-1897.

MacArthur, R.H. and Wilson, E.O. 1967. *The theory of island biogeography*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, USA.

Mather, K. and Caligari, P.D.S. 1983. Pressure and response in competitive interactions. *Heredity*, **51**: 435–454.

Mueller, L., Graves, J. and Rose, M. 1993. Interactions between density-dependent and agespecific selection in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Functional Ecology*, **7**, 469–479. Mueller, L.D. 1990. Density-dependent natural selection does not increase efficiency. *Evolutionary Ecology*, **4**: 290–297.

Mueller, L.D. 1988a. Density-dependent population growth and natural selection in foodlimited environments: the *Drosophila* model. *The American Naturalist*, **132**: 786–809.

Mueller, L.D. 1991. Ecological determinants of life-history evolution. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, **332**: 25–30.

Mueller, L.D. 1988b. Evolution of competitive ability in *Drosophila* by density-dependent natural selection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, **85**: 4383–4386.

Mueller, L.D. 2009. Fitness, demography, and population dynamics in laboratory experiments. In: *Experimental evolution: concepts, methods and applications of selection experiments* (eds. T. Jr Garland and M. R. Rose), pp. 197–216. University of California Press, Berkeley, USA.

Mueller, L.D. 1997. Theoretical and empirical examination of density-dependent selection. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, **28**: 269–288.

Mueller, L.D. and Ayala, F.J. 1981. Trade-off between *r*-selection and *K*-selection in *Drosophila* populations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, **78**: 1303–1305.

Mueller, L.D. and Barter, T.T. 2015. A model of the evolution of larval feeding rate in *Drosophila* driven by conflicting energy demands. *Genetica*, **143**: 93–100.

Mueller, L.D. and Bitner, K. 2015. The evolution of ovoviviparity in a temporally varying environment. *The American Naturalist*, **186**: 708–715.

Mueller, L.D. and Cabral, L.G. 2012. Does phenotypic plasticity for adult size versus food level in *Drosophila melanogaster* evolve in response to adaptation to different rearing densities? *Evolution*, **66**: 263–271.

Mueller, L.D., Guo, P. and Ayala, F. 1991. Density-dependent natural selection and trade-offs in life history traits. *Science*, **253**: 433–435.

Mueller, L.D., Rauser, C.L. and Rose, M.R. 2005. Population dynamics, life history, and demography: lessons from *Drosophila*. *Advances in Ecological Research*, **37**: 77–99.

Nagarajan, A., Natarajan, S.B., Jayaram, M., Thammanna, A., Chari, S., Bose, J., *et al.* 2016. Adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila ananassae* and *Drosophila nasuta nasuta*: increased larval competitive ability without increased larval feeding rate. *Journal of Genetics*, **95**: 411–425.

Newbery, D.McC. and Newman, E.I. 1978. Competition between grassland plants of different initial sizes. *Oecologia*, **33**: 361–380.

Newman, E.I. 1973. Competition and diversity in herbaceous vegetation. *Nature*, **244**: 310–310.

Nicholson, A.J. 1955. An outline of the dynamics of animal populations. *Australian Journal of Zoology*, **2**: 9–65.

Prasad, N. and Joshi, A. 2003. What have two decades of laboratory life-history evolution studies on *Drosophila melanogaster* taught us? *Journal of Genetics*, **82**: 45–76.

Prasad, N.G., Shakarad, M., Anitha, D., Rajamani, M. and Joshi, A. 2001. Correlated responses to selection for faster development and early reproduction in *Drosophila*: the evolution of larval traits. *Evolution*, **55**: 1363–1372.

R Core Team. 2022. *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/.

Rajamani, M., Raghavendra, N., Prasad, N.G., Archana, N., Joshi, A. and Shakarad, M. 2006. Reduced larval feeding rate is a strong evolutionary correlate of rapid development in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Journal of Genetics*, **85**: 209–212.

Ross, M.A. and Harper, J.L. 1972. Occupation of biological space during seedling establishment. *The Journal of Ecology*, **60**: 77–88.

Sang, J.H. 1949a. The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture. III. Larval and pupal survival. *Physiological Zoology*, **22**: 183–202.

Sang, J.H. 1949b. The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture.IV. The significance of successive batches of larvae. *Physiological Zoology*, **22**: 202–210.

Santos, M., Borash, D.J., Joshi, A., Bounlutay, N. and Mueller, L.D. 1997. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: evolution of growth rate and body size. *Evolution*, **51**: 420–432.

Sarangi, M. 2018. *Ecological details mediate different paths to the evolution of larval competitive ability in Drosophila*. Ph.D. thesis, Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bengaluru, India. http://lib.jncasr.ac.in:8080/jspui/handle/10572/2722

Sarangi, M., Nagarajan, A., Dey, S., Bose, J. and Joshi, A. 2016. Evolution of increased larval competitive ability in *Drosophila melanogaster* without increased larval feeding rate. *Journal of Genetics*, **95**: 491–503.

Seaton, A.P.C. and Antonovics, J. 1967. Population inter-relationships I. Evolution in mixtures of *Drosophila* mutants. *Heredity*, **22**: 19–33.

Shakarad, M., Prasad, N.G., Gokhale, K., Gadagkar, V., Rajamani, M. and Joshi, A. 2005. Faster development does not lead to correlated evolution of greater pre-adult competitive ability in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Biology Letters*, **1**: 91–94.

Shiotsugu, J., Leroi, A.M., Yashiro, H., Rose, M.R. and Mueller, L.D. 1997. The symmetry of correlated selection responses in adaptive evolution: an experimental study using *Drosophila*. *Evolution*, **51**: 163–172.

Sokolowski, M.B., Pereira, H.S. and Hughes, K. 1997. Evolution of foraging behavior in *Drosophila* by density-dependent selection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, **94**: 7373–7377.

Statsoft, I. 1995. Statistica for Windows. Tulsa, OK, USA.

Weisbrot, D.R. 1966. Genotypic interactions among competing strains and species of *Drosophila. Genetics*, **53**: 427–435.

Wickham, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis, 2nd ed. 2016. Springer-Verlag New York (https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4).

Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., McGowan, L., François, R., *et al.* 2019. Welcome to the tidyverse. *Journal of Open Source Software*, **4**: 1686.

Wilson, J.B. 1988. The effect of initial advantage on the course of plant competition. *Oikos*, 51: 19–24.

Chapter V

More than just density:

the role of egg number, food volume and container

dimensions in mediating larval competition in

Drosophila melanogaster

<u>NOTE</u>

This chapter is a reproduction of a preprint on bioRxiv with the following citation:

<u>Venkitachalam, S.</u>, V.S. Sajith, and Joshi, A. 2023. More than just density: the role of egg number, food volume and container dimensions in mediating larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. bioRxiv.

https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.26.550621

Introduction

Competition can potentially play a large role in shaping the ecology of populations and communities (Elton and Miller 1954; Nicholson 1955), and be a major force driving their evolutionary trajectories (Miller 1967; Wilson 2014). The importance of competition as an impetus for natural selection has been highlighted at least since the time of Darwin (Darwin 1859). Considerable research, both theoretical and experimental, has been done to define and understand competition, as well as its role in ecology and evolution (Sang 1949; Birch 1957; de Wit 1960; Bakker 1961; Miller 1967).

Over the last century, flies of the genus *Drosophila* have become some of the most popular laboratory model systems to experimentally study both intra- and inter-specific competition (Pearl and Parker 1922; Moore 1952; Miller 1964; Ayala 1969; Mueller 1985, 1988; Joshi and Thompson 1995). The holometabolous life cycle of *Drosophila* flies has allowed researchers to partition intra-specific competition for growth-related resources in the larval stage, from the competition for mates in the adult stage (Prasad and Joshi 2003). While studies of adult competition through induced adult crowding have also been conducted (Robertson and Sang 1944; Ohnishi 1976b; Joshi et al. 1998), the present study is focused on the larval phase of competition.

Larval competition in *Drosophila* has had a very rich history of study, and has contributed greatly to the understanding of density-dependent effects, density-dependent selection and the consequent population dynamics. The earliest studies showed that larval competition could be inferred from crowding eggs/larvae at high densities and observing the effects on fitness related traits such as pre-adult survivorship, pre-adult development time and size of eclosing adults (Sang 1949; Bakker 1961; Ohnishi 1976*a*). Several studies additionally investigated the differences in larval competitive ability of various strains of *D. melanogaster* (Bakker 1961,

1969; Gale 1964; Kearsey 1965; Mather and Caligari 1981; de Miranda et al. 1991). Models were also created in an attempt to capture the mechanisms of larval competition (Bakker 1961; De Jong 1976; Nunney 1983; Jansen and Sevenster 1997). Subsequently, selection experiments were carried out to adapt populations to chronic larval crowding, resulting in the evolution of increased larval competitive ability (Mueller 1988; Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016; Chapter 2).

Researchers have also used the effects of larval crowding as proxies for increased stress at the juvenile phase. They have consequently studied the effects of crowding-adaptation on the correlated evolution of thermal stress resistance (Kapila et al. 2021*a*), as well as the immune system (Kapila et al. 2021*b*). Effects of crowding have also been used to explore yeast availability (Klepsatel et al. 2018), thermal stress (Sørensen and Loescheke 2001; Henry et al. 2018), and larval crowding has enabled the manipulation of adult body size for sexual selection experiments (Mital et al. 2021). A recent study on transcriptomic consequences of larval crowding was also carried out (Morimoto et al. 2023).

Most studies exploring larval competition or otherwise implementing larval crowding have usually employed a single, or a gradient of, 'high density' larval cultures as the experimental regime(s), and compared it to a control 'low density' regime. While the low-density cultures were relatively consistent – they involved rearing larvae in high food volumes (5-8 mL, depending on the study) with low starting egg numbers (30-80 eggs, depending on the study), the high-density cultures employed in experiments varied a great deal (reviewed in Henry et al. 2018; Morimoto and Pietras 2020). These cultures varied widely in the number of eggs, the food volumes and the container dimensions used – with the focus being on studying the 'crowded' phenotype at an arbitrary high larval density, compared to the 'uncrowded' phenotype.

A series of long-term selection experiments over the last four decades, studying densitydependent selection using Drosophila populations adapted to larval crowding, ultimately challenged the notion that the consequences of crowding could be predicted based on larval density alone (reviewed in Chapter 1, Chapter 3). Initial studies from the 1980-1990s saw a canonical view emerge for adaptation to larval crowding (Mueller 1997; Joshi et al. 2001; Prasad and Joshi 2003; Mueller et al. 2005b; Mueller 2009; Mueller and Barter 2015). This view held that, based on empirical observation, a number of traits would consistently evolve in Drosophila populations adapted to larval crowding - such as increased larval competitive ability (Mueller 1988), primarily via increased larval feeding rate (Joshi and Mueller 1988, 1996) or increased metabolic waste tolerance (Shiotsugu et al. 1997; Borash et al. 1998), with a trade off in the form of a reduction in food to biomass conversion efficiency (Mueller 1990; Joshi and Mueller 1996), as compared to low-density control populations. Subsequent studies also carried out such larval crowding adaptation experiments - albeit at a different combination of eggs and food than used earlier (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016). While the older studies crowded larvae in starting cultures of roughly 1500 eggs in 6 mL food in 6 dram vials, the more recent studies employed cultures with approx. 600 eggs in 1.5 mL food, in wider 8 dram vials. These more recent studies resulted in the evolution of traits very different from what the canonical view predicted. While greater larval competitive ability did evolve, there was no change in feeding rate or waste tolerance. Instead, the crowding-adapted populations evolved shorter development time and greater efficiency of biomass accumulation with respect to time (Nagarajan et al. 2016; Sarangi et al. 2016).

Thus, after three decades of selection studies using larval crowding, it was evident that, while most crowding-adaptation experiments would lead to the evolution of increased larval competitive ability compared to the low-density adapted populations, the specific traits that evolved in different populations could vary widely depending on the details of how exactly the larval crowding was imposed (Sarangi et al. 2016; Sarangi 2018).

These effects of the details of how crowding was imposed were further explored in recent years. One study examined if crowded cultures with the same overall density achieved through different egg numbers and food volumes would differ in their density-specific fitness functions (Sarangi 2018). This was done by crowding larvae of low-density reared populations in two cultures at the same overall density: in either 600 eggs in 1.5 mL food or 1200 eggs in 3 mL of food, in the same kind of vial. Quite surprisingly, the two types of cultures with the same density led to very different patterns of pre-adult survivorship and development time (Sarangi 2018), indicating that density-specific fitness functions of two cultures with the same density achieved via different combinations of egg numbers and food volume could be quite different. A subsequent evolutionary experiment also yielded concordant results. Two sets of populations evolved at the exact same density through different egg and food combinations (600 eggs in 1.5 mL food vs. 1200 eggs in 3 mL food) led to the evolution of differences in terms of feeding rate, pre-adult development time (Sarangi 2018), egg size and egg hatching time (Chapter 3). These populations also showed differences in the effectiveness and tolerance components of larval competitive ability across a gradient of high-density cultures (Chapter 2).

The significance of these findings can be understood by applying them to most of the earlier studies carried out on the effects of larval competition and comparisons of competitive ability. How could the results across several studies applying a range of different high-density conditions be comparable, when the same density in closely related populations resulted in large differences in density-specific fitness-functions? Clearly, the commonly used parameter of total density of eggs per unit volume of food itself is not enough to predict the ecology or evolution of traits in larval crowding. There are likely other factors that also influence the

ecological and evolutionary outcomes of larval competition beyond the total density of a crowded culture.

The current study aims to explore the aspects of larval crowding beyond the total eggs/food density that may be important in determining the density-specific fitness functions of crowded cultures. For this purpose, we studied two fitness related traits that have been shown to change under the influence of larval crowding – pre-adult survivorship and pre-adult development time (Sang 1949; Bakker 1961; Ohnishi 1976a) – in order to ask a fundamental question: how do these fitness-related traits change with density, when the density change is accomplished by varying different parameters like egg number, food column height and food column diameter? Some clues to a better understanding of the different facets of larval density are provided by the extensive studies by J. H. Sang in the 1940s. His initial studies showed that keeping all else equal, food volume and egg number could both be varied to change the degrees of larval crowding. While this is now well understood, and has remained the basis of work on larval crowding ever since, Sang also studied two different implementations of changing food volume - firstly, keeping the same cylindrical container and changing the height of the food column (which changes the food volume) and secondly, changing the width (i.e. cross-section surface area) of the cylindrical container itself, while keeping the same food column height. He found that these two ways of implementing crowding led to different outcomes in terms of survivorship, development time and weight of adult flies (Sang 1949). He further calculated that the same food volume cast in different dimensions could have different effects of surface area and food column height (Sang 1949). It should additionally be noted that most subsequent studies altered food volume primarily via changing food column height in an unchanging container type. Unfortunately, these secondary results from Sang's studies appear to have been ignored due to the importance of the primary result from the research article, which was one of the first demonstrations of the general effects of larval crowding in *D. melanogaster* (Sang 1949).

In the current study, we performed a rigorous follow-up of Sang's finding on the effects of different ways of implementing crowding. We conducted a fully factorial study of the three factors that can influence larval crowding -1) egg number, 2) food volume via changing food column height, and 3) food volume via changing the surface area of food exposed to air.

A fully factorial design allowed us to set up several comparisons which within themselves had the same combination of egg number and food volume, but were cast in different cylindrical container dimensions. We asked if there are any differences to be found between any of these cultures. We further explored why there might be reason to find any differences between cultures that essentially appear to be the same implementation of crowding in terms of egg number and food volume, ignoring the container.

Methods

Populations used

We used four replicate large (1500+ adults), discrete generation, laboratory *D. melanogaster* populations (designated MB₁₋₄) whose ancestry and maintenance have previously been described in detail (Sarangi et al. 2016). These populations have also served as ancestral controls to three sets of larval crowding-adapted populations (see Chapter 3), and are thus maintained at a relatively low larval density. We started each generation of maintenance by collecting eggs from adults of the previous generation in vials at a low density of 60-80 eggs in ~6 mL of cornmeal-sugar-yeast medium food (see Sarangi et al. 2016) in cylindrical glass vials approx. 95 mm tall, with an inner diameter of around 22.5 mm², resulting in a cross-

section surface area of approx. 400 mm² (the food column height was approx. 15-20 mm). After egg collection, we waited until 11 days for the metamorphosis to complete for most of the individuals, and transferred the eclosed adults of each population to a respective Plexiglas cage (25 x 20 x 15 cm³). We provided fresh cornmeal medium food plates to the adults in the cages on days 11, 12, 14 and 17 from the day of egg collection (day 1), as well as a moist cotton ball to maintain high relative humidity (>70%). On day 18 from egg collection, we replaced the food plate with a fresh one covered in a yeast-water paste mixed with a drop of glacial acetic acid. On day 20, we removed the yeast-covered plate and provided a food plate cut into two parts for 18 hours. This provided a vertical surface to the *Drosophila* for easier egg laying. Finally, on day 21, we removed the two food plate sections, now heavily laden with eggs. The collection of eggs from these plates served as day 1 for the next generation. This completed a single generation of maintenance. All populations were maintained in constant light (LL), at around 25°C, and a relative humidity of 70-90%.

Collection of eggs for experiment

For the start of the assay, we singled out one replicate population per generation and collected an additional 80 vials (each with 60-80 eggs, ~6 mL food, approx. 400 mm² cross section surface area per vial). On day 11 from egg collection, we transferred the eclosed adults from the extra vials to two new cages – adults from 40 vials were transferred to each cage, at random. These cages were each provided a food plate covered with yeast-water paste (containing a drop of glacial acetic acid). On day 14, we provided the cages with fresh cornmeal plates for 1 hour with vertical edges for egg laying. These were discarded after removal from the cages, as they served to collect the eggs that were previously incubated in the females. This would ensure that the subsequent eggs laid by the females would be freshly fertilised, and no inadvertent head starts due to early hatching would be provided to the competing larvae in the experiment. Following plate removal, we provided another egg collection plate to each cage for 4 hours. These were harder plates, containing twice the usual amount of agar (2%), with only yeast and sugar added, and facilitated easier removal of eggs for counting (see Sarangi 2018; Chapter 3). After 4 hours, we removed the egg collection plates, and used the eggs laid thereon for the experiment. We added another one of the harder yeast-sugar-agar plate to each cage for 4 hours, in case the first batch did not yield the required number of eggs. The eggs were removed from plates of both cages and were transferred to a non-nutritive 1% agar plate (see Chapter 3), and thereafter thoroughly mixed prior to starting the egg counting.

After removal of the second harder agar plate, we provided another food plate covered with yeast paste to each cage. On day 15 from egg collection, we removed the yeast plate and repeated the egg collection process of day 14. Eggs taken on day 14 were assigned the Day 1 factor level, and those taken on day 15 were assigned the Day 2 factor level (see below).

The experimental set up

In the introduction, we listed three ways in which the degree of larval crowding in cylindrical culture vials may be affected, assuming all else is kept unchanged (fig. 1B):

- 1) Changing starting egg number.
- 2) Changing food volume via food column height, keeping the same container dimensions.
- 3) Changing food volume via changing the diameter of the cylindrical vial, thereby changing the surface area of food in contact with air.

We used the collected eggs on 1% agar to conduct an experiment incorporating all three crowding-inducing variables in a three-way, fully factorial design.

- The eggs were counted exactly for three levels of starting egg numbers: 200, 400 and 600.
- We used three levels of food column height (~5 mm, ~10 mm and ~15 mm): hereafter referred to as column height.

We used three levels of vial cross section surface area (~200 mm², ~400 mm² and ~600 mm²): hereafter referred to as surface area.

The complete experimental design is detailed in figure 1. Using three levels of column height and three levels of surface area in a factorial design gave rise to a total of 9 combinations of culture types (fig. 1C). Among these 9 combinations, the food volumes of 2, 3 and 6 mL were present in two types of culture each (fig. 1C, colour matched). The first type had lower surface area and greater column height; the second type had greater surface area and lower food column height. The remaining 3 food volumes – 1, 4 and 9 mL – were unique.

To each of the 9 combinations of surface area and column height, we added 200, 400 or 600 eggs. There were thus 27 different combinations of egg number \times surface area \times column height. Subsets of these 27 treatments were used to draw relevant comparisons (see Results).

Each of the 27 treatments had four replicate vials for each of the four replicate MB populations, split across two days of egg collection. Thus, we collected two replicate vials per treatment combination on day 14, as well as two replicate vials on day 15.

In total, each replicate population had 108 vials, for a grand total of 432 vials across replicates. A total of 172,800 eggs were used for the entire experiment.


3. Changing vial diameter (Increasing surface area of food in contact with air)

Figure 1. The complete experimental design. A) diagrammatic representation of a cylindrical culture vial. B) The three ways of imposing crowding, assuming all other conditions are constant. C) The design of the experiment, with three levels each of three factors used 1. Egg number; 2. Food column height; 3. Vial cross-section surface area (affected by vial diameter).

Collection of eclosing flies

We collected all eclosing flies from each of the 432 experimental vials, split across four replicate populations, in order to measure pre-adult survivorship, as well as pre-adult development time. For this, we checked the assay vials every twelve hours once the first pupae started darkening. These checks were done starting on the 8th day from egg collection, 12 hours apart. Once the first flies started eclosing (usually on the morning of the 9th day), we transferred the flies to an empty vial (each of the 108 vials per replicate population had a corresponding transfer vial of similar dimensions). The flies were sacrificed by dousing the transfer vials in liquid nitrogen. Thereafter, they were removed to a clean white surface and counted. The checks were held 12 hours apart until day 12 from egg collection, following which they were instead conducted 24 hours apart. The vials were checked daily until all eclosion ceased.

The total number of adults eclosing from a vial, divided by the number of eggs added to the starting culture, was the measure of pre-adult survivorship per vial. The development time information of each fly was obtained by the total time taken from the mid-point of the parental egg laying interval to the mid-point of the time-window within which that individual eclosed.

Statistics

We carried out fully factorial mixed model Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) on each of pre-adult survivorship per vial and pre-adult development time (both mean and variance per vial). Survivorship was also arcsine square root transformed and analysed to verify the results seen with non-transformed values.

All ANOVA were carried out on Statistica for Windows (Statsoft 1995). Egg number, food column height and vial cross-section surface area were treated as fixed factors with three levels each in the analysis, respectively. Additionally, day of experiment set up (day 14 or day 15 from egg collection) was also a fixed factor with two levels. Finally, population replicate number was treated as a random block factor with four levels. Pairwise post-hoc comparisons were done using Tukey's HSD.

We also carried out linear regression of the pooled data on pre-adult survivorship, mean preadult development time, variance of pre-adult development time and coefficient of variation of pre-adult development time, respectively. These were each treated as response variables against either total density or effective density as predictor variables (see results section).

The plotting of data was done on R release 4.2.2 (R Core Team 2022), using ggplot2 and tidyverse packages (Wickham 2016; Wickham et al. 2019).

Results

Main effects

Each of the three factors of interest – egg number, column height and surface area had a significant main effect on pre-adult survivorship, as revealed by the ANOVA (table s1). On an average, increasing the number of eggs, as well as decreasing the volume of food through reduction in either surface area or column height decreased pre-adult survivorship (fig. s1a-c). Although all three effects were significant for survivorship (table s1), the magnitude of change of each outcome with the factors was different. While large changes in survivorship were seen

across the three levels employed for egg number (fig. s1a) and surface area (fig. s1b), column height induced relatively smaller changes in survivorship with changing levels (fig. s1c).

The pattern for mean pre-adult development time differed based on the factor tested, although the ANOVA revealed a significant main effect for each factor (table s2). In case of egg number, mean pre-adult development time decreased with decreasing egg number (fig. s1d). For surface area, decreasing levels resulted in an increase in mean development time (fig. s1e). However, for column height, decreasing levels saw a small decrease in mean development time (fig. s1f). Thus, averaged over all other factors, an increase in crowding through reduced column height resulted in a slightly shorter development time. It should, however, be noted that the extent of differences in mean development time induced by the changing column height were relatively minor as compared to those induced by changes in both egg number and surface area. Variance of development time showed similar patterns as the mean (fig. s1g-i); however, there was no significant main effect of food column height (fig. s1i)

Comparisons of cultures with the same egg number and food volume in containers of different diameters

Different patterns of development time via increasing surface area vs. column height indicated some fundamental difference in how larval crowding was experienced as a result of reduced food volume achieved by these two modes. This was further explored by looking at subsets of comparisons for the three-way interaction of egg number × column height × surface area. These interaction effects were statistically significant for all three outcomes of crowding investigated (tables s1, s2, s3).

Subsets of comparisons were made among cultures with the same food volume and egg number, but across different vial diameters. As seen in figure 1C, the food volumes of 2, 3 and 6 mL are present in two culture types – one with larger surface area and reduced column height, and the other with smaller surface area and a greater column height. Thus, for each of the three egg numbers used -200, 400 and 600 – there are two cultures at 2 mL, 3 mL and 6 mL respectively, with not just the same overall density, but the exact same combination of egg number and food volume, achieved via different combinations of surface area and column height.

Figure 2 shows the mean pre-adult survivorship and mean pre-adult development time in the contrasting cultures of both 2 mL (fig. 2A and 2C) and 3 mL (fig. 2B and 2D) across increasing egg numbers. In case of the 2 mL cultures, when increasing the starting egg numbers, the culture with the narrow surface area and greater height (coloured blue) showed a greater loss in survivorship (fig. 2A) and a greater increase in mean development time (fig. 2C), compared to the culture with the greater surface area and shorter column height (coloured orange). These differences between the 'blue' and 'orange' cultures were further exacerbated at the 3 mL food volume (fig. 2B and 2D).

Similar results were also seen in the case of 6 mL food, although the differences were relatively smaller in magnitude, and often non-significant (fig. s2a, s2c). The variance in development time also showed differences, very similar in pattern to the average development time, in most cases (fig. s3a, s3b, s3c). Additionally, we have also plotted the data for 1 mL, 4 mL and 9 mL cultures for survivorship (fig. s2b), as well as the mean and variance in development time (fig. s2d, s3d).



Figure 2. Mean pre-adult survivorship and mean development time at the same food volume. The food volumes and shapes into which they are cast are subsets of the experiment design showed in fig. 1C. In the current figure, A, C denote 2 mL; B, D denote 3 mL starting food volume. The error bars denote 95% C.I. around the overall means for the respective traits at each egg number, for the Tukey's posthoc test.

Larval feeding band, total density and effective density

Our results quite clearly showed a large difference in survivorship and development time and hence the underlying fitness functions – of two cultures that had the same egg number and food volume, with the main differentiating factor likely to be the surface area and column height that the food was cast into. To further investigate the possible role of surface area and column height, we focused on the larval 'feeding band' in highly crowded cultures. We define the feeding band as the volume of food close to the surface, with access to air, to which larval feeding is usually restricted (fig. 3A), implying that the maximal depth of food that a larva can access is roughly equal to the length of the larva. Consequently, relatively shallow food columns should allow the larvae to access most of the food (fig. 3Aiii), whereas, high food columns that extend beyond the feeding band are likely to have some food at the bottom that would not be accessible by the larvae until the top layer of starting food is sufficiently depleted (fig. 3Ai). Thus, two cultures with the same food volume that differ in surface area and food column height, may have very different volumes of initially accessible vs. inaccessible food, assuming similar feeding band depths. This is likely what we see in our experimental design, with food volumes of the 2, 3 and 6 mL combinations (fig. 2, s2). For example, in the 3 mL culture contained within the relatively narrow vial (~200 mm² surface area), the food column was relatively high (~15 mm) (fig. 2B, 2D; 'blue' cultures). In contrast, for the 3 mL culture contained within the wider vial (~600 mm² surface area), the food column was much shorter (~5 mm) (fig. 2B, 2D; 'orange' cultures). Given the shallow depth of food in the wider vial, larvae could possibly access a lot more of the food at any given time, compared to larvae in the narrow vial which might not be able to penetrate to the depths of 15 mm.

For the following distinction between total vs. effective density, we assumed the feeding band depth to be a constant 6 mm, with the caveat that the actual feeding band depth is likely to be a more complex parameter (see Discussion). In addition to the total density (eggs per unit food

volume in the vial), we define a new term – effective density – calculated as the number of eggs per unit volume of the feeding band. The effective density better reflects the actual crowding experienced by feeding larvae in the upper 6 mm of the food column.

We then calculated the total and effective density per culture combination for each of the 27 cultures, as shown in fig. s4. Cultures with short food column height, which have the feeding band volume equal to the total food volume end up having the same total and effective densities. Cultures with longer food column heights have feeding band volume as a subsection of the total food (up to 6 mm deep), and thus have higher effective density than total density. For the 3 mL food example, the wider vial has a feeding band that provides access to the entirety of the food (fig. 3Bv), whereas the 3 mL food in the narrow vial has only ~1.2 mL food accessible in the feeding band (fig. 3Biv), thereby leading to a far higher effective density for each given egg number (fig. s4).

Additionally, the calculated total and effective density for each treatment combination yielded multiple cultures which had the same total density, but different effective densities. Three levels of total density had at least 5 different representatives each. These were: 200 eggs/mL food; 100 eggs/mL food and 66.67 eggs/mL food (fig. 3B, s5A, s5B, colour matched). For example, the first case, a total density of 200 eggs/mL food, could be obtained in the following scenarios:

- 1) 200 eggs in 1 mL food (fig. 3Bi).
- 2) 400 eggs in 2 mL food in ~200 mm² surface area, 10 mm column height (fig. 3Bii).
- 3) 400 eggs in 2 mL food in \sim 400 mm² surface area, 5 mm column height (fig. 3Biii).
- 4) 600 eggs in 3 mL food in ~200 mm² surface area, 15 mm column height (fig. 3Biv).
- 5) 600 eggs in 3 mL food in \sim 600 mm² surface area, 5 mm column height (fig. 3Bv).



Figure 3. A. The presence of the feeding band and its diagrammatic representation across three food column heights. In case of tall food columns (i and ii), the food at the bottom in not accessed by larvae

until the top layer of food is depleted. In shallow food columns (iii), the entire food volume comprises the feeding band. B. For a total eggs/food density of 200 eggs/mL, there are 5 ways to achieve it by altering egg and food quantities, in our experimental design (i-v), as shown in the diagram. If food column height is increased (ii, iv), the feeding band is restricted to 1.2 mL food, thus changing the effective density in the feeding band (fig. s4). In case surface area is increased (iii, v), keeping a shallow food column, the total density and effective density are the same (fig. s4). C. The outcomes of crowding at a total density of 200 eggs/mL in 5 different ways as listed in B. (i) shows pre-adult survivorship; (ii) shows pre-adult development time (hours). The orange line represents changing surface area, keeping total density and effective density the same. The blue line represents changing food column height, which results in effective density differing from total density. Error bars represent 95% C.I. around the overall mean for a given culture and vial type, for each respective trait, as calculated from Tukey's posthoc test.

Similar comparisons for the cases with 100 eggs/mL and 66.67 eggs/mL can be found in supp. figure s5A, s5B, respectively.

The results show that cultures wherein the total and effective density were the same (1, 3, 5 from list above), had very similar pre-adult survivorship as well as both mean and variance of pre-adult development time (fig. 3C, s6). When effective density was different from total density, there were large differences in the pre-adult survivorship, and also in the mean and variance of pre-adult development time (fig. 3C, s6). Similar results were seen for the other total densities as well (fig s5A, s5B).

Linear regressions: total vs. effective density

To further examine the role of total vs. effective density in mediating competitive outcomes, we also performed linear least-squares regressions by pooling all treatments, with either total density or effective density as the predictor variable. The response variables were either preadult survivorship, mean development time per vial, or variance/coefficient of variation in development time per vial. The results can be seen from the table in fig. 4, wherein the R^2 values for both regressions are shown for each response variable. The fitted lines are plotted in fig. s7.

For each of the traits examined, a linear model using effective density substantially better predicted the response variable than total density. This showed that simple linear models with effective density were better predictors of the outcomes of competition.

Least-squares Regression of Fitness-related trait (Response variable)	Total density as predictor variable <i>R</i> 2 value	Effective density as predictor variable <i>R</i> ² value
Pre-adult survivorship	0.66	0.82
Pre-adult development time	0.31	0.74
Variance in pre-adult development time	0.33	0.64
Coefficient of variation in pre-adult development time	0.41	0.60

Figure 4. Goodness-of-fit (R^2) values for linear regressions performed by pooling the entire experimental data for each of the outcomes of larval crowding studied as response variables. The predictor variables are either total eggs/food density (left column), or effective (larval feeding band) density.

Discussion

We conducted a three-way, fully-factorial experiment on implementing larval crowding in different ways and found differences in density-specific fitness functions of cultures with the same egg and food combination, in different cylindrical dimensions. Across nine pairwise comparisons of the same combination of eggs and food volume, 7 out of 9 showed differences in pre-adult survivorship (fig. 2A, 2B, s2a), and 5 out of 9 comparisons showed differences in mean pre-adult development time (fig. 2C, 2D, s2c). In each case where the comparison yielded a significant difference (and some in which there was a non-significant difference), the culture which had a greater surface area of food in contact with air, with a reduced food column height, had greater survivorship than the same culture cast in a relatively lesser surface area and a greater food column height (fig. 2A, 2B, s2a). Similarly, the cultures with greater surface area and reduced column height also had shorter mean development time, where significant, than their respective counterparts with lower surface area and greater column height (fig 2C, 2D, s2c). These results are also in agreement with the study by Sang (1949). Variance in development time largely followed the same pattern as mean development time (fig. s3a-c).

In order to find out why there were such stark differences simply by property of culture dimensions, we looked at the larval feeding band, assuming a depth of 6 mm as a simplified representative of the depth to which larvae could potentially feed at all times. We thus calculated effective density (initial number of eggs/feeding band volume) for each of the 27 culture types (fig. 1C, s4), in addition to the total density (number of eggs/total food volume), for each culture. We found that while up to five types of cultures could have the same total density by virtue of their eggs and food combinations, their survivorship and development time outcomes were only similar if the effective density was equal to the total density (fig. 3, s5, s6). These strikingly similar outcomes were achieved via an increase in surface area, which kept the total and effective density the same. Additionally, the linear regression of every

outcome of larval crowding examined yielded a higher R^2 value when effective density was the predictor variable, as opposed to total density (fig. 4). Overall, these results indicate that effective density plays a far more important role in shaping the outcome of larval competition than total density, despite the latter having been the benchmark for larval crowding till date.

Even in terms of the eclosion profiles, effective density seemed to be very important. The eclosion distribution increases in variance at high effective densities coupled with long food columns (fig. 5, s6). At shallow depth of food, eclosion distributions are generally less spread out (fig. 5).



Figure 5. Distributions of time of eclosion of adult flies for each of the 27 treatments used in the current study. The representative culture diagrams are as shown in fig. 1C, with derived feeding band volumes as shown in fig. s5.

Our results also indicate that beyond effective density, the overall volume and depth of the food column may also help determine the ultimate fate of a crowded larval culture. This is apparent in the comparison of 600 eggs in 2 mL vs. 600 eggs in 3 mL food, cast into 10 mm and 15 mm column heights, respectively (200 mm² surface area each). While both cultures have the same calculated effective density of around 500 eggs per mL of feeding band (fig. s4), the same effective density in a 15 mm food column (3 mL total food) has significantly higher development time (fig. 2) and development time variance (fig s3a, s3b), and a higher, though non-significantly so, survivorship (fig. 2), than in a 10 mm food column (2 mL total food). This does not occur in any other scenario wherein the effective density is the same between two cultures. Thus, for two cultures having the same (high) effective densities, a greater volume of food – achieved via increased food column height – may lead to an average delay in development time along with an increase in variance, perhaps at the benefit of a slight advantage in survivorship. This needs to be explored further, with greater effective densities tested at several food levels beyond those used in the current study.

Due to logistical limitations, the measurement of a 6 mm deep feeding band is a necessary simplification of a complex phenomenon. An early study on larval length of *D. melanogaster* ascertained the maximum measurement to be around 4.5-4.6 mm, which is well within the 6 mm cut-off (Alpatov 1929). We also note that in his studies, Sang (1949) had discussed the existence of the feeding band as well, defining it at 5 mm deep. Given that 5-6 mm is the longest depth to which maximally grown larvae can extend (notwithstanding digging), we assumed 6 mm to be the liberal estimate of the feeding band depth. At the start of the culture, the freshly hatched larvae would be expected to feed in a much shallower feeding band than 6 mm. The feeding band would increase as the larvae grow and gain longer lengths and greater reach. Thus, assuming a depth of 6 mm as constant, any differences captured at this simple calculation are likely to be exacerbated with more precise measurements. Moreover, such precise

measurements may be difficult to carry out – realistically, the larval feeding band is likely to be complex over space and time. Spatially, the larvae tend to cluster themselves into feeding grooves near the surface, rather than spread themselves out uniformly over the feeding band (previously observed by Gilpin 1974, Chippindale et al. 1994, Mueller and Barter 2015, S. Venkitachalam, personal observation; also see Gregg 1990). Variable digging length may also be a possibility, although in overcrowded feeding clusters, the larvae could face the risk of drowning due to spatial constraints. The effective larval density of a culture would itself be dynamic and changing throughout the life of the culture, as the larvae grow, drown or leave the culture. This would make the prospect of exactly calculating the feeding band depth or the effective density very difficult.

Given that this study has formally added a new descriptor of larval crowding, it is important to apply this insight to any future studies that aim to implement any form of high density to larval cultures. It becomes extremely relevant to list out not just the number of starting individuals and the total food volume (as well as the type of food used), but also the details of the container – the best practice would be to list the effective density or the average food column height and the surface area of food with access to air. Even in case of studies in nature (Atkinson 1979; Grimaldi and Jaenike 1984; Morimoto and Pietras 2020), this finding is likely relevant. We cite the current study as a cautionary note against interpreting larval number in a whole fruit as a measure of density experienced by the larvae. The density of larvae in a fruit is likely to vary across its dimensions, creating local zones of high and low effective densities within a single fruit itself. Furthermore, unlike in controlled vial conditions in the laboratory, factors such as larval movement, head starts due to differential hatching time or oviposition timings, different hardness of rotting fruits across their respective volumes, to name a few among myriad factors, are likely to create nuances in the competition conditions experienced within local zones per given fruit. This would be in addition to other confounds such as resource overlap and

competition with other species, predation, parasitism, desiccation, disease etc. We could thus imagine a natural food source in the wild as a kaleidoscope of ever-changing effective densities and micro-environmental conditions.

Future studies on larval crowding in *D. melanogaster* across research labs worldwide should ultimately test the inferential reach of our findings, although we suspect that major exceptions to our results will be rare (and interesting). Besides J.H. Sang, who found similar results in very different strains, another study made note of the effects of surface area on larval competition (Scheiring et al. 1984). Several other studies discussed the possibility of the effects of surface area on the outcomes of larval crowding (Bakker 1961; Gilpin et al. 1976; Chippindale et al. 1994). The literature on larval crowding is also populated with references to un-accessed food at the bottom of high-density cultures with relatively high food volumes (Gilpin 1974; Bierbaum et al. 1989; Mueller 1990).

In earlier studies, *D. ananassae* and *D. nasuta* populations showed similar adaptations to larval crowding in a shallow depth of food with low food volume as *D. melanogaster* (Nagarajan et al. 2016, Sarangi et al. 2016). It remains to be seen whether they would follow similar patterns with respect to the predictability of crowding outcomes by effective density, as seen in the current study. Finally, there have also been findings of the effects of surface area in larval systems from other holometabolous insect clades, such as the moth species *Ephestia cautella* (Smith 1969), *E. kuehniella*, *E. elutella* and *Plodia interpunctella* (Bell 1976), as well as the flour beetles *Tribolium castaneum* (Wool 1969). These studies indicate that feeding-band-like features may exist across several insect groups, although the exact consequences of such a feature may depend on the biology of the species being crowded. However, this sets up the background for potentially interesting future studies that can explore the complex aspects of larval competition and crowding across species.

Mechanistically, it is likely that constrained space in the feeding band at high effective densities may be one major factor driving the outcome of Drosophila larval competition. In high food columns with small surface area, most larvae may be unable to access food beyond the depth of the feeding band. Moreover, a large number of larvae trying to feed in a constrained space likely leads to space limitation, despite potentially large volumes of food remaining uneaten at the bottom of the food column. On the other hand, high food columns may have the possible benefit of the diffusing of harmful metabolic waste products away from the feeding band and into the depths of the yet-inaccessible food (Sarangi 2018). This may explain the large variance in egg to adult development time in 600 eggs at 3 mL food at the 15 mm food column length (fig. 3Civ). Under such high effective densities, some space constrained larvae may survive on low amounts of food until most other competitors have left the food, drowned or been poisoned due to high waste levels. Thereafter, these surviving larvae could resume feeding (provided they can tolerate the elevated waste levels), leading to an extended developmental period. Alternatively, some larvae may feed faster and dig deeper into the un-accessed food, leading to a faster development time. Both may be viable strategies, but while the former scenario would delay developmental time, the latter scenario would select for faster digging, feeding and growth. This would ultimately lead to a culture with both increased mean and variance in development time. Our reasoning is also in agreement with some previous studies, which implemented larval crowding at approx. 1500 eggs in 6 mL food cast in high food columns with relatively narrow cross section surface area (Borash et al. 1998; Mueller et al. 2005a; Mueller and Barter 2015). Thus, these studies inadvertently used high effective density cultures with long food columns, achieving very large variance in development time. The authors found that early eclosing flies had offspring with increased feeding rate while late eclosing flies had high waste tolerance, as compared to the individuals of the non-selected control populations (Borash et al. 1998). In contrast, in high effective density cultures with shallow food column heights, the food would run out much faster, due to a large number of larvae accessing all of a limited quantity of food. Space constraints might be secondary to food constraints, leading to a relatively truncated feeding period, thus reducing both the mean and variance of the pre-adult development time. This is likely what was observed in later selection studies on chronic larval crowding in *D. ananassae*, *D. nasuta* and *D. melanogaster* (Nagarajan et al. 2016, Sarangi et al. 2016). Most crowded cultures used in laboratories, and perhaps even in nature, likely lie between these two extreme conditions, often leading to a lack of consensus on the effects of crowding and competition.

Several avenues can be explored for future studies. With the experimental design used in the current study, we can also potentially obtain dry weight data for freshly eclosed adults, and map dry weight distribution over time for each culture type. Both mean and variance of dry weight per vial can be measured, as was done for pre-adult development time in the current study. The body weight of emerging flies is one of the most sensitive indicators of the existence of competition (Sang 1949; Bakker 1961; Santos et al. 1997). Moreover, studies have indicated that elongated development time distributions can give rise to differences in adult weight depending on the time of eclosion (Hughes 1980; Sarangi 2018; Chapter 2). This would be especially relevant for comparisons between cultures which have widely varying development time distributions (fig. 5).

We also know that populations adapted to high effective density cultures in shallow food column depths (total density similar to effective density) differ in evolutionary trajectory from populations adapted to high effective density in longer food columns (total density differing from the effective density) (Sarangi et al. 2016, Sarangi 2018, Chapter 3). Given the framework we have established, we can test whether these two kinds of population sets differ in their competitive ability depending on the type of culture used. A recent competitive ability experiment carried out by us tested each of the different crowding adapted population sets in

varying volumes of food (with shallow food column depths), and the results indicated the existence of culture-dependent competitive ability (Chapter 2).

Finally, starting new populations within this factorial framework would allow us to adapt populations to very different culture ecologies while keeping the same egg number and food volumes. While logistically intensive, this would be the best test for whether different crowding ecologies can lead to specialised competitive ability i.e., populations exhibiting higher competitive ability under the precise conditions in which they experienced crowding. It may be possible that greater digging distance may be important in competing in high effective density cultures with higher food columns. However, a previous study did not find differences in average digging length in populations adapted to crowding under relatively large volumes of food (Mueller 1990).

In conclusion, we have described effective density as the density of larvae in the feeding band – a volume of food close to the surface of food with access to air, where the larvae feed. The effective density is a far better predictor of three fitness-related outcomes of larval crowding compared to the total density, which is the total number of eggs in the total volume of food of a culture. This finding has important implications for the design of future studies on larval competition in *Drosophila* and perhaps other clades as well.

References

Alpatov, W. W. 1929. Growth and variation of the larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Journal of Experimental Zoology 52:407–437.

Atkinson, W. D. 1979. A field investigation of larval competition in domestic *Drosophila*. The Journal of Animal Ecology 48:91.

Ayala, F. J. 1969. Evolution of fitness. IV. Genetic evolution of interspecific competitive ability in *Drosophila*. Genetics 61:737–747.

Bakker, K. 1961. An analysis of factors which determine success in competition for food among larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Archives Néerlandaises de Zoologie 14:200–281.

———. 1969. Selection for rate of growth and its influence on competitive ability of larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Netherlands Journal of Zoology 19:541–595.

Bell, C. H. 1976. Effect of cultural factors on the development of four stored-product moths. Journal of Stored Products Research 12:185–193.

Bierbaum, T. J., L. D. Mueller, and F. J. Ayala. 1989. Density-dependent evolution of lifehistory traits in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Evolution 43:382–392.

Birch, L. C. 1957. The meanings of competition. The American Naturalist 91:5–18.

Borash, D. J., A. G. Gibbs, A. Joshi, and L. D. Mueller. 1998. A genetic polymorphism maintained by natural selection in a temporally varying environment. The American Naturalist 151:148–156.

Chippindale, A. K., D. Hoang, P. Service, and M. R. Rose. 1994. The evolution of development in *Drosophila* selected for postponed senescence. Evolution 48:1880–1899.

Darwin, C. (1859). "On the Origin of Species by means of Natural Selection, or the Preservation of Favoured Races in the Struggle for Life." London: John Murray.

De Jong, G. 1976. A model of competition for food. I. Frequency-dependent viabilities. The American Naturalist 110:1013–1027.

de Wit, C. T. (1960). On competition. Verslagen van Landbouwkundige Onderzoekingen; No. 66.8).

de Miranda, J. R., M. Hemmat, and P. Eggleston. 1991. The competition diallel and the exploitation and interference components of larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 66:333–342.

Elton, C. S., and R. S. Miller. 1954. The ecological survey of animal communities: with a practical system of classifying habitats by structural characters. The Journal of Ecology 42:460.

Gale, J. S. 1964. Competition between three lines of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 19:681–699.

Gilpin, M. E. 1974. Intraspecific Competition between *Drosophila* Larvae in Serial Transfer Systems. Ecology 55:1154–1159.

Gilpin, M. E., T. J. Case, and F. J. Ayala. 1976. *θ*-Selection. Mathematical Biosciences 32:131– 139.

Gregg, T.G., McCrate, A., Reveal, G., Hall, S., Rypstra, A.L., 1990. Insectivory and social digestion in *Drosophila*. Biochemical Genetics 28:97–207.

Grimaldi, D., and Jaenike, J. 1984. Competition in natural populations of mycophagous *Drosophila*. Ecology 65:1113-1120.

Henry, Y., D. Renault, and H. Colinet. 2018. Hormesis-like effect of mild larval crowding on thermotolerance in *Drosophila* flies. Journal of Experimental Biology 221:jeb178681.

Hughes, G. 1980. Larval competition in serially transferred populations of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Oecologia 45:396–403.

Jansen, V. A. A., and J. G. Sevenster. 1997. An individual-based model for competing *Drosophila* populations. Population Ecology 39:215–225.

Joshi, A., and L. D. Mueller. 1988. Evolution of higher feeding rate in *Drosophila* due to density-dependent natural selection. Evolution 42:1090-1092.

Joshi, A., and L. D. Mueller. 1996. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: tradeoffs between larval food acquisition and utilization. Evolutionary Ecology 10:463–474.

Joshi, A., N. Prasad, and M. Shakarad. 2001. *K*-selection, α -selection, effectiveness, and tolerance in competition: density-dependent selection revisited. Journal of Genetics 80:63–75.

Joshi, A., and J. N. Thompson. 1995. Alternative routes to the evolution of competitive ability in two competing species of *Drosophila*. Evolution 49:616–625.

Joshi, A., W.-P. Wu, and L. D. Mueller. 1998. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: Adaptation to adult crowding. Evolutionary Ecology 12:363–376.

Kapila, R., M. Kashyap, A. Gulati, A. Narasimhan, S. Poddar, A. Mukhopadhaya, and N. G. Prasad. 2021*a*. Evolution of sex-specific heat stress tolerance and larval Hsp70 expression in populations of *Drosophila melanogaster* adapted to larval crowding. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 34:1376–1385.

Kapila, R., M. Kashyap, S. Poddar, S. Gangwal, and N. G. G. Prasad. 2021*b*. Evolution of pathogen-specific improved survivorship post-infection in populations of *Drosophila melanogaster* adapted to larval crowding. PLoS ONE 16:e0250055.

Kearsey, M. J. 1965. The interaction of competition and food supply in two lines of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 20:169–181.

Klepsatel, P., E. Procházka, and M. Gáliková. 2018. Crowding of *Drosophila* larvae affects lifespan and other life-history traits via reduced availability of dietary yeast. Experimental Gerontology 110:298–308.

Mather, K., and P. D. S. Caligari. 1981. Competitive interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*. II. Measurement of competition. Heredity 46:239–254.

Miller, R. S. 1964. Larval Competition in *Drosophila melanogaster* and *D. simulans*. Ecology 45:132.

———. 1967. Pattern and Process in Competition. Pages 1–74 *in* Advances in Ecological Research (Vol. 4). Elsevier.

Mital, A., M. Sarangi, S. Dey, and A. Joshi. 2021. Evolution of lower levels of inter-locus sexual conflict in <u>D. melanogaster</u> populations under strong selection for rapid development (preprint). <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.08.430125</u>

Moore, J. A. 1952. Competition between *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Drosophila simulans*.I. Population cage experiments. Evolution 6:407-420.

Morimoto, J., Wenzel, M., Derous, D., Henry, Y. and Colinet, H. 2023. The transcriptomic signature of responses to larval crowding in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Insect Science 30: 539-554.

Morimoto, J., and Z. Pietras. 2020. Natural history of model organisms: The secret (group) life of *Drosophila melanogaster* larvae and why it matters to developmental ecology. Ecology and Evolution 10:13593–13601.

Mueller, L. D. 1985. The evolutionary ecology of *Drosophila*. Pages 37–98 *in* M. K. Hecht, B. Wallace, and G. T. Prance, eds. Evolutionary Biology. Springer US, Boston, MA.

———. 1988. Evolution of competitive ability in *Drosophila* by density-dependent natural selection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 85:4383–4386.

———. 1990. Density-dependent natural selection does not increase efficiency. Evolutionary Ecology 4:290–297.

Mueller, L. D. 1997. Theoretical and empirical examination of density-dependent selection. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 28:269–288.

——. 2009. Fitness, demography, and population dynamics in laboratory experiments. Pages 197–216 *in* Experimental evolution: concepts, methods and applications of selection experiments (ed. T. Jr Garland and M. R. Rose). University of California Press.

Mueller, L. D., and T. T. Barter. 2015. A model of the evolution of larval feeding rate in *Drosophila* driven by conflicting energy demands. Genetica 143:93–100.

Mueller, L. D., D. G. Folk, N. Nguyen, P. Nguyen, P. Lam, M. R. Rose, and T. Bradley. 2005*a*. Evolution of larval foraging behaviour in *Drosophila* and its effects on growth and metabolic rates. Physiological Entomology 30:262–269.

Mueller, L. D., C. L. Rauser, and M. R. Rose. 2005*b*. Population dynamics, life history, and demography: Lessons from *Drosophila*. Pages 77–99 *in* Advances in Ecological Research (Vol. 37). Elsevier.

Nagarajan, A., S. B. Natarajan, M. Jayaram, A. Thammanna, S. Chari, J. Bose, S. V. Jois, et al. 2016. Adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila ananassae* and *Drosophila nasuta nasuta*: increased larval competitive ability without increased larval feeding rate. Journal of Genetics 95:411–425.

Nicholson, A. J. 1955. An outline of the dynamics of animal populations. Australian Journal of Zoology 2:9–65.

Nunney, L. 1983. Sex differences in larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*: the testing of a competition model and its relevance to frequency-dependent selection. The American Naturalist 121:67–93.

Ohnishi, S. 1976*a*. Effects of population density and temperature condition on fitness in *drosophila melanogaster*: I. Developmental time and pre-adult viability. The Japanese Journal of Genetics 51:19–25.

———. 1976b. Effects of population density and temperature condition on fitness in *Drosophila melanogaster*: II. Fecundity and mortality. The Japanese Journal of Genetics 51:305–314.

Pearl, R., and S. L. Parker. 1922. On the influence of density of population upon the rate of reproduction in *Drosophila*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 8:212–219.

Prasad, N., and A. Joshi. 2003. What have two decades of laboratory life-history evolution studies on *Drosophila melanogaster* taught us? Journal of Genetics 82:45–76.

R Core Team. 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/.

Robertson, F. W., and J. H. Sang. 1944. The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture. I. Fecundity of adult flies. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B - Biological Sciences 132:258–277.

Sang, J. H. 1949. The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture. III. Larval and pupal survival. Physiological Zoology 22:183–202. Santos, M., D. J. Borash, A. Joshi, N. Bounlutay, and L. D. Mueller. 1997. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: evolution of growth rate and body size. Evolution 51:420–432.

Sarangi, M. 2018. *Ecological details mediate different paths to the evolution of larval competitive ability in <u>Drosophila</u> (PhD Thesis). Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research. <u>http://lib.jncasr.ac.in:8080/jspui/handle/10572/2722</u>*

Sarangi, M., A. Nagarajan, S. Dey, J. Bose, and A. Joshi. 2016. Evolution of increased larval competitive ability in Drosophila melanogaster without increased larval feeding rate. Journal of Genetics 95:491–503.

Scheiring, J. F., Davis, D. G., Banasinghe, A. and Teare, C. A. (1984). Effects of larval crowding on life history parameters in *Drosophila melanogaster* Meigen (Diptera:Drosophilidae). Annals of the Entomological Society of America 77, 329-332.

Shiotsugu, J., A. M. Leroi, H. Yashiro, M. R. Rose, and L. D. Mueller. 1997. The symmetry of correlated selection responses in adaptive evolution: an experimental study using *Drosophila*. Evolution 51:163–172.

Smith, S. D. 1969. The effects of crowding on larvae of the meal moth, *Ephestia kühniella*. Journal of Experimental Zoology 170:193–204.

Sørensen, J. G., and V. Loeschcke. 2001. Larval crowding in *Drosophila* melanogaster induces Hsp70 expression, and leads to increased adult longevity and adult thermal stress resistance. Journal of Insect Physiology 47:1301–1307.

StatSoft. 1995. Statistica Vol. I: General conventions and statistics 1. StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, USA.

Wickham, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Use R! (2nd ed. 2016.). Springer International Publishing: Imprint: Springer, Cham. (https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4)

Wickham, H., M. Averick, J. Bryan, W. Chang, L. McGowan, R. François, G. Grolemund, et al. 2019. Welcome to the Tidyverse. Journal of Open Source Software 4:1686.

Wilson, A. J. 2014. Competition as a source of constraint on life history evolution in natural populations. Heredity 112:70–78.

Wool, D. 1969. Differences in population parameters of two *Tribolium castaneum* strains in environments of different shapes. Population Ecology 11:45–56.

Supplementary material for Chapter 5

Effect	df	MS	F	Р
Eggs	2	2.5593	400.881	< 0.0001***
Surface Area	2	2.5436	222.149	< 0.0001***
Food Height	2	0.2061	62.624	< 0.0001***
Day	1	0.3686	6.740	0.0806
Surface Area × Food Height	4	0.0357	25.669	< 0.0001***
Surface Area × Day	2	0.0878	16.405	0.0037**
Food Height \times Day	2	0.0045	0.824	0.4828
Surface Area × Eggs	4	0.1565	32.952	< 0.0001***
Food Height × Eggs	4	0.0197	6.552	0.0049**
$Day \times Eggs$	2	0.0682	23.124	0.0015**
Surface Area × Food Height × Day	4	0.0004	0.166	0.9515
Surface Area × Food Height × Eggs	8	0.0090	3.425	0.0091**
Surface Area × Day × Eggs	4	0.0039	2.542	0.0944
Food Height \times Day \times Eggs	4	0.0029	1.264	0.3371
Surface Area \times Food Height \times Day \times Eggs	8	0.0037	1.623	0.1704

More than just density: the role of egg number, food volume and container dimensions in mediating larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*

Table s1. ANOVA results for mean pre-adult survivorship.

Effect	df	MS	F	Р
Eggs	2	101652	351.39	<0.0001***
Surface Area	2	125726	468.79	<0.0001***
Food Height	2	2356	6.79	0.0288*
Day	1	1	0.00	0.9488
Surface Area × Food Height	4	4716	19.56	<0.0001***
Surface Area × Day	2	3	0.01	0.9868
Food Height \times Day	2	0	0.00	0.9983
Surface Area × Eggs	4	11565	48.32	<0.0001***
Food Height × Eggs	4	2284	16.48	<0.0001***
$Day \times Eggs$	2	70	0.90	0.4553
Surface Area \times Food Height \times Day	4	81	0.83	0.5330
Surface Area × Food Height × Eggs	8	2831	13.27	<0.0001***
Surface Area × Day × Eggs	4	74	0.37	0.8276
Food Height \times Day \times Eggs	4	137	1.23	0.3488
Surface Area \times Food Height \times Day \times Eggs	8	165	1.34	0.2741

Table s2. ANOVA results for mean pre-adult development time.

Effect	df	MS	F	Р
Eggs	2	282326582.8	367.422	<0.0001***
Surface Area	2	404285765.8	245.276	<0.0001***
Food Height	2	2363303.6	1.703	0.2595
Day	1	1116630.7	0.792	0.4389
Surface Area × Food Height	4	15152499.2	8.261	0.0019**
Surface Area × Day	2	87741.1	0.058	0.9441
Food Height \times Day	2	1652457.8	1.041	0.4091
Surface Area × Eggs	4	42424753.5	25.181	<0.0001***
Food Height × Eggs	4	3231437.7	2.653	0.0852
$Day \times Eggs$	2	2205768.4	4.350	0.068
Surface Area \times Food Height \times Day	4	850900.5	0.296	0.8751
Surface Area × Food Height × Eggs	8	10830484.9	4.206	0.0029**
Surface Area × Day × Eggs	4	684030.1	0.828	0.5326
Food Height \times Day \times Eggs	4	2843090.7	1.294	0.3266
Surface Area \times Food Height \times Day \times Eggs	8	1979722.5	1.202	0.339

Table s3. ANOVA results for variance in pre-adult development time.



Fig. s1. Main effects of the three crowding-inducing factors (egg number, surface area and column height) on mean pre-adult survivorship (A, B, C); mean pre-adult development time (D, E, F); and variance in pre-adult development time (G, H, I), respectively. Error bars represent 95% CI around the means as calculated from Tukey's post-hoc test. No CI are shown in (I), as there was no significant main effect of column height on variance in development time.



Figure s2. Mean pre-adult survivorship and mean pre-adult development time for (A, C) two variants of the 6 mL cultures; (B, D) Unique cultures of 1, 4 and 9 mL food volumes, for each starting egg number. Error bars represent 95% CI around the means as calculated from Tukey's post-hoc test.



Figure s3. Variance in development time across 200, 400 and 600 eggs seeded in: A. 2 mL food cast in different combinations of surface area and column height; B. 3 mL food cast in different combinations of surface area and column height; C. 6 mL food cast in different combinations of surface area and column height; D. 1, 4 and 9 mL food, respectively. Error bars indicate 95% C.I. around the means, as calculated from Tukey's post hoc test.



T = Total Density (eggs/mL total food)

E = Effective Density (eggs/mL food in feeding band)





400 eggs

T = Total Density (eggs/mL total food)

E = Effective Density (eggs/mL food in feeding band)





Figure s4. Total density and effective density for each of the 27 treatments used in the experiment.



Figure s5A. Mean pre-adult survivorship and mean pre-adult development time for each culture with total density of 100 eggs/mL.



Figure s5B. Mean pre-adult survivorship and mean pre-adult development time for each culture with total density of 66.67 eggs/mL.


Figure 6. Variance in pre-adult development time for various total density scenarios (see fig. s4): A. Total density of 200 eggs/mL (see fig. 3C); B. Total density of 100 eggs/mL (see fig. s5A); C. Total density of 66.67 eggs/mL (see fig. s5B). Error bars indicate 95% CI around the means, as calculated from Tukey's post hoc test.















Figure s7. Least-square linear regressions of pre-adult survivorship, mean pre-adult development time, variance of pre-adult development time or coefficient of variation of pre-adult development time as response variables, respectively, as predicted by total density and effective density.

Chapter VI

An individual-based simulation framework exploring the ecology and mechanistic underpinnings of larval crowding in laboratory populations of *Drosophila*

<u>NOTE</u>

This chapter is a reproduction of a preprint on bioRxiv with the following citation:

Venkitachalam, S. and Joshi, A. 2023. An individual-based simulation framework exploring the ecology and mechanistic underpinnings of larval crowding in laboratory populations of *Drosophila*. bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.07.30.551144</u>

Introduction

The theory of density-dependent selection, first formally described by MacArthur (1962) and MacArthur and Wilson (1967), is a vital interface between the evolutionary and ecological approaches to competition (reviewed in Mueller, 1997, 2009; Joshi et al., 2001). At its core, it posits that fitness landscapes associated with various traits can change across population densities – i.e., the relationship of a trait variant with Darwinian fitness could depend on the population density it experiences.

Over the last few decades, many theoretical and experimental studies have aimed to examine the evolution of traits under different population density conditions (reviewed in Mueller, 1997; Joshi et al., 2001). On the experimental side, some of the most rigorous and detailed work has been carried out through selection experiments using outbred laboratory *Drosophila* populations (reviewed in Sarangi et al., 2016; Chapter 3). Adaptation to chronically crowded conditions has been used to explore the evolution of traits under high-density selection compared to respective low-density reared control populations.

The earliest studies focused on crowding populations at all life-stages through serial transfers (Mueller and Ayala, 1981). While this approach yielded some insights into the evolution of traits under high density conditions, crowding experienced at both larval and adult stages was a confounding factor when drawing inferences (Mueller et al., 1993). Thus, later studies focused largely on adaptation to larval crowding (but see also studies on adaptation to adult crowding by Joshi and Mueller 1997; Joshi et al., 1998). These larval crowding studies have previously been described in detail (reviewed in Prasad and Joshi, 2003; Sarangi et al., 2016; Chapter 3). The overall results from these studies were the following –

• Larval competitive ability evolves to be greater in crowding-adapted populations as compared to the low-density reared controls, under most selection studies carried out

so far (Mueller, 1988a; Nagarajan et al., 2016; Sarangi et al., 2016; Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2; see Joshi and Mueller (1996) for an indirect inference of the same).

- The exact details of initial egg number, food volume and container dimensions (usually a cylindrical glass vial) determine which competitive ability linked traits evolve, and to what extent, in a given crowded scenario (Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 3, 2023a).
- Even under the same high-density conditions implemented via different combinations of initial egg numbers and food volume, the outcome of crowding with respect to fitness-related traits can be different, and this can also lead to the evolution of different traits under each condition (Sarangi, 2018).

Thus, it became apparent that a better understanding of the ecology of larval competition under different kinds of crowded scenarios would be vital to better understanding the evolution of larval competitive ability.

In parallel with, and also preceding the studies on evolution of adaptations to crowding, there was a long tradition of experimental and theoretical studies concerned with the ecology of larval competition in *Drosophila*. These studies ranged from describing the general outcome of larval crowding in *Drosophila* (Sang, 1949; Chiang and Hodson, 1950; Bakker, 1961; Ohnishi, 1976), to the role of waste in crowded conditions (Weisbrot, 1966; Botella et al., 1985), the cessation of developmental activity (Ménsua and Moya, 1983; González-Candelas et al., 1990),and the measurement of larval competitive ability in competition experiments between various strains (Bakker, 1961, 1969; Gale, 1964; Kearsey, 1965; Seaton and Antonovics, 1967; Mather and Caligari, 1981; de Miranda et al., 1991; Santos et al., 1992). Among these, studies by K. Bakker were particularly detailed, and inspired several models to understand and predict the results of larval competition, in addition to a verbal model described by Bakker himself (Bakker, 1961). These models, which at least in part covered the outcomes of larval competition, ranged from verbal (Bentvelzen, 1964) to mathematical (De Jong, 1976;

Nunney, 1983; Mueller, 1988b; Jansen and Sevenster, 1997; Tung et al., 2019). In each of these models, which were based directly on Bakker's data or from results of similar experiments, the primary end point of a culture experiencing competition under extreme crowding was the running out of food – and the primary outcomes were the differences in survivorship and body size of various types. These models largely considered different numbers of 'larvae' competing for some limited quantity of food, thereby varying larval density. Moreover, most of these models were concerned with describing or predicting the long-term consequences of the overall results of larval crowding as a whole. The understanding that the details of crowding experienced at similar overall densities, but at differing combinations of egg number and food volume, could result in different outcomes of fitness-related traits was largely absent. Also missing from these earlier models were the effects of metabolic waste products, which could impact the outcomes of competition along the axis of pre-adult development time in addition to survivorship (but see an independently-developed model by Moya and Castro (1986) for some consideration of the effects of metabolic waste on larval competition).

Adding to these unconsidered details, a recent study conducted by us decomposed the effects of larval crowding along the axes of starting egg number, height of the food column and the cross-section surface area of the cylindrical container (Chapter 5). This was largely inspired by the studies conducted by J.H. Sang (Sang, 1949). We found that the same combination of egg number and food volume cast into cylinders of different dimensions, via different food column height and surface area combinations, could greatly affect the egg to adult survivorship and the distribution of development time in a culture. Furthermore, we found that the density of larvae at the 'feeding band' – a shallow volume of food in contact with air, to which larval feeding is restricted – predicts the outcome of larval crowding better than the total density, as described by the starting number of eggs divided by the total starting volume of food.

In light of the recent advances in our understanding of the nuances of larval competition and of the adaptation to chronic larval crowding, there is a need to mechanistically explore how the differences in food surface area and food column height may be leading to differences in vital fitness-related traits such as survivorship and development time. Exploring this whole range of possible combinatorial scenarios experimentally is a daunting task from a logistical perspective. Therefore, we have developed an individual-based simulation framework that explores the mechanisms by which the outcomes of larval crowding are ultimately mediated. Such a model that predicts the results of larval competition under realistic scenarios can also be used to explore the consequences of long-term selection for adaptation to larval crowding under different conditions, further refining our understanding of density-dependent selection. This aspect has been elaborated in the discussion section (section 4.4).

The simulation framework described in the current study attempts to capture the processes of larval growth and the varied ways in which competition may actually occur in a crowded culture. This work is a follow up and expansion of a simple novel model developed by us and published as a Master's thesis by one of the authors (Venkitachalam, 2017). The current study limits the simulation to a single generation of a *Drosophila* larval culture, studying the outcome in terms of the distributions of fitness-related traits from various kinds of crowded cultures drawn from our recent empirical study (Chapter 5). The simulation framework is useful inasmuch as it may be helpful in generating predictions, confronting hitherto unconsidered mechanisms and directing precise experiments in situations wherein general exploratory experiments may be logistically daunting.

1. Traits involved in larval competition

Before setting up an individual-based simulation on larval competition, we list the traits being imparted to every competing individual. Each of these traits has been, or can potentially be, implicated in some way to be important to larval competitive ability – either in empirical studies involving the evolution of increased larval competitive ability, or in some form of logical argument. For this listing of traits, we describe a heuristic model for understanding the importance of various traits to larval competition, across three distinct time-periods of a culture.

1.1. *A heuristic model of larval competition in a crowded culture*

We imagine a crowded culture wherein we single out one individual (fig. 1.a). Over the timespan of the culture, this individual starts in the culture as an egg, which hatches into a larva. This larva then feeds on the available food and grows (through three instars), in competition with the myriad other larvae competing for the same limited resources. Ultimately, the crowded culture starts running out of food and/or building up toxic concentrations of metabolic wastes. In order to survive, the focal larva must achieve at least its minimum critical mass for pupation by feeding on a minimum amount of food (Beadle et al., 1938; Chiang and Hodson, 1950; Bakker, 1959, 1961; Robertson, 1963) before the food runs out and/or the ambient waste concentration becomes lethal for further food consumption.

From the above description, we can imagine three (more or less) distinct time stages in the culture in which different traits can affect the focal larva's competitive ability (fig. 1.a).

1.1.1. Time stage 1: Initial stage of a culture

Assuming simultaneous placement of all eggs into the culture (see Jansen and Sevenster (1997) for a model without this assumption), all else being equal, the focal individual can have greater competitive ability by having a faster egg hatching time than other competitors, or by having a larger mass at hatching (fig. 1.b, discussed in Bakker, 1969). Both of these aspects increase the

effective head start that the larva can have in its growth period (reviewed in Chapter 4). While a faster hatching time obviously confers greater head start, a larger initial larval mass reduces the amount of growth required by the larva to achieve its minimum critical mass (all else being equal), assuming larger eggs hatch into larger individuals. The evolution of both these traits has indeed been observed in multiple population sets adapted to respectively different details of larval crowding – each crowding adapted population, regardless of the exact conditions of larval crowding imposed, evolved greater egg length and egg width, as compared to the lowdensity control populations (Chapter 3). Out of the three population sets studied, one set also evolved significantly reduced egg hatching time compared to controls, while the other two sets showed non-significant reductions (Chapter 3).

1.1.2. Time stage 2: larval growth period

In case of larvae feeding at the initial time window of a crowded culture, faster growth rate (i.e., rate of weight gain) should be paramount for survival. All else being equal, the focal larva would be competitively superior to other larvae by growing faster than them (fig. 1.c, discussed in Bakker, 1961). There are two primary ways by which growth rate could be affected:

1.1.2.1. Modification of overall feeding rate

An increased rate of food ingestion, all else being equal, could drive faster larval growth rate. This could happen via either increased bite rate, measured as the number of bites taken per time step or increased bite size, leading to more food ingested per bite (Bakker, 1961; Robertson, 1963).

Bite rate has usually been termed '(larval) feeding rate' in empirical studies, and has a rich history of study across laboratories and populations. It is measured as the total number of sclerite retractions per minute while feeding (Sewell et al., 1974; Joshi and Mueller, 1988). Initial studies on adaptation to larval crowding showed a positive relationship of feeding rate

with larval competitive ability (Joshi and Mueller, 1988, 1996). Moreover, a selection study on increased feeding rate also resulted in the evolution of increased larval competitive ability (Burnet et al., 1977). This led to the general assumption that the evolution of increased larval feeding rate would also be associated with increased larval competitive ability (Joshi and Mueller, 1996; Borash et al., 2000). However, in later selection studies, crowding-adapted populations of *D. ananassae* and *D. nasuta nasuta* evolved increased larval competitive ability without evolving increased feeding rate (Nagarajan et al., 2016). The underlying explanation for this contrasting set of results was revealed to be dependent on the exact conditions of larval crowding imposed. D. melanogaster populations crowded at the same conditions as the D. ananassae and D. nasuta nasuta populations (different from the earlier D. melanogaster studies) also evolved greater larval competitive ability without increased feeding rate (Sarangi et al., 2016). Further complicating the relationship of feeding rate with larval crowding was a recent study carried out in our research laboratory by M. Sarangi (2018). The results from that study showed that crowding-adapted populations of D. melanogaster which had unchanged feeding rate compared to controls when assayed singly or under low-density conditions, showed the highest feeding rate in their native crowded conditions in vials (Sarangi, 2018). Thus, the plasticity of larval feeding rate across the crowding gradient has emerged as another potential factor that contributes to larval competitive ability, although further experimentation is required to elucidate the details and extent by which such plasticity manifests itself under differently crowded conditions.

Little is known about the bite size of *Drosophila* larvae, and likely even less about the dynamics and variance of bite size across different stages of larval growth under crowded conditions. A study by Robertson (1963) showed that mouth part size increased along with larval size across the larval growth period. We can thus assume bite size to also increase with larval size.

1.1.2.2. Modification of food to biomass conversion efficiency

All else being equal, the focal larva could also enhance its growth rate by being more efficient in food utilisation than its competitors (Bakker, 1961). This efficiency could manifest itself in two possible ways – fraction of food converted to biomass, and time taken to convert the same quantity of food to biomass.

The importance of increased resource utilisation efficiency under high population density conditions has been stressed at least since the time density-dependent selection was formalised (MacArthur and Wilson, 1967; but see Joshi et al. (2001) for a contrasting view). However, results from experiments on larval crowding adaptation have yielded mixed results. Earlier selection studies indicated that crowding-adapted populations had evolved reduced efficiency with respect to minimum food required for pupation, indicating a reduction in the fraction of food converted to biomass (Mueller, 1990; Joshi and Mueller, 1996). Recent larval crowding studies on *Drosophila* populations, using a shallow food column, reported an increase in efficiency of crowding-adapted larvae, with respect to the time taken to convert the same volume of food to biomass (Nagarajan et al., 2016; Sarangi et al., 2016).

1.1.2.3. *Time stage 3: the end stage of larval crowding*

The end stage of crowding can be imagined as the time when the food runs out or the waste concentration becomes unbearably high for the larvae (fig. 1.a). At this stage, a different set of traits would help the focal larva survive, all else being equal. In particular, a greater waste tolerance would allow the focal larva to continue eating at a waste concentration intolerable to other larvae (fig. 1.di). Metabolic waste products such as ammonia, uric acid or urea have been shown to increase in crowded cultures in multiple studies (Botella et al., 1985; Borash et al., 1998; Sarangi, 2018). Furthermore, waste tolerance also evolved in populations adapted to crowding at high food volumes (Shiotsugu et al., 1997; Borash et al., 1998; but see Sarangi,

2018), but not in populations adapted to low food volumes (Nagarajan et al., 2016; Sarangi et al., 2016). In cultures with high food volumes, the food column length is greater (assuming similar container dimensions), and there is substantial food remaining even at the end stage of larval crowding (Bierbaum et al., 1989; Mueller, 1990; Chapter 5). Thus, it is likely that, when faced with long food columns, some larvae could feed slowly and survive late into the life of a culture, assuming they can tolerate the increased waste build-up expected due to the numerous larvae feeding and excreting in the vial (Borash et al., 1998; Mueller and Barter, 2015). One study showed that offspring of early eclosing adults from crowding adapted populations had higher larval feeding rate and low waste tolerance, whereas offspring of late eclosing adults had greater waste tolerance along with lower larval feeding rate (Borash et al., 1998). This point further reinforces our assumption that the growth stage and end stage of a crowded culture can be quite different ecologically, and have different underlying fitness functions at different times in the culture.

Finally, the end stage may also be tackled by larvae via a different approach – a reduction in the minimum critical mass required for pupation (Bakker, 1961). The focal larva could survive simply by reducing its requirements and commit to wandering at a smaller size (fig. 1.dii). While primarily useful in conditions where food quantities are fleeting, a reduced minimum critical mass could also potentially reduce some of the duration spent in the increasingly uninhabitable environment at the end stage of the culture. No crowding-adapted population till date has been known to show the evolution of reduced mean minimum critical mass to pupation, although some populations have evolved overall smaller sized adults under uncrowded conditions, which might indicate an evolution of smaller minimum critical mass as well (Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2).



Figure 1. Heuristic model of larval competition (see introduction section 1.1 for more details).

- a) This plots the growth profile of a single imagined individual from an imagined crowded *Drosophila* larval culture. The individual can go through three fairly distinct stages through the life of the crowded culture. It begins in the initial stage as an egg. The time of hatching determines the beginning of the growth stage of the larva. As multiple larvae feed in a crowded culture, food starts running out and/or metabolic waste concentration starts building up, as highlighted by a green background. This determines the end stage of the culture for the larva, when it must leave the system due to food running out or waste toxicity becoming too high, denoted by the solid green line. In order to commit to wandering stage and become an adult, the larva must cross its minimum critical mass required for pupation, else it dies. This threshold mass is drawn as a red line.
- b) Traits that may improve competitive ability at the initial stage (see Table 1). Besides the focal individual (solid blue line), we imagine another competing individual (dashed blue line). This second individual has a larger initial larval mass, achieved via greater egg mass, compared to the focal individual. All else being equal, the individual with the larger egg mass will have a greater body mass than the focal larva by the end stage, giving it a potential competitive edge. An imagined individual with a faster egg hatching time would get a similar competitive edge, by feeding earlier and effectively having a larger mass by the time the focal individual hatches.
- c) Traits that may improve competitive ability at the growth stage (see Table 2). We imagine another individual (dashed blue line) with a greater growth rate of larval mass than the focal larva (solid blue line). All else being equal, the individual with the greater growth rate will have a greater body mass than the focal larva by the end stage, giving it a potential competitive edge.
- d) Traits that may improve competitive ability at the end stage (see Table 3). At this stage, a second larva (dashed blue line) can be more competitive than the focal larva (solid blue line), all else being equal, via two distinct ways:

- i. Increased waste tolerance the larva with the higher waste tolerance can continue feeding in greater concentrations of waste (dashed green line denotes the increased waste tolerance threshold), eclosing later but at a greater mass.
- ii. Decreased minimum critical mass to pupation the larva with lower minimum critical mass requirement, denoted by the dashed red line, can escape very high waste levels and become an adult, while a larva with a greater threshold requirement will succumb.

Methods

2.1. Recurrent 'short-hand' terms

Surface area: cross-sectional surface area of the cylindrical food column in a vial into which this food is cast in experiments.

Column height: starting food column height in a culture vial.

Food volume: starting food volume of a culture vial.

Eggs: starting egg number in a culture vial.

2.2. Units used

While our model is simple enough that any units used are at best vague abstractions of reality, the scale at which we have implemented the simulation attempts to work in units relevant to those used experimentally, and which can be followed intuitively. The units used are:

Dry mass (micrograms $-\mu g$): most of the reliable mass estimates on larvae and adult flies are found in units of dry mass (Bakker, 1961, 1969; Santos et al., 1997; Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2).

Thus, the starting food culture is in units of μg dry mass. The larval body mass is also measured in units of dry mass (μg).

Time (hours): the measurement of development time (egg to wandering, pupal or adult stage) is typically done in hours (Nagarajan et al., 2016; Sarangi et al., 2016). Thus, time steps in the simulation framework are on the scale of hours. This is also logistically useful, as it requires much shorter computation time than implementing time in a per minute scale. The primary caveat is that feeding rate measurements, which are empirically measured at the scale of minutes (e.g., Sewell et al., 1974), have here been converted to the hourly format. This conversion may not be entirely accurate, due to the presence of inter-feeding bouts (Ruiz-Dubreuil et al., 1996) which may be prevalent over longer feeding periods. In our text, 'hour' and 'time step' are used interchangeably.

Space (mm): the culture set up in cylindrical dimensions, as well as some larval characteristics in the expanded model, such as digging depth and larval cross section surface area, depend on units of space.

2.3. A brief overview of the simulation framework

We simulated cultures of given cylindrical dimensions in which 'larvae' started as eggs, hatched and then fed until hitting a defined limit. If uncrowded, the larvae stopped feeding after achieving an optimum size and committed to the 'wandering' stage. Under crowded conditions, when faced with severe resource limitation or when facing a toxic environment due to high waste build up, the larvae needed to cross their respective minimum critical mass to pupation in order to commit to wandering. Larvae unable to cross this threshold when the environment was no longer habitable ended up 'dying'.

We started with a 'base' model (section 2.4), onto which we subsequently overlaid more nuanced details of larval competition under the 'expanded' model (section 2.5).

2.4. The 'Base' model of larval competition

2.4.1 Simulating uncrowded conditions

The initial model framework attempted to capture the overall patterns of time to reach wandering stage and dry mass achieved at wandering stage, seen in earlier empirical studies in uncrowded cultures at 25°C under constant light conditions and 60-80% relative humidity (Santos et al., 1997). We describe 'uncrowded' as a starting egg number of around 70, in a total food volume of 6 mL (400 mm² surface area, 15 mm food column height). We assumed any egg number below 70 in 6 mL of food would give the same culture outcomes in terms of % survivorship, average mass and average development time. Additionally, we did not incorporate any possibility of non-zero density-independent mortality.

2.4.2. Culture set up

Empirically, the food in a culture is usually measured in volume (mL, or mm³), which are components of space rather than mass. Given that most laboratory culture media use a very specific ingredient list (e.g., Sarangi et al., 2016), it was relatively simple to convert a given volume of food into dry nutrient mass. We did not partition the food further into macro-nutrient mass. The dry nutrient density for the cornmeal-sugar-yeast medium used in our selection experiments was rounded to $160 \,\mu\text{g/mm}^3$ for the simulations.

We started by setting up the culture in terms of the food column cross-section surface area and height, which were converted to the total food volume (E1). This food volume was subsequently converted to a corresponding dry mass value (E2).

E1.

 $food \ volume(mm^3) = height \ of \ food \ column(mm) \times surface \ area(mm^2)$

dry mass of
$$food(\mu g) = food volume(mm^3) \times nutrient density(\frac{\mu g}{mm^3})$$

2.4.3. Adding eggs to the culture and setting up stochastic variability among individuals

A culture with a given food mass was then populated with a specified number of 'eggs'. The eggs were added simultaneously. These eggs 'hatched' into 'larvae' which proceeded to feed on the food. Each individual was endowed with a given set of traits (see section 1.1.) when it was first added to the culture. These could be uniform or variable across individuals. When variable, we assumed the traits to be complex enough for their variation to be described by a corresponding normal distribution (but see Borash and Shimada, 2001). Each individual's trait value was drawn randomly from a normal distribution with given mean and coefficient of variation (see Tables 1-5).

2.4.4. Setting up traits

2.4.4.1. Initial advantage related traits

The details of traits likely to contribute to competitive ability at the initial stage are listed in Table 1. We further calculated egg volume as a cylinder with egg length as height and egg width as diameter. Finally, this was converted to egg dry mass. For this, we assumed that an egg with volume calculated from a mean length of 0.5 mm and mean width of 0.18 mm would have a dry mass of 2.7 μ g. This value of mass was obtained from Bakker's findings (1961), although the association of this mass value with the specific egg volume was arbitrary. However, once the egg volume and egg mass were calibrated in such a way, any combination of egg length and egg width would yield a corresponding egg mass. An individual's initial larval mass was equal to its egg mass (the mass of the egg shell was not considered – but see Bakker, 1961, 1969).

E2.

Trait	Significance	Notes	Mean	c.o.v.	Source(s)
i. Egg	The egg hatching	Each individual's	20	1%	Chapter 3
hatching	time determined	hatching time was	hours		-
time	the time step at	implemented as a			
	which an egg	countdown from the			
	hatched into a	start of the culture			
	larva.	time.			
ii. Egg	This translated	Egg shell dimensions	0.5 mm	5%	Chapter 3
length	into the initial	were not considered.			
	larval length.				
iii. Egg	This translated	Egg shell dimensions	0.18	5%	Chapter 3
width	into the initial	were not considered;	mm		-
	larval cross-	diameter was used to			
	section diameter.	calculate initial cross-			
		section surface area of			
		larva.			

Table 1. Traits that may be important to competitive ability at the initial stage.

2.4.4.2. Growth rate related traits

The traits likely to contribute to competitive ability at the larval growth stage are listed in Table 2. Bite rate in uncrowded conditions was assumed to have a positive relationship with larval mass, for a given larva. The relationship was modelled as follows:

E3.

number of
$$bites_{(t,i)} = number of \ bites_{(0,i)} \times \left(1 + \frac{larval \ dry \ mass_{(t,i)}(\mu g)}{maximum \ possible \ larval \ mass_{(i)}(\mu g)}\right)$$

Where t = time step (0 = initial time step); i = larval identity; and:

E4.

maximum possible larval
$$mass_{(i)}(\mu g) = 3 \times minimum critical $mass_{(i)}(\mu g)$$$

At maximum mass (see Table 3.i), the larva in uncrowded conditions would, thus, have twice the initial bite rate (Santos et al., 1997).

For bite mass, estimates were roughly derived from available larval growth and feeding rate data (Santos et al., 1997), assuming an average food conversion efficiency of 30% (Table 2.iii). We further used extensive mouth part length measurements carried out by Alpatov (1929) to get a general idea of the possible order of magnitude for bite mass, calculated from assuming the bite size as a sphere using a fraction of the mouthpart as the diameter (data not shown). Mouth part size has also been shown to increase over the course of larval growth within the same instar (Robertson, 1963). The association bite mass with larval mass was calculated using a bite scaling factor which scaled bite mass of i^{th} larva to its body mass at time *t*. The calculations are as follows:

E5.

$$bite\ mass_{(t,i)}(\mu g) = bite\ scaling_{(t,i)} \times larval\ dry\ mass_{(t,i)}(\mu g)$$

E6.

$$bite \ scaling_{(t,i)} = bite \ scaling_{(0,i)} - \frac{larval \ dry \ mass_{(t,i)}(\mu g)}{maximum \ possible \ larval \ mass_{(i)}(\mu g)} \times (0.5 \times bite \ scaling_{(0,i)})$$

The bite scaling factor had a negative correlation with larval mass. Simulated bite mass increased over the course of larval growth, but the rate of increase of bite mass itself reduced, capping at a minimum rate of zero. Most importantly, we did not consider any variation among larvae in bite scaling (Table 2.ii).

We relied on estimates by de Miranda and Eggleston (1988) to derive values of food to biomass conversion efficiency in *Drosophila* larvae. There were two relevant points in their study – the average efficiency values lay between 20-40% of food eaten depending on the strain, and there was a large amount of variance in estimating efficiency across the time of larval sampling (de Miranda and Eggleston, 1988). Another study by Bakker on multiple populations of *D. melanogaster* found the larval food conversion efficiency values to lie between 20-25%

(Bakker, 1969). We accounted for both the mean efficiency and the temporal variation in efficiency per larva (Table 2.iii, iv).

We were unable to find many data regarding the values of time taken to convert food to biomass. However, the study by de Miranda and Eggleston (1988) found the time window to lie within the bounds of 60 minutes. Furthermore, a study on crowding-adapted populations measured food passage time through the gut in the order of minutes (Joshi and Mueller, 1996). Thus, we did not incorporate this facet of larval competitive ability in the current study.

Trait	Significance	Notes	Mean	c.o.v.	Source(s)
i. Initial Bite Rate	For a given bite mass, the initial bite rate determined the rate of food intake.	The bite rate increased in value across the larval growth period (see text).	3000 bites per hour	5%	Joshi and Mueller, 1996; Santos et al., 1997; Joshi et al., 2003 (c.o.v.); Sarangi et al., 2016
ii. initial bite mass	For a given bite rate, the initial bite mass determined the rate of food intake.	The bite mass decreased in value across larval growth period (see text).	0.007 % of initial larval mass	None	Arbitrary
iii. food to biomass conversion efficiency mean	Determined the fraction of food eaten that was converted to growth in larval mass, each time step.	This determined the mean efficiency per larva across time steps.	30% of food eaten in a given time step	5%	(Only mean) Bakker, 1969; de Miranda and Eggleston, 1988
iv. Efficiency within larva c.o.v.	Determined the variation across time steps in food to biomass efficiency for a larva.	The efficiency of a larva per time step was randomly drawn from a normal distribution with mean as iii, and c.o.v. determined by iv.	5%	5% variation in c.o.v. across larvae	Inspired by de Miranda and Eggleston, 1988

Table 2. Traits that may be important to competitive ability at the growth stage.

2.4.4.3. End stage related traits

The traits likely contributing to competitive ability towards the end stage of a crowded culture are listed in Table 3.

The waste tolerance threshold per larva was calculated as follows:

E7.

waste tolerance $limit_{(t,i)}(\mu g) = tolerance factor_{(i)} \times larval dry mass_{(t,i)}(\mu g)$

Trait	Significance	Notes	Mean	c.o.v.	Source(s)
i.	Determined the	Also determined	180	5%	Bakker,
Minimum	dry body mass up	maximum mass possible	μg		1961;
critical	to which a larva	for a larva as:			Santos et
(dry) mass	must grow in	3× min. crit. mass			al., 1997
to pupation	order to pupate.	(largely based on patterns			
		seen in previous data).			
ii. Waste	Determined the	The waste tolerance	0.095	10%	Arbitrary
tolerance	threshold of total	threshold of a larva at a			
factor	dry mass of	given time was			
	metabolic waste	calculated as:			
	that could be non-	the waste tolerance factor			
	lethally ingested	× current larval mass.			
	by a larva.				

Table 3. Traits that may be important to competitive ability at the end stage.

2.4.5. Compiling traits and behaviours

The above factors constituted the larval characteristics in the 'base' model, which attempts to capture the understanding of *Drosophila* larval competition as it was around the end of the twentieth century. Each of the traits was incorporated in the process of larval feeding in uncrowded conditions, as well as in various degrees of crowding.

2.4.5.1. Egg hatching

Each added egg started with a counter for its hatching time (Table 1), which reduced by 1 per elapsed time step. After the counter reached 0, the larva hatched at the mass determined by the egg mass (Table 1), and began feeding.

2.4.5.2. Feeding and growth

Every time step *t*, each larva *i* fed as follows:

E8.

$$food \ eaten_{(t,i)}(\mu g) = bite \ mass_{(t,i)}(\mu g) \times no. \ of \ bites_{(t,i)} \times \left(\frac{total \ food_{(t)}(\mu g)}{total \ food_{(t)}(\mu g) + total \ waste_{(t)}(\mu g)}\right)$$

In the base model, growth was simply a property of multiplying food eaten by conversion efficiency, whose value was drawn randomly from a normal distribution every time step. This distribution of possible values had a mean equal to the larval mean efficiency value (Table 2.iii) and coefficient of variation equal to the mean value in Table 2.iv.

E9.

$$growth_{(t,i)}(\mu g) = food \ eaten_{(t,i)}(\mu g) \times food \ biomass \ efficiency_{(t,i)}(\mu g)$$

Once the *i*th larva at time *t* crossed its minimum critical mass, it could feed for 36 hours or until it reached its maximum mass, depending on whichever was achieved first. The time limit was derived roughly from the post-critical feeding period seen by Santos et al. (1997), and the knowledge that larvae have a fixed feeding period after achieving their minimum critical mass to pupation (Robertson, 1963; also discussed in Burnet et al., 1977; Prasad and Joshi, 2003). A contrasting result which we did not consider in the current study, was the possible elongation of the third instar in the 'larval stop' phenomenon (Ménsua and Moya, 1983; González-Candelas et al., 1990).

Simulated larval growth profiles in an uncrowded condition are shown in figure 2.a, and the outcomes in terms of development time and dry mass at wandering can be found in figure 2.b, 2.c.

In the simulations, if food ran out before a larva completed feeding, there could be two possibilities. If the larva had crossed the minimum critical mass required for pupation, it committed to wandering at the moment of food cessation. However, if the larva had not reached its required minimum critical mass, it died at the moment of food cessation.

2.4.5.3. Waste generation, larval consequences and tolerance

Each feeding larva excreted 2.5% of the total food eaten at the previous time step as metabolic waste (the value used was arbitrary). This waste was representative of, but not limited to, known excretory materials such as uric acid, urea and ammonia, and assumed to be potentially toxic (Botella et al., 1985; Borash et al., 1998; Sarangi, 2018). The waste was excreted by the larva 1 hour after the corresponding food had been eaten (time lag approximated from de Miranda and Eggleston (1988)).

The waste ingested per larva per time step was calculated as follows:

$$waste \ eaten_{(t,i)}(\mu g) = bite \ mass_{(t,i)}(\mu g) \times no. \ of \ bites_{(t,i)} \times \left(\frac{total \ waste_{(t)}(\mu g)}{total \ food_{(t)}(\mu g) + total \ waste_{(t)}(\mu g)}\right)$$

This ingested waste was added to the total pool of waste previously ingested by the larva. If the total waste ingested by a larva crossed its current waste tolerance threshold, then the outcome was similar to food running out. If the larva had crossed its minimum critical mass to pupation, it committed to wandering; if not, it died. Furthermore, below the waste tolerance threshold, as long as the total waste ingested by a larva was non-zero, it also reduced the bite rate of the larva according to the following non-linear formulation:

E11.

realised no. of
$$bites_{(t,i)} = no. of \ bites_{(t,i)} \times bite \ rate \ modifier \ W_{(t,i)}$$

Where,

E12.

bite rate modifier
$$W_{(t,i)} = \frac{1}{1 + e^{\left(15 \times \left(\left(\frac{\text{total waste ingested}_{(t,i)}(\mu g)}{\text{waste tolerance threshold}_{(t,i)}(\mu g)}\right) - 0.5\right)\right)}$$

Note: we capped the lowest possible value of the waste ingestion modifier to 0.01, in order to prevent bite rate values from going to 0 and stalling the simulation.

Under the mechanism adopted in this simulation, larvae under uncrowded situations faced very little increase in waste across their growth period, and thus their waste ingested and the associated bite rate modifier values showed little change, leading to very similar uncrowded growth profiles (fig. S3) compared to the base model without waste (fig. 1). In crowded cultures, as food ran out and waste concentration increased, greater waste ingestion caused the bite rate modifier (Eq. 12) to reduce rapidly. Those larvae which had greater waste tolerance reached the inflection point of bite rate reduction at a greater waste concentration.

2.4.6. Base model – introducing larval crowding

Reducing the food volume and/or increasing egg number introduced larval crowding in the simple base model. The results for these with and without the incorporation of waste are given in section 3.1.2.

While our culture set-up method allowed us to vary food volumes in different cylindrical dimensions, the base model described above did not yield differences in cultures with the same egg number and food volume cast into different cylindrical dimensions (detailed in section 3.2 and fig. S4, S5). The base model was thus insufficient in capturing details of recent empirical findings on the effects of egg number, surface area and food column height (Chapter 5). For these, we expanded the base model to include mechanisms that could affect crowding along the axes of changing food column cross-section surface area or height, respectively.

2.5. The 'Expanded' model of larval competition

Recent findings on the importance of feeding band density, as well as the existence of some form of diffusion of metabolic waste into the food column, were incorporated to construct the 'expanded' model. We put the disclaimer that the mechanisms for these recently discovered phenomena are not known in detail, and we have put our best speculations into the model, based largely on personal observations, speculations from earlier papers, or logical assumptions about the overall process. These have been classified according to mechanisms and the larval traits involved in interfacing with those mechanisms.

2.5.1. Mechanism: how does food column cross-section surface area affect the outcomes of crowding?

In all likelihood, this is primarily a function of competition for limited space. One of the clearest lines of evidence for this lies in cultures with relatively small surface area and long food columns, wherein much of the food at the bottom is left untouched, presumably due to lack of larval access to food at the bottom of the vial. Moreover, our personal observation as well as those of some other authors (Gilpin, 1974; Botella et al., 1985; Moya and Castro, 1986; Gregg et al., 1990; Chippindale et al., 1994; Mueller and Barter, 2015) have been that crowded larvae

tend to feed in packed clusters rather than spread out over the complete surface of the food in contact with the air, even in cultures within very narrow vials. This is presumably done for more efficient feeding by breaking down the food, either physically through mouthparts (Burnet et al., 1977) or through enzymes such as amylase, resulting in easier consumption (Gregg et al., 1990; Sakaguchi and Suzuki, 2013). In conditions of food shortage, this could be particularly important, as easier consumption of food could possibly lead to faster growth.

Thus, the simulated mechanism for limiting surface area was implemented by considering a) difference between total surface area of a vial vs. the effectively available cross-section surface area of the food, as limited by the larval clustering and breaking down of food; and b) difference between effectively available surface area of the food and the total space taken up by the larvae. At the start, each culture had a small fraction of the total vial cross-section surface area as the effectively available surface area. This was meant to represent some initial points which the larvae would start feeding at, which could be chosen either because the food at those points was softer or more fractured, or just arbitrarily as an initial feeding point.

Moreover, we introduced another larval measurement – its cross-section surface area. The initial larval cross-section surface area translated directly from the cross-section surface area of the egg (Table 1.c). As a larva started feeding and growing, its own cross-section surface area also increased in proportion to its mass. This was calculated by assuming (arbitrarily) that a larva with a minimum critical mass of 180 μ g would have a cross-section surface area of around 1.54 mm² when at its maximum mass. The larval surface area was calculated from a cross-section diameter of 1.4 mm at maximum mass, measured by Kaznowski et al. (1985). When the larvae, each with their own cross-section surface area, fed in a column of food, they occupied a proportion of the effectively available surface area. The occupancy of the effective surface area was calculated by dividing the total larval cross-section surface area in a culture, by the effective surface area of the vial. In case of a large number of larvae present in a limited

vial surface area, as was expected to occur in crowded scenarios, the effective surface area occupancy was likely to be >=1 (fig. 4.ci, cii). Meanwhile, larval feeding activity would also be expected to further loosen and liquefy the surrounding substrate over time, which we represented by the effective available surface area increasing every time step, the rate of which was dependent on whether or not the summed larval surface area completely filled up the available surface area.

We defined a 'crowded' situation as one where the effectively available surface area was at least completely occupied by feeding larvae. Besides the clustering feeding behaviour observed, a recent study revealed an additional plastic behaviour that exists for crowded vs. uncrowded situations in larvae. A set of crowding adapted populations showed greater larval feeding rate only under crowded conditions (Sarangi, 2018), but not when assayed singly (or in small groups) on a petri plate (Sarangi et al., 2016; Sarangi, 2018). We thus implemented a plastic increase in feeding rate in the simulation framework, triggered by crowding of the surface area. This was done through the incorporation of two additional traits in the larvae crowding threshold and peak bite rate modifier (Table 4). We assumed that larvae could feed faster if they detected crowded conditions, as represented by each larva's crowding threshold. A larva with a lower threshold could potentially detect the presence of crowding at a lower surface occupancy than other larvae, and begin feeding faster a few hours before the other larvae detected crowding and increased their own bite rate. The degree to which the feeding could become faster was determined by the peak bite rate modifier (Table 4). The realised bite rate of a given larva per time step was its bite rate modifier (suffixed C i.e., under crowding) multiplied by its bite rate under uncrowded conditions. This bite rate modifier was calculated as follows for each larva *i* at time step *t*:

E13.

 $bite \ rate \ modifier \ C_{(t,i)} = 1 + \frac{peak \ bite \ rate \ modifier_{(i)}}{1 + e^{20 \times (crowding \ threshold_{(i)} - surface \ area \ occupied_{(t)})}}$

Moreover, there was a detrimental effect of crowding for limited space, represented by a loss of food eaten per time step. Our imagined mechanism was the following:

As the larvae crowded around limited cluster spots, they collided against and displaced one another (also speculated by Bakker, 1961; Gilpin, 1974), and not all bite attempts led to food being consumed. We further assumed that larger larvae were better able to embed themselves into the food than smaller larvae (also speculated by Gilpin, 1974), and were thus given less disadvantage in terms of loss of food eaten.

The realised food eaten by a larva per time step was the food eaten under uncrowded conditions multiplied by the food eaten modifier at that time step. The mass percentile of a given larva i at time step t was calculated for its larval mass as compared to all other larvae at that time step.

E14.

food eaten modifier_(t,i) =
$$1 - \frac{1}{1 + e^{20 \times (mass \, dependence_{(t,i)} - surface \, area \, occupied_{(t)})}}$$

Where:

E15.

mass dependence_(t,i) =
$$0.9 + 0.1 \times \frac{mass \ percentile_{(t,i)}}{100}$$

The minimum value of food eaten modifier was set to 0.01 - food eaten per time step could not dip below a hundredth of the uncrowded value. This was done to prevent stalling the simulation.

Trait	Significance	Notes	Mean	c.o.v.	Source(s)
i. Crowding threshold	Determined the occupancy of the effective surface area at which the bite rate modifier peaked in value.	This was the threshold of space limitation at which a larva detected 'crowding'.	1.05	5%	Arbitrary
ii. Peak bite rate modifier	Determined the peak bite rate at the crowding threshold. See equation E13.	This represented the amelioration of detrimental effects of crowding for limited space.	1	5%	Sarangi, 2018

Table 4. Traits that may be important to competitive ability under crowding due to surface area limitation.

2.5.2. Mechanism: how does food column height affect the outcomes of crowding?

The presence of long food columns under conditions of crowding has a very consistent outcome – the presence of relatively unused food at the bottom of the vial. This has been discussed in previous crowding-adaptation studies (Bierbaum et al., 1989; Mueller, 1990). Our recent study also showed similar outcomes in conditions with a narrow surface area and a deep food column (Chapter 5). Likely due to their need for access to air, larvae tend to feed with their mouths facing downwards, and the posterior spiracles facing the food surface in contact with the air (Sang, 1949; Green et al., 1983; Ruiz-Dubreuil et al., 1996). The larvae can also dig to a certain length in order to procure food (Sang, 1949). When faced with intense crowding, smaller larvae may be unable to dig too deep, as they could subsequently fail to come back up for air and thus drown. Moreover, the larvae excrete the waste material (along with egestion) via the anus (reviewed in Kuraishi et al., 2015) at the top of the food when facing downwards. It has been speculated that under crowded conditions, larger larvae would be able to feed on relatively untainted food whilst polluting the food for smaller larvae closer to the surface of the food (Gilpin, 1974). An earlier study from our group has also given evidence for the presence of

larval metabolic waste at the lower half of long food columns after a period of 4-7 days, while the waste at the top saturates around the same period (Sarangi, 2018).

Consequently, we implemented a mechanism for the permeation of waste into the food column over time. The food column was divided into 0.01 mm thin uniform 'layers' – each layer having some uniform capacity to hold a certain dry mass of waste in it (arbitrarily, 4.5% waste concentration per layer). As the larvae fed and excreted, the waste first entered the topmost food layer. With waste build up, this layer reached its waste saturation limit at some time point. Subsequently excreted waste went down to the layer below the top layer. Once that got saturated, the process repeated and waste filled up the next layer, with layers continuing to get saturated with waste in a top-down manner (fig. 4a, b). If all the layers were saturated with waste, the new waste was deposited only on the top layer, with the assumption that the rest of the layers were unable to hold any more waste (fig. 4a).

In addition to dry mass and cross-section surface area, we also assigned a length (mouth to anus) characteristic to larvae. Larval length helped determine how deep a larva could dig and access food. The initial length of a larva translated directly from its egg length (Table 1b). As done for larval cross-section surface area, a larva having minimum critical mass of 180 µg was arbitrarily associated with a length of 4.6 mm at maximum mass. This maximum length measurement was obtained from Alpatov, (1929), as well as Kaznowski et al. (1985) (also verified by Bakker, 1959).

Furthermore, each simulated larva was assigned a trait, digging length multiplier, which could vary across individuals (Table 5). This value, multiplied by larval length at a given time step, determined the maximum digging distance for a given larva (fig. 4bi, bii). At any given time, an actively feeding larva could access certain food layers containing 0-4.5% waste concentration. It was assumed that a larva could access food layers from near its mouth

position, down to its maximum digging length. The furthest food layer accessible away from the top layer was rounded up from the digging length of the larva. The nearest food layer accessible from the top was rounded down from the larval length. A larva only faced the waste concentration available in accessible food layers. For example, if only layers 1-3 from the top were saturated with waste, while a given larva was feeding at the layers 4-6 from the top, it experienced no waste. If the total digging distance of a larva were to exceed the total number of food layers, it then experienced the entirety of waste in the totality of food. Empirically, this is likely to occur in scenarios where the food column length is shallow or the food gets consumed, resulting in a shallow food column length (fig. 4a).

Trait	Significance	Notes	Mean	c.o.v.	Source(s)
Digging	Determined the depth to which	Digging depth =	1.5	5%	Inspired by
length	a larva could dig, as a	current larval			discussion
multiplier	proportion of its own body	length ×			in Sang,
	length.	digging multiplier			1949

Table 5. Traits that may be important to competitive ability under crowding with long food columns.

2.6. Total treatments used – replication of experimental design

In order to capture the full scope of experimental results seen, we attempted to replicate the design used in our recent study (Chapter 5). This design consisted of a $3 \times 3 \times 3$ factorial design with egg number, food column height and vial surface area as factors, respectively. The egg numbers used were 200, 400, 600; food column height levels were 5, 10 and 15 mm respectively; surface area levels were 200, 400 and 600 mm², respectively. The entire setup was run for 30 replicates per treatment combination. An expansion of this framework for predictive purposes is described in section 4.2.

2.7. Note on absence of Statistics

Following the reasoning used by White et al. (2014), we have refrained from performing statistical analyses on our simulation results, instead focusing more on the patterns of

differences seen among simulation runs with varying parameter values. In brief, given that we can replicate our simulations manifold for cheap, it is inappropriate to use statistical tests designed for comparisons in experiments which are resource intensive and involve limited replication. Most factors used in greatly replicated simulations would be statistically significant simply from having artificially inflated statistical power (White et al., 2014). Moreover, when trying to capture patterns seen in the experimental results with our simulations, we already knew that a subset of parameter combinations mimicking the treatment combinations in Chapter 5 would yield very different outcomes, based on prior limited simulation runs. Thus, as White et al. (2014) note, we knew *a priori* that the null hypothesis of no effect of different parameter combinations was false. Therefore, rather than do significance testing, we focused instead on the overall patterns observed in our simulated datasets, and compared them with corresponding patterns in empirical data. We further extrapolated our simulations to make gross predictions of patterns beyond the reference experimental set up used (section 4.2).

2.8. Simulation code

All code was written on Python 3 (Van Rossum and Drake, 2009), using the NumPy package (Harris et al., 2020). Plots were created using Matplotlib (Hunter, 2007) and Seaborn (Waskom et al., 2017) packages.

All the code for running the simulation can be found at the following GitHub link

(Note: this is a private repository until publication – please contact authors for access to code if required prior to publication):

https://github.com/SrikantVenkitachalam/Single-Generation-Simulation-Framework.git
Results

3.1.1. Base model – uncrowded conditions

The growth profiles over time for 70 individuals in 6 mL food (400 mm² surface area, 15 mm height) are shown in figure 2.a. The corresponding time to wandering and mass at wandering data are shown in figure 2.bi, bii. These closely corresponded to empirical values observed (Santos et al., 1997).



Figure 2. Base model (waste absent), uncrowded: 70 eggs, 6 mL food cast in 400 mm² surface area and 15 mm height.

a) Growth profile for 70 individuals. The solid blue line denotes the mean larval dry mass. The shaded region denotes standard deviation in larval dry mass. The dashed red line denotes the mean minimum critical mass to pupation (180 μ g). Once the larvae commit to wandering, their mass remains unchanged.

b) Time to wandering distribution. The line within the box denotes the median. The orange triangle denotes the mean.

c) Mass at wandering distribution. The line within the box denotes the median. The orange triangle denotes the mean.

3.1.2. Base model – with larval crowding

The results of increasing egg number from 70-700 in 2 mL (400 mm² surface area, 5 mm height) food are given in figures S1, S2. Results shown in fig. S1 were generated using the base model without considering the effects of waste. Results in fig. S2 had the added effect of waste in the base model. These show the changes in egg to wandering survivorship (fig. S1.a, S2.a), as well as distributions of time to wandering (fig. S1.b, S2.b) and mass at wandering, respectively (fig. S1.c, S2.c). While patterns of survivorship and mass at wandering were largely similar with or without the addition of waste, it was in the distributions of time to wandering that the effects of waste came into play (fig. S1.b vs. S2.b). Without waste, the mean development time decreased across increasing egg number, and the variation collapsed (fig. S1.b). When the effects of waste were considered, mean development time increased, along with an increase in the variation around the mean (fig. S2.b).

3.2. A factorial framework for larval crowding

In addition to simpler consideration of changes only in egg number in fixed volumes of food (fig. S1, S2), we also tested the base model in the fully factorial framework of egg number, food column cross-section surface area and height.

This was a simulated 'replica' of the experiment reported in Chapter 5, examining 3 levels of egg numbers (200, 400 and 600 eggs), 3 levels of food column height (\sim 5, \sim 10 and \sim 15 mm) and 3 levels of food column cross-section surface area (\sim 200, \sim 400 and \sim 600 mm²), in a fully factorial design. Within these 27 treatments lay several pairs of the same combination of egg and food volume, cast into different cylindrical dimensions (varying height and surface area). In total, there were 9 such pairs (200, 400, 600 eggs in two variants each of 2-, 3- and 6-mL food, respectively).

We implemented this experimental paradigm in our base simulation framework (with waste) for egg to wandering survivorship (fig. S4) and time to wandering (fig. S5). Cultures with the same food volume are highlighted using colour-matched text (e.g., fig. S4.i and S4.ix). In the base model, there were no differences observed for any pair of cultures containing the same volume of food, contrary to the experimental observations (Chapter 5).

3.3. The Expanded model

The 27-combination simulation of the experiment described by Chapter 5 was also run for the expanded model, incorporating waste diffusion, variable digging lengths and crowding for limited realised vial surface area (Methods section 2.5).

With the expanded model, there were major differences under various conditions of crowding compared to the base model (fig. 3 vs. fig. S4), while no qualitative differences were seen under

uncrowded conditions (fig. 2 vs. fig. S6). Figure 3 shows the egg to wandering survivorship obtained from the expanded model simulations for the 27 treatments described in section 3.2, with 30 randomly seeded replicates for each. Figure S7 shows the corresponding mean time to wandering data. Some of the salient observations are as follows:

- On average, survivorship decreased as egg number increased under every food culture (fig. 3.d). This was also observed in empirical data (all empirical comparisons in this list are published in Chapter 5).
- Survivorship increased with an increase in surface area (fig. 3.c) also observed in empirical data.
- 3. Survivorship increased with increase in column height only for the transition from 5mm to 10mm (fig. 3.b). Even in that, there was a very large variance in data. In the base model, increasing height improved survivorship in the exact same way as increasing surface area did (fig. S4.b vs. S4.c). In empirical data, height increase also resulted in increasing survivorship, but to a very low degree compared to egg number and surface area. This result was thus close to what was seen in the expanded model. Furthermore, the more prominent change was from 5 mm to 10 mm height, similar to our model, although in the empirical data there was also a small but significant change observed from 10 mm to 15 mm, unlike in the simulation (fig. 3.b).
- 4. For each pair of cultures containing the same egg number and food volume, survivorship was higher in cultures with greater surface area and shallow depth of food, as compared to narrow surface area and long food column (fig. 3.a. i vs. ix, 3.a. iv vs. viii, 3.a. ii vs. vi). This was consistent with the empirical data. This pattern was not captured by the base model (fig. S4).

- 5. Mean time to wandering increased with increasing egg number, and decreased with increasing vial surface area (fig. S7.d, S7.c, respectively). This was consistent with empirical results.
- 6. There was a non-linear change in mean time to wandering along the food column height axis (fig. S7.b). Time to wandering increased from 5 mm to 10 mm height. However, there was a slight decrease in the overall time to wandering from 10 mm to 15 mm height. This was unlike the empirical results, wherein the development time increased almost monotonically, albeit to a very small degree, from 5 mm to 15 mm height. We speculate about possible explanations for this discrepancy in discussion section 4.3.1.
- 7. For pairwise simulated comparisons of the same combination of egg number and food volume (fig. S7.a. i vs. ix, S7.a. ii vs. vi, S7.a. iv vs. viii), mean time to wandering was higher across all egg numbers in the deeper food column with narrower surface area in 2 mL and 3 mL food. In case of 6 mL, the culture cast in the deeper column with the narrower surface area had similar time to wandering at 200 eggs and 400 eggs, but had lower time to wandering at 600 eggs than its culture counterpart cast into a shallower and wider cylinder. In the empirical results, the egg to adult development time was greater in the deeper versions of each food volume only at the higher egg numbers, and not at 200 eggs. This pattern was particularly exaggerated at 3 mL food.
- 8. In simulation results, within the deeper versions of 2 mL and 3 mL food, there was little difference in time to wandering across increasing egg numbers (fig. S7.a.iv and S7.a.i, respectively). In the experiment, there was a clear increase in development time across increasing egg numbers in these cultures particularly in 3 mL food.



Figure 3. Egg to wandering survivorship in a large factorial simulated experiment (see Methods). S.A.: Cross-section surface area of the food column; Height: starting height of the food column.

- a) Survivorship of 30 replicates for each of the 27 simulated treatments. The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 30 replicates for each treatment. The food volume is also highlighted for each surface area and column height combination.
- b) Survivorship values for the three levels of food column height pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the orange triangle represents the mean.

- c) Survivorship values for the three levels of surface area of the food column, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the red triangle represents the mean.
- d) Survivorship values for the three levels of starting egg numbers, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the blue triangle represents the mean.

As can be seen from the results, there were several differences in survivorship and time to wandering when the same number of eggs were added to the same volume of food cast into cylinders of different dimensions. We further elucidated the differences between the most extreme such pair of the crowded cultures – 600 eggs in 3 mL food – through differences seen in waste permeation, food depletion, digging depth distribution and crowding of realised vial surface area (fig. 4).



Figure 4. Properties of two simulated cultures with the same egg number and food volume, cast into two different cylindrical dimensions of food. The same individuals are initially seeded in both cultures. The left column denotes properties of the 'Shallow' type culture (see figure title); the right column denotes properties of the 'Deep' type of culture.

- a) Waste permeation and food depletion over time in both cultures. Each point on the X-axis denotes a temporal snapshot of the status of the food layers presented in the Y-axis (see key).
 - i. In the shallow type culture, the food depletes rapidly, until less than 1 mm deep food remains after 150 hours. At this point, all layers of food are saturated with waste, and

freshly excreted waste pools at the top food layer. This excess waste can be seen as a thin red line at the interface of depleted food layers and waste saturated food.

- ii. In the deep type culture, food depletes until about 175 hours, after which the depletion starts plateauing. Almost half the food layers remain untouched by waste. Over half the food remains in the culture even after 400 hours, and little changes afterwards (data not shown).
- b) Digging depth of larvae showing the initial digging depth of freshly hatched larvae, at 100 hours from simulation start, and the maximum digging depth achieved by each larva, just before the point of wandering or death. While the initial distributions are the same in both cultures, the mean, median and quartile range of the shallow culture (b.i.) exceeds that of the deep culture (b.ii.) from 100 hours onwards, until the maximum. In case of the deep culture, only a few larvae achieve high values of digging depth, exceeding 5 mm, signified by outliers in b.ii., while most larvae remain small and dig to depths within 3 mm. In the shallow type culture, the mean digging depth at the max. point is itself at 3 mm, and many more larvae feed upto depths >3 mm.
- c) The crowding dynamics of both types of cultures, signified by the value of summed larval cross section surface area (red) in relation to the expanding values of the effectively available vial surface area (blue). In both cultures, the summed larval cross section is initially zero when larvae are in their egg stage, and the value becomes >0 after hatching. We define crowding as the time when the summed larval cross-section surface area exceeds the effectively available vial surface area. The shallow type of culture (c.i.) has a much smaller window of time (from 75 hours to 150 hours) when it undergoes crowding, compared to the deep type culture (c.ii.), wherein crowding starts right from the moment of hatching at around 20 hours, and lasts until around 175 hours.

In our empirical study, major insight was gained by considering the outcome of crowding in terms of larval feeding band density (or effective density) instead of the total (eggs/food) density (Chapter 5). We defined the feeding band as the shallow volume of food in contact with air, to which larval feeding remains restricted. We had considered the top food volume of up to 6 mm depth as the feeding band (this value was reduced to the total volume of food if starting column height was lower than 6 mm).

We carried out the same exercise with our simulation results replicating the experimental design (fig. 3, fig. S7). We tested for similarities in the overall results with respect to cultures having the same total density across different effective densities. We considered the most crowded case of 200 eggs/mL total density. There were 5 cultures in total – 200 eggs in 1 mL, 400 eggs in 2 mL cast into deep or shallow cylinders respectively, and 600 eggs in 3 mL cast into deep or shallow cylinders respectively (both 2 mL and 3 mL cultures also had corresponding changes in cross-section surface area along with changes in height).

The survivorship and mean time to wandering of these simulated cultures are plotted in fig. 5. Similar to empirical results, there was no discernible change in both fitness related traits when total and effective density were the same (fig. 5.a.i., fig. 5.a.ii), accomplished by keeping the height constant and changing food volume via surface area, regardless of the egg and food combination used. In case the effective density exceeded the total density, accomplished by changing food column height while keeping vial surface area constant, survivorship decreased monotonically with increasing egg number (fig. 5.a.i). This was seen in empirical results as well (Chapter 5). While the increase in mean development time with increase in egg number was monotonic in case of experimental results, our simulations differed at least partly. While there was a relatively large increase in average time to wandering from 200 eggs 1 mL to 400 eggs 2 mL, the overall mean time to wandering fell somewhat from 400 eggs 2 mL to 600 eggs 3 mL (fig. 5.a.ii). We address this discrepancy in section 4.3.1.

Finally, we pooled the entire dataset with respect to survivorship and carried out a simple linear regression using either total density or effective density (i.e., feeding band density) as predictor variables. The survivorship data were log transformed for linearisation, as the drop in survivorship from low to high density was non-linear. This was unlike the empirical results wherein there was non-zero mortality even at the lowest densities used, leading to an overall linear relationship between total density and survivorship (Chapter 5). In the experimental paradigm used, the decreased survivorship at the relatively lower (but not uncrowded) densities was likely a combined effect of density-dependent and density-independent mortality, the latter not having been considered in our simulation framework.

Linear regression for survivorship as the dependent variable in the simulated data showed patterns very similar to the empirical results – effective density could explain far more variation for log survivorship than total density could. Total density as a predictor variable had an R^2 of 0.68 (fig. 5.b.i), while effective density as a predictor variable had an R^2 of 0.96 (fig. 5.c.i)

For time to wandering, however, a simple linear regression could not be carried out. Unlike in the experimental data, the simulated development time data were very clearly showing two different clusters changing differently with total or effective density (fig. 5.b.ii and 5.c.ii). The part of the data that had different total and effective densities, in case of survivorship, came to lie more closely on a line predicted from data that had the same total and effective densities. This was largely not the case for time to wandering.



Figure 5. a) i) Survivorship and ii) Mean time to wandering for each simulated culture having 200 eggs/mL total density. The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 30 replicates for each culture type. Plots b.i. and c.i. show the linear regression of log survivorship (pooled data from simulated experiment seen in fig. 3), as predicted by total density and effective density, respectively. b.ii. and c.ii. show the scatter of mean time to wandering of the pooled data, vs. total density and effective density, respectively.

Discussion

4.1. Findings from overall results

Similar to earlier models (e.g., de Jong, 1976; Nunney, 1983; see Introduction), the base model in our simulation framework captured Bakker's (1961) data quite well (fig. S1.a, S1.b). However, we also found that the base model did not account for changes in development time (fig. S1.c), which is an important fitness-related trait affected by larval competition (reviewed in Chapter 2). To account for development time variation, we introduced waste into the system, whose ingestion slowed the overall development time of our model larvae, in addition to killing the ones which ingested too much waste without having achieved their respective minimum critical mass (section 2.4.5.3). The resultant simulation better captured patterns seen in experiments done until the end of the twentieth century, in terms of survivorship, development time and dry mass (fig. S2).

We note that Bakker's (1961) data, quite uniquely in hindsight (given the many exceptions seen in subsequent studies), represented a purely "exploitation" mode of competition among larvae (*sensu* Park, 1954; reviewed in Birch, 1957), wherein differences in feeding rates were enough to predict the competitive outcomes of various strains of larvae. The crowded cultures in that study were implemented by seeding larvae over a thin layer of yeast covering a thick layer of non-nutritive agar (Bakker, 1961). This may have dispersed a majority of the waste away from the top food-containing layer where the larvae had to feed. Consequently, the near-absence of waste would make competition almost purely exploitative.

This reasoning may explain the success of several models, including our base model, in capturing patterns of data seen by Bakker in his studies. The exploitation type of competition was confounded by Bakker with the term "scramble" (Bakker, 1969), which was described originally to mean incomplete success in competition (Nicholson, 1954). In her model, de Jong

(1976) described *Drosophila* competition as scramble + exploitative, i.e., the outcome of larval competition would lead to incomplete success for the survivors as a majority would not feed optimally, and even dying larvae would consume non-zero food. This incomplete success would be expected to come about through purely exploitative action – the larvae would not affect directly or indirectly the feeding process of other larvae (de Jong, 1976).

However, once larvae face increasing concentrations of metabolic waste, as is expected under crowded conditions in homogenous food media, competition may no longer be purely exploitative. Excreted larval waste, which potentially affects the survival and/or development of all competing individuals (Botella et al., 1985), adds elements of indirect interference (Park, 1954; Birch, 1957; de Jong, 1976) into the process of competition (also see Weisbrot, 1966; Dawood and Strickberger, 1969). This could differentially affect individuals, and thus add a new dimension to larval competitive ability (Shiotsugu et al., 1997; Borash et al., 1998). We suspect that *Drosophila* larval competition in most laboratory scenarios would be scramble type with components of both exploitation as well as indirect interference.

A reduction in bite rate would be expected to delay overall development time of the larva under any condition where waste is high. This reasoning follows from discussion by Botella et al. (1985), whose study demonstrated higher waste conditions due to crowding leading to elongated egg to adult development times. We also know from previous larval crowding work that average development time tends to increase under crowded conditions (Sang, 1949; González-Candelas et al., 1990; Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2,b). Mechanistically, this would make sense if a larva has to slow down its bite rate in order to optimally detoxify the accumulating waste within its body. To affirm this mechanism, we would need to test the feeding rate of larvae in food laced with waste products. In the current study, we did not include an actual reduction in waste levels within larvae due to detoxification, although this can certainly be implemented in the future. Moreover, this relationship between waste levels and bite rate could work independently of the knowledge that late-eclosing adults in some crowding-adapted populations evolved reduced feeding rate alongside increased waste tolerance (Borash et al., 1998), or that populations adapted to tolerate high levels of metabolic waste products such as urea or ammonia showed the evolution of lower feeding rates compared to unselected control populations (Borash et al., 2000; Bitner et al., 2021).

While introduction of waste in the simulation framework does replicate patterns seen in the experimental data to a certain extent, there is a fundamental aspect missing. Recent studies conducted by us showed that similar densities cast into different dimensions yield very different outcomes of fitness related traits (Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 5). This vital but nuanced aspect of larval competition was not captured by the base model even with the implementation of waste (fig. S4, S5).

To address this, we introduced the expanded model, which includes features that could work specifically with vial cross-section surface area and food column height characteristics (section 2.5). Under this updated framework, simulated larvae could dig into the food column while excreting waste which would saturate the top layers of food first, affecting the smaller larvae which are unable to dig too deep. These larvae would also have their own cross-section surface area. Too many larvae in a constricted cylindrical container would see their cumulative cross-section surface area exceed the relatively little accessible vial surface area, leading to competition for limited space. Ultimately, such crowded conditions could cause larvae to 'miss out' on food eaten, while also plastically increasing their bite rate as an ameliorative measure.

These incorporations led to the expanded model capturing several facets of empirical data (see Results 3.3.). In particular, simulated patterns of egg to wandering survivorship mimicked the experimental data quite well (fig. 3). Overall patterns seen in survivorship from simulated cultures having the same combination of eggs and food but cast into different cylindrical

dimensions were largely preserved (fig. 3). Similar to empirical observations, there was a lot of unused food left at the end of a simulated culture in a deeper, more constricted food column than when the same egg and food combination was present in a shallow but wider cylinder (fig. 4.a.i, 4.a.ii). The simulated food also depleted faster in wider and shallower cultures than in deeper, constricted cultures – this phenomenon yet remains to be studied experimentally. There was also an overall increase in realised bite rate seen in simulated crowded cultures (data not shown), similar to empirical data (Sarangi, 2018). Perhaps more importantly, regression patterns of survivorship as predicted by total density and effective density (fig. 5.b.i, 5.c.i) were quite consistent with empirical observations (Chapter 5). For these regressions, any contradictions of simulated data with those drawn from experiments were in the realm of low total densities, likely due to the absence of density-independent mortality in our model. Effective density in the simulations, like in the experiment, predicted egg to wandering survivorship far better than the total density (fig. 5.b.i, 5.c.i).

While some aspects of development time, represented here by time to wandering, were captured by our simulated data, exceptions were also seen (see section 3.3.). Changes in mean time to wandering along the egg number and vial surface area axes were largely similar to experimental data. However, there was a lack of congruence on the food column height axis. Mean time to wandering increased along with an increase from a very shallow food column (same total and effective density) to a moderate food column (total and effective density not similar). This pattern was consistent with experimental data. However, on increasing food column height further (greater dissimilarity between total and effective density) there was a decrease in mean time to wandering in the simulations, unlike the consistent increase seen in experimental data. This pattern of observations has been explored further in the 'Predictions' section below. Along with greater food column height increase, there was also a lack of change in survivorship (fig. 3), whereas in experimental systems it has been well established that

survivorship improves when culturing the same number of eggs along an increasing food column height (Sarangi, 2018). However, this improvement is far less than the change in survivorship when vial surface area is increased instead of food column height (Sang, 1949; Chapter 5).

4.2. Predictions

One of the primary goals of simulating a biological system, such as our current undertaking, is to make predictions beyond the domain of the existing empirical work, ultimately guiding the development of better experimental designs.

After having re-created an existing experimental design within our simulation framework, and achieving reasonable (albeit varying) congruence with empirical results, we simulated two major expansions to the existing experimental paradigm.

The first of these is straightforward. There are three easily observable outcomes of implementing larval competition – reduced egg to adult survivorship, increased mean egg to adult development time and reduced mean adult body mass at eclosion, as compared to the uncrowded conditions (Sang, 1949; Ohba, 1961 – as cited by González-Candelas et al., 1990; Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2). Of these, only the first two were studied experimentally in the factorial experimental framework in Chapter 5, and subsequently explored via simulations (fig. 3, fig. S7). Thus, we make broad predictions with respect to body mass distributions in various crowded cultures in the experimental design replicated in this study. The simulated mean and variance in dry body mass at wandering have been shown in fig. 6, fig. S9, respectively. At high surface areas, body mass decreases across increasing egg numbers (fig. 6.a.iii, vi, ix), along with an increase in variance (fig. S9.a.iii, vi, ix). At constricted surface areas there is little change in the mean or variance across egg numbers (fig. 6.a.i, iv, vii; fig. S9.a.i, iv, vii). In

deeper and constricted food columns, a similar lack of change was seen for simulated mean and variance in time to wandering (fig. S7.a.i, iv, vii; fig. S8.a.i, iv, vii), but not in empirical data (Chapter 5). For the same egg number and food volume, a simulated culture cast into a deeper and more constricted column will have, on average, greater mean and variance in dry body mass (fig. 6.a.i vs. fig. 6.a.ix; fig. S9.a.i. vs. fig. S9.a.ix).



Figure 6. Mean mass at wandering (μ g) in a large factorial simulated experiment (see Methods). S.A.: Cross-section surface area of the food column; Height: starting height of the food column.

- a) Mean mass at wandering of 30 replicates for each of the 27 simulated treatments. The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 30 replicates for each treatment. The food volume is also highlighted for each surface area and column height combination.
- b) Mean mass at wandering values for the three levels of food column height pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the orange triangle represents the mean.
- c) Mean mass at wandering values for the three levels of surface area of the food column, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the red triangle represents the mean.
- d) Mean mass at wandering values for the three levels of starting egg numbers, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the blue triangle represents the mean.

The simulations perhaps have a unique situation wherein crowded cultures with lower surface areas have relatively unchanged development time and body mass of survivors across increasing egg numbers. This occurs along with a large reduction in survivorship. In empirical data, this pattern was observed at lower heights, but not at the 15 mm height (Chapter 5).

The second major prediction is with respect to the treatment levels used for the same total density. We implemented a total density of 200 eggs/mL across various combinations of eggs and food volume, resulting in a deeper and constricted food column, or a shallow and wide column (as seen in figure. 5.a). The simulated scenarios ranged from 100 eggs in 0.5 mL food, up to 1000 eggs in 5 mL food (fig. 7). We avoided predicting beyond these limits, as other factors such as humidity, or the lack thereof, are likely to become important at very constricted or very wide and shallow food columns. Within the limits seen, there is no change predicted in egg to wandering survivorship or mean time to wandering for increasing surface area (i.e.,

keeping total density and effective density the same) (fig. 7). When the change in food volume is via column height, egg to wandering survivorship is predicted to decrease consistently with increasing egg number and food volume (fig. 7.a). There is an interesting pattern seen in mean time to wandering – as the food volume increases, the mean time to wandering increases, peaks at 400 eggs in 2 mL food, and reduces to a middle value at higher egg numbers and food volumes, with a slight increase seen with increasing egg and food volumes (fig. 7.b). This is also observed in fig. 5.a.ii, wherein the time to wandering at 400 eggs in 2 mL was greater than in 600 eggs in 3 mL food.



Figure 7. Simulations predicting multiple treatment combinations achieving a total density of 200 eggs/mL. This is an extrapolation of the cultures considered in figure 5.a. The figure shows a) egg to wandering survivorship and b) mean time to wandering for the extended design. The X-axis labels show egg number (shorthand 'e') and food volume (mL) combination used for every treatment pair (see legend). The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 10 replicates per culture type.

This pattern likely occurs in the simulation because in a culture with 400 eggs constricted into a narrow column with 2 mL food, there is not enough waste accumulated to kill all the larvae as the waste permeates downwards, leading to several waste resistant larvae surviving much later into the life of the culture. Due to the relatively high numbers and lower surface area, there is also enough initial space crowding present such that there would be a further delay in development time. Upon increasing the egg numbers more than 400, the resultant increase in waste levels would kill a majority of the larvae which could have otherwise survived later into the culture if waste concentrations were lower, leading to an overall shorter mean time to wandering (also see Discussion 4.3.1.).

These traditional predictions from our simulations are fairly conservative, taking a cautious approach in expanding upon known empirical regimes, instead of making more general claims e.g., on the ecology and evolution of larval competitive ability in *Drosophila* as a whole, or on interspecific competition, or on natural systems.

The reason for our conservative outlook on ecological predictions is due to our novel predictions for mechanisms. This, we feel, is the most important test for the model – designing experiments to test the mechanisms predicted in this model would validate more general predictions that we may make in the future. Elucidation of the underlying mechanisms of larval competition under different contexts with respect to the effective density of cultures would then

further inform the simulation framework, and be used to make more robust ecological and evolutionary predictions.

The formulation of this simulation framework compelled us to peer inside the black box of larval competition, and we found the knowledge of mechanisms wanting. While some traits such as bite rates, egg mass, hatching time and minimum critical mass were fairly well studied and defined, most of our 'self-defined' traits (Tables 2-4) were deigned to be so because we did not find any relevant studies that had explored the exact mechanisms or measurements of these traits. These are particularly true for traits, as well as phenomena, used in the expanded model (section 2.5; Tables 4, 5). The mechanisms assumed in our simulations should be good starting points for exploration of these hitherto unexplored traits and characteristics relevant to crowded systems, as they yield a sufficient fit to empirical data. Of greatest import are understanding the following:

- a) The complete content, and build-up of metabolic and other egested waste products, as well as their effects on larval feeding behaviour in various kinds of crowded cultures. Knowledge of the mean and variance of waste conversion from food would also be useful when comparing uncrowded and crowding-adapted populations.
- b) The overall mechanism by which crowding for limited surface area may occur, as well as its effects on larval feeding behaviour.
- c) The dynamics of larval digging the mean and variance in larval length and digging distance achieved under various scenarios of crowding.
- d) The overall phenomenon of waste permeation and/or diffusion does waste predominantly saturate layer by layer, or does it travel down the food column and settle at the bottom? We did try to implement the latter process in our framework, but the

patterns in our simulation results (data not shown) did not capture those seen in empirical data.

So far, none of the points listed above have been pursued experimentally in larval crowding systems, to our knowledge.

We think that further additions and modifications to the mechanisms and traits of the current simulation framework would make more sense once some (if not all) of the implemented mechanisms are empirically better understood. We would, however, be remiss not to credit authors who, several decades prior to our work, made observations or speculations regarding most phenomena and behaviours explored in the current study (Sang, 1949; Bakker, 1961; Gilpin, 1974; Botella et al., 1985; Moya and Castro, 1986; Bierbaum et al., 1989; Mueller, 1990; Chippindale et al., 1994; Sokolowski et al., 1997; Sarangi et al., 2016; Sarangi, 2018).

4.3. Drawbacks and possible quirks of the simulation framework

4.3.1. Discrepancies with data

Currently, most of the major discrepancies of simulated results with respect to empirical data lie at high levels of crowding coupled with deep food columns. In simulations, there is no change in survivorship for the same egg number in increasing volumes of food beyond a certain height (fig. 3.a, 3.b). Meanwhile, the simulated time to wandering follows a non-linear pattern across increasing food column heights, both with the same egg number (fig. S7.a.i, iv, vii) as well as proportionately increasing egg numbers (fig. 5.a.ii, fig. 7b) – showing the lowest development time at the lowest food volume, then increasing at moderate volume, then coming to a middle value at a higher volume. In experiments, both survivorship and development time increase for the same number of eggs and increasing food column heights (Chapter 5). There are two possibilities here -a) either we failed to capture the effect of food column height on a crowded culture, or b) we captured the overall pattern but could not capture the corresponding levels of height at which the pattern unfolds. These can be addressed through an expanded experimental design – increasing food volume through several levels of column height while keeping the number of eggs the same. If a) is correct, then both survivorship and development time will likely keep increasing with increasing height (or development time may not change beyond a certain height). However, if b) is correct, there should be no change in survivorship and/or a decrease in development time beyond a certain height. The latter would mean that our simulations captured the overall patterns of the effects of changing food column height, but did not match the dimensions of experimental culture vials correctly. For testing congruence of empirical development time with simulated data, an experiment using uniform total density across several levels of increasing egg numbers and food column heights may also suffice.

The lack of congruence with the outcomes of crowding on changing food column height also creates some discrepancies with data from other studies besides the experiment of Chapter 5. We know from previous studies (Sarangi, 2018) the survivorship, pre-adult development time and body mass patterns in cultures crowded at 600 eggs in 1.5 mL food (400 mm² vials), 1200 eggs in 3 mL food (400 mm² vials), and 1200 eggs in 6 mL food (350 mm² vials). While the survivorship data is well captured by the simulations at 600 eggs, 1.5 mL food, there is only a slight reduction in survivorship when doubling the egg number and food volume in our simulations (data not shown), whereas in experiments there is >10% reduction in survivorship (Sarangi 2018). More incongruent are the data from 1200 eggs in 6 mL food – while survivorship is the lowest amongst the three types of cultures in our simulations (data not shown), it is similar to survivorship in 600 eggs in 1.5 mL food, in experiments. This clearly shows the importance of the effect of food column height on survivorship, which does not seem

to be captured in our simulation framework beyond a point. However, mean time to wandering and mean mass at eclosion patterns in the respective simulated cultures are very much in line with experimental data (data not shown).

These discrepancies likely happen due to the mechanism of waste permeation considered by us. Given a certain number of eggs and a certain vial surface area, the pattern of waste permeation is likely to be very similar across all but the lowest food column heights. This once again highlights the need for future studies on waste permeation mechanisms and its effects on larval feeding.

An important aspect that has been seen in crowded cultures in 400 mm² vials containing food ≥ 2 mL is the distribution of mass at eclosion across the development time window. Adult mass is maximum for the earliest eclosing flies; those flies eclosing at the middle of the distribution have lower mass; and finally, the last eclosing flies have increased mass, similar to the early eclosing flies (Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2). This pattern of experimental data is likely indicative of some detoxification mechanism in late feeding larvae, or some diffusion of waste away from the feeding band – both of which have not been incorporated in the simulations. Thus, in simulated crowded cultures, while the earliest wandering larvae (and hence eclosing adults) do have the maximum mass, all subsequent wanderers are much smaller, with no larva with delayed development time having increased mass (data not shown).

Finally, while there are several aspects of empirical data that have been successfully captured by our work despite the discrepancies, we do not yet know whether our 'best-guesses' employed here actually replicate the process of competition, or if they are simply approximating empirical consequences through non-biological causes. In either case, further experimentation using the leads from the current study are likely to yield greater understanding of the ecology and mechanism of larval competition.

4.3.2. Some additional features of the simulation that may have biological relevance

The following features (or quirks) of our simulation may be worth exploring, for they may represent important real-world relationships.

The first is the effect of waste on the outcome of crowding. We have observed that each time any waste is present in the base model, it becomes the predominant factor controlling the outcome of the culture (fig. S2). The larvae with the highest waste tolerance are the only ones that survive when faced with any amount of waste. No other larvae can survive regardless of any other trait advantage they may possess (data not shown). We know that a host of traits besides waste tolerance can evolve under experiments on adaptation to larval crowding (section 1.1). Thus, it is unlikely that waste is either this prominent or ever-present. As a possible answer to this, the incorporation of waste permeation in our simulations delayed the exposure of waste to most larvae, thus painting what might be a realistic picture for the role of waste in larval competition. It may also be possible that, in reality, the effects of waste on larvae are completely different from what was implemented in our simulations. Elucidating this possibility would require further experimentation.

Secondly, in order to get any realistic result, efficiency could not be plastically reduced due to high waste or high crowding, such as was done with bite rate or food eaten (section 2.4.5.3; 2.5.1). Any time efficiency was reduced, the larvae under crowded conditions even in relatively high volumes of food rapidly depleted all remaining food without converting most of it to growth. This led to almost no survivorship with completely depleted food from initially high food column lengths – a situation that has not yet been observed empirically. Thus, while greater efficiency may play a vital role in faster larval growth (section 1.1, fig. 1), and be selected for under certain situations of crowding, it may be unlikely to reduce plastically to large degrees under any crowding stress (assuming this feature of the simulation is realistic).

An additional feature is 'crowding' as defined in the expanded model (section 2.5.1), wherein we predicted the potential importance of the space occupied by larvae (measured in terms of cross-section surface area) and its changing dynamics with the overall accessible space in the feeding band. In the simulations, this feature was of central importance in the outcome of a crowded larval culture (fig. 4.ci, cii). A question that arises from this is whether high surface area occupancy is what represents 'true' larval crowding – which would mean that a crowded larval culture is only crowded for a period of time. True crowding may not be occurring initially and especially towards the end of a culture, due to increased availability of food surface area to the larvae (fig. 4.c; also discussed in Sokolowski et al., 1997). Depending on the vial surface area and the number of eggs seeded, the dynamics of crowding as defined here may be central to predicting the outcomes of competition among larvae.

4.4. Looking ahead

4.4.1. Factors left to incorporate

Before concluding, we wish to note several traits, characteristics and behaviours we omitted from our simulation framework, in order to keep it from becoming more complex than it already was. To start with the most well documented characteristic, we decided to remove larval instars from consideration. While earlier versions of our framework did have an implementation of instars (S. Venkitachalam and A. Joshi, *unpublished*), it was unclear if the simulations benefitted from the added feature. It is known that both feeding rate and bite mass can increase continuously over the period of larval growth (Santos et al., 1997; Robertson, 1963, respectively), rather than in discrete steps corresponding with instars. According to Bakker (1961), instar moulting episodes could possibly be relevant in terms of enforcing time away from feeding that could be detrimental to a larva's competitive ability (see Green et al., 1983).

Another characteristic that we have not incorporated is the possibility of drowning of larvae under limited surface-area crowding in cultures with deep food columns. Given that there is limited space under such conditions, it is likely that there would be scope for larval collisions (Gilpin, 1974), and deep digging larvae may be blocked from access to air altogether, resulting in them drowning. This may be an important 'disoperative factor' (see Bakker, 1961) in reducing survival under high feeding-band density conditions, while drowning resistance could be a trait to counter it.

There is likely great room for exploration of the ecology and evolution of larval digging behaviour under crowded conditions. Recent studies have highlighted the possibility of 'cooperative digging' in *Drosophila* larvae (Dombrovski et al., 2017, 2019), and it remains to be seen if such phenomena are observed in our laboratory populations. Additional related questions also arise – whether such digging phenomena can show plasticity under different scenarios of crowding and whether the level of synchronicity in digging behaviour can evolve under selection for high-feeding band density coupled with deep food columns. The potency of enzymes such as salivary amylase secreted by digging larvae which can help break down the food substrate for easier consumption (Gregg et al., 1990; Sakaguchi and Suzuki, 2013), or rate of the physical breakdown of food by larval mouthparts (Burnet et al., 1977), are each potential candidate traits for the action of selection under crowded conditions.

Finally, in shallow food columns with high larval density, food can run out, leading to larval death (Sarangi et al., 2016; Chapter 2; see fig. 4a.i). When food runs out, we have caused the simulated larvae to instantly commit to wandering in case they have crossed the threshold minimum critical mass to pupation. However, real-world larvae may instead attempt to seek

out food through increased locomotion (Green et al., 1983; but see Ruiz-Dubreuil et al., 1996) and arrest their development for several hours if they run out of food. The latter is the mechanism described for the phenomenon of 'larval stop' observed in earlier studies (Ménsua and Moya, 1983), which has not yet been incorporated in our simulation framework. It is additionally worth pointing out that the presence of large amounts of waste (Botella et al., 1985), or high surface area crowding can also possibly slow down development time under crowded conditions and lead to 'larval stop' like phenomena.

4.4.2. Future expansions of the model

4.4.2.1. An evolutionary extension of the single generation framework

Understanding the importance of different traits under various scenarios of larval crowding would involve the extension of the current simulation framework into a multigenerational model. This would allow the study of evolutionary consequences of rearing larvae in given culture conditions. In this extended framework, the wandering larvae would end up as adults, mate and produce offspring with some rules of inheritance, perhaps a simple additive model for quantitative traits to begin with. For a given crowding regime, the offspring produced from multiple replicates at a single generation would be mixed and resampled into new cultures subjected to the same crowded regime, forming the next generation. This endeavour is currently underway (see Venkitachalam (2017) for a preliminary version of this model).

4.4.2.2. Traits likely to evolve across different types of cultures

As a first pass to predicting the traits that might be important in different kinds of crowded cultures, we have plotted the trait distributions of surviving and dying individuals (fig. S10) in two types of cultures – sharing the same number of eggs (600) in the same volume of food (3 mL) but cast into different types of cylinders ('shallow' or 'deep' – see fig. 4, S10). A brief overview of our findings is as follows:

Traits conferring initial advantage:

There were no discernible differences between surviving and dying individuals in terms of their hatching times, in either shallow or deep cultures (fig. S10.1.). Experimentally, reduced hatching time has evolved in some crowding adapted populations, but the extent of differences was less than an hour (Chapter 3). It is likely that this is not observed in simulations due to the 1-hour minimum resolution used in our simulations and low between-larva variation in hatching time (Table 1.a)

Large differences were observed between surviving and dying individuals in terms of both their egg lengths and egg widths, with survivors having larger eggs on average (fig. S10.2; S10.3). This difference was more exaggerated in case of the deep-type culture (fig. S10.2.aii, bii; S10.3.aii, bii), with most of the early surviving individuals having greater egg lengths and widths (fig. S10.2.cii; S10.3.cii). In the simulation, it is likely that an initial mass advantage is critical to surviving and feeding in the more intensely crowded 'deep' type of culture, wherein hatched eggs have to immediately face crowded conditions. Interestingly, a recent study by us showed that greater egg length and width evolved in three different sets of crowding-adapted populations compared to low density reared controls, with the largest eggs being found in the cultures adapted to high effective densities with deep food columns (Chapter 3).

Traits conferring growth rate advantage:

Initial bite rate was higher among survivors of both types of simulated cultures (fig. S10.4). However, the extent of difference between bite rate of surviving and dying individuals was greater in the shallow type culture (fig. S10.4.a.i). This may be due to the simulated shallow type cultures having a greater scope for larval growth in the initial period of absence of crowded conditions (fig. 4.c.i). In selection experiments, populations reared in crowded conditions similar to the shallow type cultures did not evolve greater feeding rate than controls when assayed singly (Nagarajan et al., 2016; Sarangi et al., 2016). In contrast, survivors of the shallow simulated cultures would be expected to evolve higher bite rate, which would be visible regardless of culture conditions.

A similar pattern as initial bite rate was also seen for mean efficiency in simulations (fig. S10.7.). However, it is unknown if populations evolved in cultures resembling the shallow type have greater food to biomass conversion efficiency. Populations adapted to cultures similar to the deep type evolved lower efficiency than the controls, which may have been due to trade-offs between food acquisition and food utilization in the particular cultures studied (Mueller, 1990; Joshi and Mueller, 1996).

End stage related traits:

Surviving individuals in the shallow-type simulated culture had lower minimum critical mass than the dying ones (fig. S9.a.i), whereas no clear pattern emerged for the deep-type culture (fig. S9.a.ii). Till date, no crowding-adapted population from any selection experiment has been shown to evolve reduced minimum critical mass to pupation, but recent studies have indicated that some crowding adapted populations, particularly those reared in cultures similar to the shallow type, may have evolved smaller mass at uncrowded conditions (Sarangi, 2018; Chapter 2) – it is yet to be established whether these differences have a link to reduced minimum critical mass.

Both shallow and deep type simulated cultures showed slight differences between surviving and dying individuals in terms of their waste tolerance (fig. S10), with perhaps a greater difference in deep type culture (fig. S10.a). However, the more prominent results were visible in the time dependence of waste tolerance. While early survivors did not have any pattern in terms of their waste tolerance (fig. S10.c), there was a clear linear pattern for the same in dying individuals at later time stages. The early dying individuals had lower waste tolerance, with late dying ones having greater waste tolerance (fig. S10.c). Among these deaths, a few survivors were also present, usually possessing slightly higher waste tolerance than dying larvae at that time step. In the simulations, the larval deaths were exclusively due to high waste concentration, and fig. S10c shows the time at which the waste got intolerable for many small larvae. Of note is also the observation that the larval death occurred earlier and in a smaller time window in the shallow type culture than in the deep type culture (fig. S10c). Experimentally, waste tolerance evolved primarily in populations adapted to cultures resembling the deep type of culture, and particularly in the late eclosing individuals of those populations (Borash et al., 1998; but see Nagarajan, 2009 and Sarangi, 2018 for some contrasting points).

Traits from the expanded model – crowding and digging:

The deep type simulated cultures had stark differences among survivors and dying individuals in terms of their crowding threshold (fig. S10.5.aii, bii), and slight differences in terms of peak crowding bite rate (fig. S10.6.aii, bii). The survivors appeared to detect crowding at lower thresholds and fed at higher bite rates under crowding compared to those individuals that perished. Smaller differences existed in the shallow type culture in terms of crowding threshold (fig. S10.5.ai, bi), and almost none in terms of peak crowding bite rate (fig. S10.6.ai, bi). This highlights the importance of amelioration of the detrimental effects of crowding in the deep type culture, which faces much higher feeding band densities and thus greater crowding for limited space (fig. 4.c.ii). Surprisingly, in selection experiments, the evolution of increased feeding rate visible as a plastic response to crowding occurred most drastically in populations reared in cultures similar to the shallow type (Sarangi, 2018). We speculate that this could be due to some limit to the plastic increase in feeding rate, which may be capped at lower effective densities, and further crowding would reduce this plastic increase. However, further experimentation on feeding rates at different effective densities is critical to addressing this conundrum.

There was not much difference observable among surviving and dying individuals in terms of their digging length multiplier in the simulated shallow type culture (fig. S10.11.ai, bi). Survivors in the deep culture appeared to have slightly higher respective digging multipliers (fig. S10.11.aii, bii). This is plausible, as digging is likely to be more important in the deep food columns. This difference was probably not as drastic as was seen for other traits, perhaps because larval growth in simulations was a primary determinant of digging length – as long as a larva grew enough to avoid the upper waste-saturated layers, the digging length multiplier would likely only confer slight advantages on average.

4.4.2.3. Exploring population dynamics

We may additionally also carry out various population dynamics experiments using our simulation framework. Unlike in the abovementioned multi-generation extension, each population culture would have a given food volume in a given cylinder, but there would be no control over egg numbers laid each generation. For a given population, the number of eggs laid each generation would instead depend on the number of adults as well as their fecundity (for some such experiments, see Mueller et al., 2000; Dey et al., 2012; Pandey and Joshi, 2022a,b). Recently, it has been observed that populations reared under different combinations of food volumes, total densities and effective densities can evolve different degrees of constancy and persistence stability in their population dynamics (Pandey and Joshi, 2022a,b). Simulations would allow the investigation of dynamics induced in several different types of cultures, which may not be possible empirically due to logistical limitations.

A recent simulation study achieved significant congruence with an experimental population dynamics paradigm (Tung et al., 2019). Survivorship and mass distributions at low and high

food levels in the population dynamics experiment were successfully predicted by Tung et al. (2019), based on earlier studies following up on Bakker's findings (Bakker, 1961; Nunney, 1983; Mueller, 1988b). As their population dynamics experiment was run on set generation times, development time changes due to various egg numbers in limiting food may not be as important in predicting the larval stage outcomes every generation.

Future population dynamics experiments may be carried out to explore if predictions by Tung et al. (2019) can hold in different paradigms exploring various vial surface areas and food column lengths. Integration of some findings of our current study may be important with the earlier model in order to carry out further predictions in more nuanced setups.

In both multi-generation extensions as well as population dynamics simulations from our current study, it may be important to consider a potentially important caveat – even slight deviations from empirical reality in a causal model such as ours could snowball across multiple generations, leading to large deviations when making ultimate predictions. Despite this caveat, however, both the avenues of future studies could respectively direct important experiments for long term selection, or population dynamics, thus leading to a greater understanding of the ecology of competition and the evolution of competitive ability – ultimately rendering the theory of density-dependent selection both more robust and more nuanced.

References

Alpatov, W.W., 1929. Growth and variation of the larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Exp. Zool. 52, 407–437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1400520303</u>

Bakker, K., 1959. Feeding period, growth, and pupation in larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Ent. Exp. Appl. 2, 171–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1570-7458.1959.tb00432.x</u>

Bakker, K., 1961. An analysis of factors which determine success in competition for food among larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Arch. Neerl. Zool. 14, 200–281. https://doi.org/10.1163/036551661x00061

Bakker, K., 1969. Selection for rate of growth and its influence on competitive ability of larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Neth. J. Zool. 19, 541–595. https://doi.org/10.1163/002829669X00035

Beadle, G.W., Tatum, E.L., Clancy, C.W., 1938. Food level in relation to rate of development and eye pigmentation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Biol. Bull. 75, 447–462. https://doi.org/10.2307/1537573

Bentvelzen, P., 1964. Some interrelations between density and genetic structure of a *Drosophila* population. Genetica 34, 229–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01664192</u>

Bierbaum, T.J., Mueller, L.D., Ayala, F.J., 1989. Density-dependent evolution of life-history traits in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Evolution 43, 382–392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.1989.tb04234.x</u>

Birch, L.C., 1957. The Meanings of Competition. Am. Nat. 91, 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1086/281957 Bitner, K., Rutledge, G.A., Kezos, J.N., Mueller, L.D., 2021. The effects of adaptation to urea on feeding rates and growth in *Drosophila* larvae. Ecol. Evol. 11, 9516–9529. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7770

Borash, D.J., Gibbs, A.G., Joshi, A., Mueller, L.D., 1998. A genetic polymorphism maintained by natural selection in a temporally varying environment. Am. Nat. 151, 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1086/286108

Borash, D.J., Shimada, M., 2001. Genetics of larval urea and ammonia tolerance and cross-tolerance in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 86, 658–667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-</u>2540.2001.00858.x

Borash, D.J., Teotonio, H, Rose, M.R., Mueller, L.D., 2000. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: correlations between feeding rate, development time and viability. J. Evol. Biol. 13, 181–187. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1420-9101.2000.00167.x

Botella, L.M., Moya, A., González, M.C., Ménsua, J.L., 1985. Larval stop, delayed development and survival in overcrowded cultures of *Drosophila melanogaster*: Effect of urea and uric acid. J. Insect Physiol. 31, 179–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(85)90118-0

Burnet, B., Sewell, D., Bos, M., 1977. Genetic analysis of larval feeding behaviour in *Drosophila melanogaster*: II. Growth relations and competition between selected lines. Genet. Res. 30, 149–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0016672300017559</u>

Chiang, H.C., Hodson, A.C., 1950. An analytical study of population growth in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Ecol. Monogr. 20, 173–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1948580</u>

Chippindale, A.K., Hoang, D.T., Service, P.M., Rose, M.R., 1994. The evolution of development in *Drosophila melanogaster* selected for postponed senescence. Evolution 48, 1880–1899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.1994.tb02221.x</u>
Dawood, M.M., Strickberger, M.W., 1969. The effect of larval interaction on viability in *Drosophila melanogaster*. III. Effects of biotic residues. Genetics 63, 213–220. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/63.1.213

De Jong, G., 1976. A model of competition for food. I. Frequency-dependent viabilities. Am. Nat. 110, 1013–1027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/283124</u>

de Miranda, J.R., Eggleston, P., 1988. Larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. I. Estimation of larval growth parameters. Heredity 60, 205–212. https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1988.33

de Miranda, J.R., Hemmat, M., Eggleston, P., 1991. The competition diallel and the exploitation and interference components of larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 66, 333–342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1991.42</u>

Dey, S., Bose, J., Joshi, A., 2012. Adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila ananassae* leads to the evolution of population stability. Ecol. Evol. 2, 941–951. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.227

Dombrovski, M., Poussard, L., Moalem, K., Kmecova, L., Hogan, N., Schott, E., Vaccari, A., Acton, S., Condron, B., 2017. Cooperative behavior emerges among *Drosophila* larvae. Curr. Biol. 27, 2821-2826.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.07.054

Dombrovski, M., Kim, A., Poussard, L., Vaccari, A., Acton, S., Spillman, E., Condron, B., Yuan, Q., 2019. A plastic visual pathway regulates cooperative behavior in *Drosophila* larvae. Curr. Biol. 29, 1866-1876.e5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.04.060</u>

Gale, J.S., 1964. Competition between three lines of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 19, 681–699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1964.78</u>

Gilpin, M.E., 1974. Intraspecific competition between *Drosophila* larvae in serial transfer systems. Ecology 55, 1154–1159. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1940367</u>

González-Candelas, F., Ménsua, J.L., Moya, A., 1990. Larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*: effects on development time. Genetica 82, 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00057671

Green, C.H., Burnet, B., Connolly, K.J., 1983. Organization and patterns of inter- and intraspecific variation in the behaviour of *Drosophila* larvae. Anim. Behav. 31, 282–291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(83)80198-5</u>

Gregg, T.G., McCrate, A., Reveal, G., Hall, S., Rypstra, A.L., 1990. Insectivory and social digestion in *Drosophila*. Biochem. Genet. 28, 197–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00561337</u>

Harris, C.R., Millman, K.J., van der Walt, S.J., Gommers, R., Virtanen, P., Cournapeau, D., Wieser, E. et al. 2020. Array programming with NumPy. Nature 585, 357–362. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2649-2

Hunter, J.D., 2007. Matplotlib: A 2D graphics environment. Comput. Sci. Eng. 9, 90–95. https://doi.org/10.1109/MCSE.2007.55.

Jansen, V.A.A., Sevenster, J.G., 1997. An individual-based model for competing *Drosophila* populations. Popul. Ecol. 39, 215–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02765268</u>

Joshi, A., Castillo, R.B., Mueller, L.D., 2003. The contribution of ancestry, chance, and past and ongoing selection to adaptive evolution. J. Genet. 82, 147–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02715815

Joshi, A., Mueller, L.D., 1988. Evolution of higher feeding rate in *Drosophila* due to densitydependent natural selection. Evolution 42, 1090-1093. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2408924</u>

Joshi, A., Mueller, L.D., 1996. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: trade-offs between larval food acquisition and utilization. Evol. Ecol. 10, 463–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01237879 Joshi, A., Mueller, L. D., 1997. Adult crowding effects on longevity in *Drosophila melanogaster*: increase in age-independent mortality. Curr. Sci. 72, 255–260. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24098593

Joshi, A., Prasad, N.G., Shakarad, M., 2001. *K*-selection, α -selection, effectiveness, and tolerance in competition: density-dependent selection revisited. J. Genet. 80, 63–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02728332

Joshi, A., Wu, W.-P., Mueller, L.D., 1998. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: Adaptation to adult crowding. Evol. Ecol. 12, 363–376. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006508418493

Kaznowski, C.E., Schneiderman, H.A., Bryant, P.J., 1985. Cuticle secretion during larval growth in *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. of Insect Physiol. 31, 801–813. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1910(85)90073-3

Kearsey, M.J., 1965. The interaction of competition and food supply in two lines of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 20, 169–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1965.29</u>

Kuraishi, T., Kenmoku, H., Kurata, S., 2015. From mouth to anus: Functional and structural relevance of enteric neurons in the *Drosophila melanogaster* gut. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 67, 21–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibmb.2015.07.003</u>

MacArthur, R.H., 1962. Some generalized theorems of natural selection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 48, 1893-1897. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.48.11.1893</u>

MacArthur, R.H., Wilson, E.O., 1967. The theory of island biogeography. Princeton university press, Princeton.

Mather, K., Caligari, P.D.S., 1981. Competitive interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*. II. Measurement of competition. Heredity 46, 239–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1981.31</u>

Ménsua, J.L., Moya, A., 1983. Stopped development in overcrowded cultures of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 51, 347–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1983.39</u>

Moya, A., Castro, J.A., 1986. Larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*: the model of the bands of density. Oikos 47, 280-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3565438</u>

Mueller, L.D., Graves, J.L., Rose, M.R., 1993. Interactions between density-dependent and age-specific selection in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Funct. Ecol. 7, 469-479. https://doi.org/10.2307/2390034

Mueller, L.D., 1988a. Evolution of competitive ability in *Drosophila* by density-dependent natural selection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85, 4383–4386. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.85.12.4383

Mueller, L.D., 1988b. Density-dependent population growth and natural selection in foodlimited environments: the *Drosophila* model. Am. Nat. 132, 786–809. https://doi.org/10.1086/284890

Mueller, L.D., 1990. Density-dependent natural selection does not increase efficiency. Evol. Ecol. 4, 290–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02270928</u>

Mueller, L.D., 1997. Theoretical and empirical examination of density-dependent selection. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 28, 269–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.28.1.269</u>

Mueller, L.D., 2009. Fitness, demography, and population dynamics in laboratory experiments,in: Experimental evolution: concepts, methods and applications of selection experiments (ed.T. Garland Jr. and M. R. Rose). University of California Press, Berkeley, pp. 197–216.

Mueller, L.D., Ayala, F.J., 1981. Trade-off between *r*-selection and *K*-selection in *Drosophila* populations. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78, 1303–1305. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.78.2.1303 Mueller, L.D., Barter, T.T., 2015. A model of the evolution of larval feeding rate in *Drosophila* driven by conflicting energy demands. Genetica 143, 93–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10709-015-9818-5</u>

Mueller, L.D., Joshi, A., Borash, D.J., 2000. Does population stability evolve? Ecology 81, 1273–1285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[1273:DPSE]2.0.CO;2</u>

Nagarajan, A., 2009. The genetic architecture of fitness-related traits in populations of three species of *Drosophila* subjected to selection for adaptation to larval crowding. Ph.D. thesis, Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bengaluru, India. https://libjncir.jncasr.ac.in/jspui/handle/10572/756

Nagarajan, A., Natarajan, S.B., Jayaram, M., Thammanna, A., Chari, S., Bose, J., Jois, S.V., Joshi, A., 2016. Adaptation to larval crowding in *Drosophila ananassae* and *Drosophila nasuta nasuta*: increased larval competitive ability without increased larval feeding rate. J. Genet. 95, 411–425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-016-0655-9</u>

Nicholson, A.J., 1954. An outline of the dynamics of animal populations. Aust. J. Zool. 2, 9– 65. https://doi.org/10.1071/ZO9540009

Nunney, L., 1983. Sex differences in larval competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*: the testing of a competition model and its relevance to frequency-dependent selection. Am. Nat. 121, 67–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/284040</u>

Ohnishi, S., 1976. Effects of population density and temperature condition on fitness in *Drosophila melanogaster*: I. Developmental time and pre-adult viability. Jpn. J. Genet. 51, 19–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1266/jjg.51.19</u>

Pandey, N., Joshi, A., 2022a. Density-dependent selection at low food levels leads to the evolution of population stability in *Drosophila melanogaster* even without a clear r - K trade-off (bioRxiv). <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.04.494799</u>

Pandey, N., Joshi, A., 2022b. Density-dependent selection at high food levels leads to the evolution of persistence but not constancy in *Drosophila melanogaster* populations (bioRxiv). https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.05.494854

Park, T., 1954. Experimental studies of interspecies competition ii. temperature, humidity, and competition in two species of *Tribolium*. Physiol. Zool. 27, 177–238. https://doi.org/10.1086/physzool.27.3.30152164

Prasad, N.G., Joshi, A., 2003. What have two decades of laboratory life-history evolution studies on *Drosophila melanogaster* taught us? J. Genet. 82, 45–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02715881

Robertson, F.W., 1963. The ecological genetics of growth in *Drosophila*. 6. The genetic correlation between the duration of the larval period and body size in relation to larval diet. Genet. Res. 4, 74–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S001667230000344X</u>

Ruiz-Dubreuil, G., Burnet, B., Connolly, K., Furness, P., 1996. Larval foraging behaviour and competition in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Heredity 76, 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1996.7

Sakaguchi, H., Suzuki, M.G., 2013. *Drosophila melanogaster* larvae control amylase secretion according to the hardness of food. Front. Physiol. 4. 200. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2013.00200

Sang, J.H., 1949. The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture. III. Larval and pupal survival. Physiol. Zool. 22, 183–202. https://doi.org/10.1086/physzool.22.3.30152044

Santos, M., Borash, D.J., Joshi, A., Bounlutay, N., Mueller, L.D., 1997. Density-dependent natural selection in *Drosophila*: evolution of growth rate and body size. Evolution 51, 420–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.1997.tb02429.x</u>

Santos, M., Fowler, K., Partridge, L., 1992. On the use of tester stocks to predict the competitive ability of genotypes. Heredity 69, 489–495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1992.163</u> Sarangi, M., 2018. Ecological details mediate different paths to the evolution of larval competitive ability in *Drosophila*. Ph.D. thesis, Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bengaluru, India. <u>https://libjncir.jncasr.ac.in/jspui/handle/10572/2722</u>

Sarangi, M., Nagarajan, A., Dey, S., Bose, J., Joshi, A., 2016. Evolution of increased larval competitive ability in *Drosophila melanogaster* without increased larval feeding rate. J. Genet. 95, 491–503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-016-0656-8</u>

Seaton, A.P.C., Antonovics, J., 1967. Population inter-relationships I. Evolution in mixtures of *Drosophila* mutants. Heredity 22, 19–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1967.2</u>

Sewell, D., Burnet, B., Connolly, K., 1974. Genetic analysis of larval feeding behaviour in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Genet. Res. 24, 163–173. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0016672300015196

Shiotsugu, J., Leroi, A.M., Yashiro, H., Rose, M.R., Mueller, L.D., 1997. The symmetry of correlated selection responses in adaptive evolution: an experimental study using *Drosophila*. Evolution 51, 163–172. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.1997.tb02397.x

Sokolowski, M.B., Pereira, H.S., Hughes, K., 1997. Evolution of foraging behavior in *Drosophila* by density-dependent selection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 94, 7373–7377. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.14.7373

Tung, S., Rajamani, M., Joshi, A., Dey, S., 2019. Complex interaction of resource availability, life-history and demography determines the dynamics and stability of stage-structured populations. J. Theor. Biol. 460, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2018.10.019</u>

Van Rossum, G., Drake, F.L., 2009. Python 3 Reference Manual. CreateSpace, Scotts Valley, California.

Venkitachalam, S., 2017. An individual-based model for simulating the ecological and evolutionary dynamics of *Drosophila* cultures under different scenarios of larval crowding. M.S. thesis, Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bengaluru, India. https://libjncir.jncasr.ac.in/jspui/handle/10572/2632

Waskom, M., Botvinnik, O., O'Kane, D., Hobson, P., Lukauskas, S., Gemperline, D.C., Augspurger, T. tt al. 2017. mwaskom/seaborn: v0.8.1 (September 2017). https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.883859

Weisbrot, D.R., 1966. Genotypic interactions among competing strains and species of *Drosophila*. Genetics 53, 427–435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/53.3.427</u>

White, J.W., Rassweiler, A., Samhouri, J.F., Stier, A.C., White, C., 2014. Ecologists should not use statistical significance tests to interpret simulation model results. Oikos 123, 385–388. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2013.01073.x

Supplementary material for chapter 6

An individual-based simulation framework exploring the ecology and mechanistic underpinnings of larval crowding in laboratory populations of *Drosophila* Figure S1. Base model, with larval crowding - waste absent:

A single replicate is represented at each point. The X-axis denotes egg numbers. A) Egg to wandering survivorship across increasing egg numbers. B) The distribution of dry mass at wandering (μ g) across increasing starting egg numbers. C) The distribution of time to wandering (hours) across increasing starting egg numbers. For the box plots in B) and C), the line within the box symbolises the median, the orange triangle symbolises the mean.



Figure S2. Base model, with larval crowding - waste present.

A single replicate is represented at each point. The X-axis denotes egg numbers. A) Egg to wandering survivorship across increasing egg numbers. B) The distribution of dry mass at wandering (μ g) across increasing starting egg numbers. C) The distribution of time to wandering (hours) across increasing starting egg numbers. For the box plots in B) and C), the line within the box symbolises the median, the orange triangle symbolises the mean.



Figure S3. Base model – waste present:

Uncrowded (70 eggs in 6 mL food; 400 mm² surface area, 15 mm height).

- a) Growth profile for 70 individuals. The solid blue line denotes the mean larval dry mass. The shaded region denotes standard deviation in larval dry mass. The dashed red line denotes the mean minimum critical mass to pupation (180 μg). Once the larvae commit to wandering, their mass remains unchanged.
- b) Time to wandering distribution. The line within the box denotes the median. The orange triangle denotes the mean.
- c) Mass at wandering distribution. The line within the box denotes the median. The orange triangle denotes the mean.



Figure S4. Base model – waste present:

Egg to wandering survivorship in a large factorial simulated experiment (see Methods).

S.A.: Cross-section surface area of the food column;

Height: starting height of the food column.

- a) Survivorship of 30 replicates for each of the 27 simulated treatments. The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 30 replicates for each treatment. The food volume is also highlighted for each surface area and column height combination.
- b) Survivorship values for the three levels of food column height pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the orange triangle represents the mean.
- c) Survivorship values for the three levels of surface area of the food column, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the red triangle represents the mean.
- d) Survivorship values for the three levels of starting egg numbers, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the blue triangle represents the mean.



Figure S5. Base model – waste present:

Mean time to wandering (hours) in a large factorial simulated experiment (see Methods). S.A.: Cross-section surface area of the food column; Height: starting height of the food column.

- a) Mean time to wandering of 30 replicates for each of the 27 simulated treatments. The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 30 replicates for each treatment. The food volume is also highlighted for each surface area and column height combination.
- b) Mean time to wandering values for the three levels of food column height pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the orange triangle represents the mean.
- c) Mean time to wandering values for the three levels of surface area of the food column, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the red triangle represents the mean.
- d) Mean time to wandering values for the three levels of starting egg numbers, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the blue triangle represents the mean.



Figure S6. Expanded model:

Uncrowded (70 eggs in 6 mL food; 400 mm² surface area, 15 mm height).

- a) Growth profile for 70 individuals. The solid blue line denotes the mean larval dry mass. The shaded region denotes standard deviation in larval dry mass. The dashed red line denotes the mean minimum critical mass to pupation (180 μg). Once the larvae commit to wandering, their mass remains unchanged.
- b) Time to wandering distribution. The line within the box denotes the median. The orange triangle denotes the mean.
- c) Mass at wandering distribution. The line within the box denotes the median. The orange triangle denotes the mean.



Figure S7. Expanded Model:

Mean time to wandering (hours) in a large factorial simulated experiment (see Methods). S.A.: Cross-section surface area of the food column; Height: starting height of the food column.

- a) Mean time to wandering of 30 replicates for each of the 27 simulated treatments. The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 30 replicates for each treatment. The food volume is also highlighted for each surface area and column height combination.
- b) Mean time to wandering values for the three levels of food column height pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the orange triangle represents the mean.
- c) Mean time to wandering values for the three levels of surface area of the food column, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the red triangle represents the mean.
- d) Mean time to wandering values for the three levels of starting egg numbers, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the blue triangle represents the mean.



Figure S8. Expanded Model:

Variance in time to wandering (hrs) in a large factorial simulated experiment (see Methods). S.A.: Cross-section surface area of the food column; Height: starting height of the food column

Height: starting height of the food column.

- a) Variance in time to wandering of 30 replicates for each of the 27 simulated treatments. The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 30 replicates for each treatment. The food volume is also highlighted for each surface area and column height combination.
- b) Variance in time to wandering values for the three levels of food column height pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the orange triangle represents the mean.
- c) Variance in time to wandering values for the three levels of surface area of the food column, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the red triangle represents the mean.
- d) Variance in time to wandering values for the three levels of starting egg numbers, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the blue triangle represents the mean.



Figure S9. Expanded Model:

Variance in mass at wandering in a large factorial simulated experiment (see Methods).

S.A.: Cross-section surface area of the food column;

Height: starting height of the food column.

- a) Variance in mass at wandering of 30 replicates for each of the 27 simulated treatments. The '-' symbol in black represents the overall mean for 30 replicates for each treatment. The food volume is also highlighted for each surface area and column height combination.
- b) Variance in mass at wandering values for the three levels of food column height pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the orange triangle represents the mean.
- c) Variance in mass at wandering values for the three levels of surface area of the food column, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the red triangle represents the mean.
- d) Variance in mass at wandering values for the three levels of starting egg numbers, pooling data across all other factors. The indigo line within the box represents median, the blue triangle represents the mean.



S10. Trait distributions of surviving (blue) and dying (red) larvae:

- Each numbered figure set represents a trait.
- The left column of plots represents trait distributions from shallow type cultures 600 eggs in 3 mL food cast in cylinders of 600 mm2 cross-section surface area and 5 mm column height.
- The right column of plots represents trait distributions from shallow type cultures 600 eggs in 3 mL food cast in cylinders of 200 mm² cross-section surface area and 15 mm column height.
- The first figure in each numbered set represents the mean trait distribution across 30 replicates for surviving and dying individuals, in shallow or deep type cultures. For each replicate, the starting individuals in both types of cultures are the same. Error bars represent standard deviation.
- The second figure represents the trait distribution of surviving and dying individuals within a single run. The line within the box plots represents the median for each distribution. The green triangle represents the mean for the respective distribution.
- The third figure represents the trait distribution of individuals across their respective times of wandering (blue) or dying (red).
- For each trait, the mean value of the distribution from which the traits were randomly drawn at the beginning of the simulation, is also plotted as a purple dashed line (first and third figure per numbered set), or as a grey solid line (second figure per numbered set).

a) Hatching Time (hours)



b) Egg Length (mm)



c) Egg Width (mm)



d) Initial Bite Rate



e) Crowding Threshold



f) Peak Crowding Bite Rate Modifier





g) Mean Efficiency of food to biomass conversion, per larva

h) Efficiency c.o.v.



i) Minimum Critical Mass (µg)



j) Waste Tolerance Factor



k) Digging Length Multiplier



Chapter VII

Conclusions and Potential Future Studies

Conclusions

The salient findings from chapters 2-6 in the thesis have been listed below:

Chapter 2

As seen across several long-term selection studies before (see Chapter 1), our results showed that laboratory *D. melanogaster* populations adapted to chronic conditions of larval crowding evolved increased larval competitive ability. Furthermore, larval competitive ability had increased to different degrees depending partly on the exact rearing conditions of each crowding-adapted population set. The competitive ability expressed by each population set was also seen to depend on the crowded conditions presented to the respective larvae with respect to the exact food volume used, the number and composition of individuals in a culture (monoculture or duo-culture), and the outcome of competition measured.

To summarise, larval competitive ability, when split into components of effectiveness and tolerance, and measured for four different outcomes of competition, revealed several patterns in the data:

The crowding-adapted populations MCU, CCU and LCU exhibited greater competitive ability than MB, depending on the food level, and the outcome of competition examined.

The superior competitive ability of each crowding-adapted population was reflected in an increase in effectiveness alone, or an increase in tolerance, or both, for any given outcome of competition measured.

Among the crowding adapted population sets, the MCU appeared to have the most consistently high larval competitive ability across food levels and outcomes of competition.

LCU usually had lower competitive ability than MCU. At 1 mL food, the competitive ability of LCU was also lower than CCU.

At 1 mL of food, the larval competitive ability expressed by CCU was slightly greater than or equal to the larval competitive ability of MCU populations. However, CCU larval competitive ability was closer to that of LCU at 1.5 mL and 2 mL food volumes. From these results, we saw that CCU populations performed best at their rearing total density (eggs/food) i.e., 400 eggs in 1 mL food, which was the same total density as 1200 eggs, 3 mL food. However, the CCU populations had lower competitive ability at 400 eggs in 2 mL food, which was closer to their rearing food volume of 3 mL.

From the low-density assay cultures in addition to the crowded assay cultures studied, there was a strong indication that each crowding-adapted population had evolved reduced development time in uncrowded as well as crowded (400 eggs in 1, 1.5 and 2 mL) cultures.

From this work, we saw that competitive ability when measured across different axes of fitnessrelated traits can yield greater insights than just looking at pre-adult survivorship. Additionally, as seen in several previous studies, effectiveness and tolerance components could mediate the evolution of competitive ability to different degrees, depending on the focal population and the outcome of competition measured. We further established that both effectiveness and tolerance components may evolve to increase independently in the course of adaptation to larval crowding on varying combinations of egg numbers and food volumes.

From the eclosion distributions, dry biomass measurements across time, and dry weight measurements over time, we may infer that larval competition in *Drosophila* likely plays out in a very nuanced, time-dependent manner. This was seen in the extended development time of OE competing against the crowding-adapted populations, with some pattern of loss in dry mass per fly. Additionally, at the relatively higher food volume of 2 mL used in the assay, LCU larvae appeared to suppress the biomass of later eclosing OE better than CCU.

Results from this study indicate that there may be some culture- and density-specific components to larval competitive ability, which may have evolved to different degrees in the three sets of crowding-adapted populations.

Chapter 3

All crowding-adapted population sets (MCU, CCU, LCU) evolved some mechanism for gaining temporal head starts in larval competition, compared to their low-density reared ancestral control population set (MB).

With respect to egg hatching time, only the eggs from LCU populations were seen to hatch significantly faster than eggs from the MB populations. Although non-significant, we saw the following overall pattern of egg hatching time:

MB > MCU > CCU > LCU.

Moreover, all crowding-adapted populations evolved both greater egg length and egg width compared to MB. There were also differences among the crowding-adapted populations themselves – LCU evolved the greatest egg size metrics, while CCU egg size showed a pattern of being \geq MCU egg size, although these results also varied depending on the rearing density conditions of the adults from which the eggs were collected. Thus, among the crowding-adapted populations, LCU had evolved the greatest head start parameters, followed by CCU and then MCU, indicating that head starts in competition may be the most important in crowded cultures resembling the rearing conditions of LCU.

Chapter 4

We provided head starts of varying durations to OE in larval competition against MB, MCU, CCU and LCU. Upon receiving an age disadvantage in competition, the crowding-adapted populations coped to similar extents, suffering a significant non-zero increase in development time. The MB populations fared worse than all crowding-adapted populations, with a significantly greater period of development when in competition against OE having head start. In contrast, upon receiving a temporal head start against each crowding-adapted population, OE development time decreased the most against LCU and CCU, followed by MCU.

These results were better understood by considering an age disadvantage to the focal populations (MB, MCU, CCU, LCU) as inducing a decline in tolerance, and considering the head start given to OE as inducing a decline in effectiveness.

MCU likely had better effectiveness even with disadvantages compared to CCU and LCU populations, as OE benefitted less in terms of a decrease in mean pre-adult development time in competition against MCU, especially at 7 hours of head start, as compared to CCU (non-significant difference) and LCU (significant difference). Against MB, OE got the least development time benefit with head start, likely due to the low effectiveness of MB even without any disadvantage.

Ultimately, there was no clear benefit of evolving larger egg size and shorter hatching time to LCU, in terms of how well it coped against age disadvantages in competition, or in terms of how much it prevented OE from benefitting from a head start, as compared to MCU or CCU.

Chapter 5

We studied the consequences of larval crowding by changing egg number, or food volume via changing surface area in contact with air, or via changing food column height, implemented in a three-way, fully factorial design. Increasing crowding via increasing egg number or by decreasing food volume led to decreased survivorship, although to a lesser extent when the volume was changed via column height than via surface area. Furthermore, increasing food volume via surface area decreased pre-adult development time, whereas increasing food volume via column height increased development time, with the latter being prominent at higher egg numbers. Mechanistically, the height of the food column in the vial could determine the extent of diffusion of potentially harmful larval metabolic waste products such as urea and ammonia away from the feeding band, thus letting the larvae feed in relatively low concentrations of waste for longer periods of time. The surface area of food exposed to air in vial could be the determinant of the extent of space available for larvae to feed – a greater surface area would signify greater spatial access to the food, for the larvae. Both these mechanisms need to be studied independently and in greater detail in the future, in order to understand why column height and surface area affect the outcomes of crowding differently.

Moreover, we described a new term – "effective density", as the density of larvae in the feeding band – a volume of food close to the surface with access to air, where the larvae feed. In the results of our study, the effective density was a far better predictor of three fitness related outcomes of larval crowding (pre-adult survivorship, mean pre-adult development time and variance of pre-adult development time) compared to the total density, defined as the number of eggs per mL total food volume. Overall, competition for limited space may be driving the results of competition in high effective density cultures, as inferred from our study.
The findings from this study may be very relevant for any future study on larval competition in *Drosophila* and perhaps other clades as well.

Chapter 6

We constructed an individual-based simulation framework to better understand the evolutionary ecology and mechanistic underpinnings of larval competition in *Drosophila*. This involved the creation of a 'base' model, which re-created a simpler understanding of larval competition, in concordance with older models which had attempted to predict the results of larval competition. We also added dynamics of waste excretion and waste consumption in the 'larvae' of the simulation. With this base model, we were able to predict results as shown by the detailed studies of Bakker (1961), which was a benchmark of comparison for most previous models on *Drosophila* larval competition. We additionally recreated more realistic patterns of pre-adult development time distributions under crowded scenarios due to the inclusion of the effects of waste excretion and ingestion in the system. However, as with the previous models, the base models had no consideration of recent findings in larval competition, wherein the same total density, or even the same combination of eggs and food volume, cast into different container types, could lead to very different outcomes with respect to fitness related traits.

In order to make more robust predictions about the outcomes of larval crowding in different kinds of cultures, we implemented an 'expanded' model, which incorporated additional factors:

1. Space constraints resulting from the crowding of the limited food surface area at the denoted 'feeding band' by larvae in highly crowded cultures.

2. The resulting detrimental effects of space constraints on crowded larvae in terms of food eaten per time step, as well as the variable plastic increase in bite rate of larvae feeding in spatially crowded conditions. 3. The 'permeation' of waste down the food column from the top 'layer' of food wherein the larvae excrete. At a given time step, freshly generated waste would travel down the layers of food as the top layers got saturated with previously excreted waste.

4. The larvae, which would dig to variable lengths due to their own body length as well as digging 'potential', would also experience different waste concentrations depending on the 'food layers' the larvae had access to.

Results from the 'expanded' model predicted patterns of pre-adult survivorship from a simulated experiment of the assay design used in Chapter 5 very well. Some aspects of pre-adult development time were also captured, although there were some patterns of development time which the simulated experiment failed to mimic compared to the real-world assay. In addition, dry mass distributions from each type of culture used in Chapter 5 were also predicted using the simulations. Overall, the work in this chapter laid down a strong foundation to build further simulation expansions as well as predict experiments based on the mechanisms implemented in this study.

Potential future studies

The results of competitive ability measurements in Chapter 2, wherein population sets CCU and LCU showed patterns of having greater competitive ability at particular cultures but lower competitive ability in other types of crowded cultures, as well as the pattern of head start mechanisms evolved in crowding adapted populations in Chapter 3, wherein LCU populations clearly evolved the largest egg size and the fastest hatching time, add further evidence that larval cultures at different details of crowding could have very different underlying fitness landscapes as measured by larval competitive ability (also see feeding rate data on MB, MCU, CCU and LCU from (Sarangi, 2018). Such culture-specific components of increased larval competitive ability may have evolved to different degrees in the three sets of crowding-adapted populations used in our studies (MCU, CCU and LCU).

Future studies may test this by measuring larval competitive ability in the focal populations across a larger array of culture types than were used in Chapter 2. Specifically, an experimental design such as the one used in Chapter 5 would allow us to explore the extent to which culture-specific differences in competitive ability have evolved in each crowding-adapted population set. These would be particularly interesting to test in two types of cultures kept at the same number of eggs and same food volume, through different combinations of food column height and surface area. This would allow us to ask whether MCU, CCU and LCU populations exhibit different larval competitive ability in cultures similar to their respective rearing densities. Would LCU show increased larval competitive ability compared to MCU in cultures having high food column lengths and high effective densities? Or would MCU competitive ability be largely superior across most types of cultures tested?

If logistically possible, future experiments on larval competitive ability may also be expanded to use multiple marked competitors (in addition to OE), and also employ more complex experimental designs to tease apart differences in competitive ability (e.g., De Wit 1960; Seaton and Antonovics, 1967; Mather and Caligari, 1981; de Miranda et al., 1991; Santos et al., 1992).

Regarding hatching time – would there be differences in hatching time of the crowding adapted populations, as seen in Chapter 3, if incubation times within the female body were not controlled for? For asking this question, a future assay could include eggs from females who could potentially have incubated their eggs for several hours. This would reveal whether there are any differences in the frequencies of incubated eggs of MCU, CCU and LCU as compared to MB.

As the egg length and egg width varied, though non-significantly, with adult rearing density, especially in CCU and LCU populations, future studies may be conducted on these populations to study the existence of plasticity in the size and shape of eggs depending on the rearing larval density of the adult females laying the eggs. Compared to the relatively modest densities used in chapter 3, more severe crowded conditions may also be used to rear adults of the various populations, which may yield some insight into the plasticity that could exist for egg size metrics across different crowding scenarios.

For the study investigating the effects of head starts in larval competition, such as the one used in Chapter 4, a richer experimental design might yield more insight, and thus future studies could incorporate the following:

- Keeping mono-culture control conditions for each focal population and OE.
- Testing the effect of head start to OE across different egg numbers and food levels, reflecting densities high enough that pre-adult survivorship might also be affected, in addition to just pre-adult development time.
- Providing additional magnitudes of head start durations to OE, as well as incorporating conditions with head-starts also provided to focal populations.
- Studying dry mass at eclosion and dry biomass across different head start durations to OE or to the focal populations.

Additionally, there are a large number of traits and other factors which have not been studied in crowded conditions in greater details, or in light of recent findings. Some pertinent questions could be:

• How do the waste dynamics play out across different effective densities and food column heights?

- What determines the delay in development time in late eclosing flies in crowded cultures at high food volumes?
- Is there variation in the plasticity in feeding rate as seen in Sarangi (2018) in different crowded cultures at the same combination of eggs and food volume but cast into cylindrical columns of different heights and surface areas?
- Has food to biomass conversion efficiency evolved in any of the MCU, CCU, or LCU populations?
- Are there differences in microbial build up and/or microbiome differences across different kinds of crowded cultures?
- How do microbial and/or microbiome build ups affect larval growth and survival in crowded cultures, and do crowding adapted populations get affected by microbial growth differently, or evolve different microbiomes, as compared to their lowdensity control populations?
- What are the consequences of different types of crowded cultures on adult mating behaviours and on variation in fecundity?

Finally, the simulation study in Chapter 6 could be expanded into a multi-generational design, in order to test the evolutionary consequences of different kinds of crowded cultures, with different combinations of egg number, food column height and surface area. Such an expansion could also be used to simulate population dynamics experiments across different kinds of column heights and surface areas.

Generalising the inferences of this thesis

While the studies of this thesis have made strides to uncover the ecology of larval competition through the classification of effective density (Chapter 5), explored the nuances in the evolution

of competitive ability (Chapters 2 and 4), and some traits that may contribute to it (Chapter 3), a lot more remains unknown, as described extensively through mechanistic conjectures in the simulation framework (Chapter 6). At its core, the take away message from the studies of this thesis is this: the process of competition in *Drosophila* larvae is very nuanced, and there are no general, context-free predictions to be made about the mechanisms, the ecology or the evolution of larval competitive ability.

How then could the results of this thesis be generalised to studies in the wild, or to other model systems?

In *Drosophila melanogaster*, competition clearly needs to be looked at from the context of the feeding band, and this can easily be tested in related laboratory *Drosophila* species, and other dipterans such as house flies *Musca sp.* (Bryant and Sokal 1967), and even various species of blow flies, which have been shown to be affected by larval crowding in similar fashion as *Drosophila* (Ullyett 1955). Beyond this, several studies exist in other species in both laboratory conditions and in the wild, which cite density as a measure of competition (e.g., Grimaldi and Jaenike 1984; Agashe and Bolnick 2010) – in such studies, it is important to consider if the total density is an appropriate measure of competition, and whether phenomena analogous to the feeding band exist in those systems.

Finally, this knowledge of context dependence in studying competition is likely to hold in most complex biological model systems across laboratories and field sites, even if the details of the context may vary.

Closing remarks

Studies on density-dependent selection have come a long way from the verbal speculations of Pianka (1970), or the initial simplified models (e.g., Roughgarden, 1971; Anderson, 1971). Decades of rigorous experimental studies have advanced the understanding of the consequences of selection at low vs. high densities tremendously - far beyond existing analytical models. We currently stand on the threshold of a new way of thinking about densitydependent selection, as shown by recent studies on population dynamics (Pandey and Joshi, 2022a, b), the evolution of competitive ability (Chapter 2), the importance of the feeding band (Chapter 5), and the role of various traits across various crowded conditions (Sarangi 2018, Chapter 3). These novel insights highlight the need to consider the consequences of the spatiotemporal unfolding of the process of competition before making generic long-term predictions. The potential importance of considering the seemingly insignificant nuances – from the surface area of the container, to the clustering behaviour of crowded larvae in the feeding band, to the un-accessed food at the bottom of long food columns, have been highlighted across various early studies (Sang, 1949; Bakker, 1961; Gilpin, 1974; Bierbaum et al., 1989; Mueller, 1990), and these factors have been systematically examined over the last decade in both ecological and evolutionary contexts. Our recent findings, however, are likely to have only scratched the surface – there is seemingly endless nuance and depth to the ecology of larval competition and the evolution of larval competitive ability in laboratory populations of *Drosophila*. All this, in one of the simplest systems for studying competition and density-dependent selection! Ultimately, intra-specific competition across different related and unrelated species will also have to be systematically compared with the results of the last decade of studies using D. melanogaster, in order to expand our understanding of density-dependent selection. Studies on inter-specific competition with different species combinations, across a variety of crowding

regimes, will also be required, and are likely to hold great promise in further elucidating the ecology of competition and the evolution of competitive ability.

References

Agashe, D., and D. I. Bolnick. 2010. Intraspecific genetic variation and competition interact to influence niche expansion. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 277:2915–2924.

Anderson, W. W. 1971. Genetic equilibrium and population growth under density-regulated selection. The American Naturalist 105:489–498.

Bakker, K. 1961. An analysis of factors which determine success in competition for food among larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Archives Néerlandaises de Zoologie, 14:200:281.

Bierbaum, T. J., Mueller, L. D., & Ayala, F. J. 1989. Density-dependent evolution of lifehistory traits in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Evolution 43:382:392.

Bryant, E. H., & Sokal, R. R. 1967. The fate of immature housefly populations at low and high densities. Population Ecology 9:19-44.

de Miranda, J. R., Hemmat, M., & Eggleston, P. 1991. The competition diallel and the exploitation and interference components of larval competition in Drosophila melanogaster. Heredity 66:333–342.

De Wit, C. T. 1960. On competition. Verslagen Landbouwkundige Onderzoekigen 66:1-82.

Gilpin, M. E. 1974. Intraspecific competition between *Drosophila* larvae in serial transfer systems. Ecology 55:1154–1159.

Grimaldi, D., & Jaenike, J. 1984. Competition in natural populations of mycophagous *Drosophila*. Ecology 65:1113-1120.

Mather, K., & Caligari, P. D. S. 1981. Competitive interactions in *Drosophila melanogaster*.II. Measurement of competition. Heredity 46:239–254.

Mueller, L. D. 1990. Density-dependent natural selection does not increase efficiency. Evolutionary Ecology 4:290-297.

Pandey, N., & Joshi, A. 2022a. *Density-dependent selection at high food levels leads to the evolution of persistence but not constancy in* <u>Drosophila melanogaster populations</u>. bioRxiv https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.05.494854

Pandey, N., & Joshi, A. 2022b. *Density-dependent selection at low food levels leads to the evolution of population stability in* Drosophila melanogaster *even without a clear* r—K *trade-off.* bioRxiv <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.06.04.494799</u>

Pianka, E. R. 1970. On r- and K-Selection. The American Naturalist 104:592–597.

Roughgarden, J. 1971. Density-dependent natural selection. Ecology 52:453-468.

Sang, J. H. 1949. The ecological determinants of population growth in a *Drosophila* culture.III. Larval and pupal survival. Physiological Zoology 22:183:202.

Santos, M., Fowler, K., & Partridge, L. 1992. On the use of tester stocks to predict the competitive ability of genotypes. Heredity 69:489–495.

Sarangi, M. 2018. *Ecological details mediate different paths to the evolution of larval competitive ability in* <u>Drosophila</u> (PhD Thesis). Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research. <u>http://lib.jncasr.ac.in:8080/jspui/handle/10572/2722</u>

Seaton, A. P. C., & Antonovics, J. 1967. Population inter-relationships I. Evolution in mixtures of *Drosophila* mutants. Heredity 22:19-33.

Ullyett, G. C. 1950. Competition for food and allied phenomena in sheep-blowfly populations. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 234:77-174.